CAPACITY RESULTS FOR WIRELESS COOPERATIVE COMMUNICATIONS WITH RELAY CONFERENCING

A Dissertation

by

CHUAN HUANG

Submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

August 2012

Major Subject: Electrical Engineering

CAPACITY RESULTS FOR WIRELESS COOPERATIVE COMMUNICATIONS WITH RELAY CONFERENCING

A Dissertation

by

CHUAN HUANG

Submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Approved by:

| Chair of Committee, | Shuguang Cui |
|---------------------|-----------------------|
| Committee Members, | Tie Liu |
| | Srinivas Shakkottai |
| | Anxiao Jiang |
| Head of Department, | Costas N. Georghiades |

August 2012

Major Subject: Electrical Engineering

ABSTRACT

Capacity Results for Wireless Cooperative Communications with Relay Conferencing. (August 2012)

Chuan Huang, B.S., University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, M.E., University of Electronic Science and Technology of China Chair of Advisory Committee: Dr. Shuguang Cui

In this dissertation we consider cooperative communication systems with relay conferencing, where the relays own the capabilities to talk to their counterparts via either wired or wireless out-of-band links. In particular, we focus on the design of conferencing protocols incorporating the half-duplex relaying operations, and study the corresponding capacity upper and lower bounds for some typical channels and networks models, including the diamond relay channels (one source-destination pairs and two relays), large relay networks (one source-destination pairs and N relays), and interference relay channels (two source-destination pairs and two relays).

First, for the diamond relay channels, we consider two different relaying schemes, i.e., simultaneous relaying (for which the two relays transmit and receive in the same time slot) and alternative relaying (for which the two relays exchange their transmit and receive modes alternatively over time), for which we obtain the respective achievable rates by using the decode-and-forward (DF), compress-and-forward (CF), and amplify-and-forward (AF) relaying schemes with DF and AF adopted the conferencing schemes. Moreover, we prove some capacity results under some special conditions.

Second, we consider the large relay networks, and propose a "p-portion" conferencing scheme, where each relay can talk to the other "p-portion" of the relays. We obtain the DF and AF achievable rates by using the AF conferencing scheme. It is proved that relay conferencing increases the throughput scaling order of the DF relaying scheme from $\mathcal{O}(\log(\log(N)))$ for the case without conferencing to $\mathcal{O}(\log(N))$; for the AF relaying scheme, it achieves the capacity upper bound under some conditions.

Finally, we consider the two-hop interference relay channels, and obtain the AF achievable rates by adopting the AF conferencing scheme and two different decoding schemes at the destination, i.e., single-user decoding and joint decoding. For the derived joint source power allocation and relay combining problem, we develop some efficient iterative algorithms to compute the AF achievable rate regions. Moreover, we compare the achievable degree-of-freedom (DoF) performance of these two decoding schemes, and show that single-user decoding with interference cancelation at the relays is optimal.

To my Dad

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My graduate study at Texas A&M has been one of the most memorable periods in my life, and I am so lucky to have learned from and worked with so many incredible people. First of all, I would like to thank my advisor, Prof. Shuguang Cui, for his guidance with my research, and his omnipresent support for both my life and career. It is he who provided me the chance to study at Texas A&M and pursue my dream in the United States. It is also he who taught me how to be a well-rounded researcher - to produce high-quality papers and then present them both effectively and clearly through writing and presentations. His boundless energy, rigor to research, and ambition have been truly inspirational, and he has been and will always be my role model in both my academic and personal lives.

I am also grateful to Prof. Rui Zhang of the National University of Singapore for his generous support of my four-month visit to Singapore. We had many fruitful discussions on the energy-harvesting systems, which led me to a new and exciting research area. I would also like to thank Prof. P. R. Kumar for his partial support of my last-year study. His broad knowledge and passion for research are admirable, and he will continue to be my mentor as I continue along my career path. I also would like to thank my committee members: Prof. Tie Liu has taught me to see the elegance of information theory behind oftentimes dry and tedious definitions and theorems; Prof. Srinivas Shakkottai has taught me how to analyze the communication networks using amazing optimization tools; Prof. Anxiao Jiang taught me how to code and move data in the widely used storage devices, flash memory. In addition, I would like to thank the staff of the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, including but not limited to: Tammy Carda, Gayle Travis, Paula Evans, Claudia Samford, and Carolyn Warzon, for their kind and wonderful help during the past years. I am equally indebted to my colleagues: Jinhua Jiang, Long Gao, Meng Zeng, Peili Cai, Zheng Huang, Lili Zhang, Qing Zhou, Yifu Zhang, Rui Ma, Amir Salimi, Armin Banaei, Yang Zhou, and Hang Li, for all the "hot" discussions and sincere supports. My great friends: Wei Zeng, Ying Chen, Xue Yang, Shenghou Wu, Daoyong Huang, Peng Zhu, He Chen, Junhua Lu, Yajie Zou, Zhaoru Zhang, Xiaodan Ma, Chang Chen, Xi Zhao, Chongfu Yang, Wenxia Zhang, and Yongxin Huang, have always brought joy and sunshine into my life, especially in the hard times. I will never forget those days that we spent together; especially the fabulous food that we made, the mellow wine that we drank, and the cheerful songs that we sang.

I also would like to thank my advisor during my Masters studies at the University of Electrical Science and Technology of China, Prof. Youxi Tang. As the first scholar whom I worked with, he has taught me how to cooperate with others, and most importantly, how to be a rightful person, both of which eventually helped me to survive and then succeed in my Ph.D. study.

And last, but most importantly, I would like to thank my parents, Linyuan Huang and Zhaohui Cao, who raised me in a liberal family and have always supported my decisions. I especially dedicate all my work to my dad, who devoted all his life to me and passed away two years before my coming to the United States. This was my motivation to pursue a Ph.D. abroad, and to him I give my sincerest thanks.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER

| Ι | INTRODUCTION | 1 |
|-----|---|--|
| | A. Overview of Relay Networks | $\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 4 \\ 6 \end{array}$ |
| II | SIMULTANEOUS RELAYING DIAMOND CHANNEL | 8 |
| | A. Assumptions and System Model B. Rate Upper Bound and Achievable Rates 1. Rate Upper Bound 2. DF Achievable Rate 3. DF Rate for the DMC Case 3. CF Achievable Rates 4. PCF Achievable Rate 5. CCF Achievable Rate 6. FCF Achievable Rate 7. CCF Achievable Rate 8. AF Achievable Rate 9. Symmetric Case 1. Symmetric Case 2. Asymmetric Case 3. Summary 4. Appendix 4. Appendix 5. Proof of Theorem B.4 6. Proof of Theorem B.5 | $\begin{array}{r} 9\\ 13\\ 13\\ 14\\ 15\\ 18\\ 21\\ 22\\ 24\\ 27\\ 29\\ 32\\ 33\\ 36\\ 37\\ 38\\ 38\\ 40\\ 41\\ \end{array}$ |
| III | ALTERNATIVE RELAYING DIAMOND CHANNEL | 44 |
| | A. System Model | 45 51 51 51 52 53 |

| Page |
|------|
|------|

| | c. Asymptotic Performance | 63 |
|----|---|-----|
| | 3. AF Achievable Rate | 64 |
| | a. High SNR Regime | 65 |
| | b. Low SNR Regime | 66 |
| | C. Conferencing Strategy II | 68 |
| | 1. Rate Upper Bound | 68 |
| | 2. DF Achievable Rate | 69 |
| | D. Numerical Results | 72 |
| | E. Summary | 74 |
| | F. Appendix \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots | 74 |
| | 1. Achievability Proof of the DF Rate | 74 |
| | 2. Proof of Proposition B.3 | 76 |
| | 3. Proof of Proposition C.1 | 76 |
| IV | SINGLE-USER LARGE RELAY NETWORKS | 79 |
| | A. Assumptions and System Model | 79 |
| | B. Capacity Upper Bound and Achievable Rates | 83 |
| | 1. Preliminary Results and Capacity Upper Bound | 83 |
| | 2. The DF Achievable Rate | 84 |
| | 3. AF Achievable Rate | 86 |
| | C. Numerical Results | 91 |
| | D. Summary | 94 |
| V | TWO-USER INTERFERENCE RELAY NETWORKS | 95 |
| | A. System Model | 97 |
| | B. Single-User Decoding | 102 |
| | 1. Optimization over \boldsymbol{c} at the Relays $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 104 |
| | 2. Optimizing (p_1, p_2) at the Sources $\ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 107 |
| | 3. Iterative Algorithm | 110 |
| | C. Two-User Joint Decoding | 112 |
| | D. Asymptotic Behaviors of the Two Decoding Schemes | 115 |
| | 1. High SNR Regime | 115 |
| | 2. Low SNR Case | 116 |
| | E. Simulation Results | 117 |
| | F. Summary | 122 |
| | G. Appendix | 124 |
| | 1. Proof of Theorem B.1 and the Computation Com- | |
| | plexity Analysis | 124 |

| | 2. Proof of Theorem D.1 \ldots \ldots \ldots 1 | 27 |
|------------|--|------------|
| VI | CONCLUSIONS | 29 |
| | A. Summary of Dissertation Contributions1B. Future Work1 | .29 132 |
| REFERENCES | | 34 |
| VITA | | 42 |

Page

LIST OF TABLES

| TABLE | | Page |
|-------|--|------|
| Ι | Notations | 7 |
| II | Upper-bound-achieving cases for the diamond relay channel with conferencing links | 37 |
| III | The DF rate under the conferencing strategy I and the corre- sponding one-side conferencing scheme | 62 |
| IV | Lower bound on $C_{12} + C_{21}$ for the DF scheme to achieve the rate upper bound under conferencing strategy II | 70 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| FIGURE | E | Page |
|--------|---|------|
| 1 | Diamond relay channel with conferencing links | 9 |
| 2 | Transmission scheduling scheme for the diamond relay channel with conferencing links. | 11 |
| 3 | Achievable rates and cut-set upper bound for symmetric link gain case, with $C = 0.5.$ | 33 |
| 4 | Achievable rates over different conferencing link rates, $P_S = P_R = 1$. | 35 |
| 5 | Achievable rates and cut-set upper bound for asymmetric link gain case, with $ \gamma_1 ^2 = \widetilde{\gamma}_2 ^2 = 30 \text{ dB}$ and $ \widetilde{\gamma}_1 ^2 = \gamma_2 ^2 = 10 \text{ dB}$ | 36 |
| 6 | Achievable rates over different conferencing link rates with $C_{21}=0.\ .$ | 43 |
| 7 | The diamond relay channel with out-of-band conferencing links | 46 |
| 8 | Two transmitting-receiving states for the alternative relaying di- amond channel with conferencing links | 47 |
| 9 | Relay conferencing strategies for the diamond relay channel with conferencing links, with "S", "R1", "R2", and "D" denoting the source, relay 1, relay 2, and destination, respectively. | 48 |
| 10 | Four possible cases for the max/min solutions in (3.18) and (3.20) , where k_1 and k_2 are given in (3.17) and (3.19) , respectively | 59 |
| 11 | Comparison of the rate upper bounds and various achievable rates under different channel conditions, with $C_{12} = C_{21} = 5$ bits/s/Hz, $\gamma_1 = \tilde{\gamma}_2 = 10$ dB, and different $\gamma_2 = \tilde{\gamma}_1$ | 72 |
| 12 | Comparison of the rate upper bounds and various achievable rates over different conferencing link rates, with $C_{12} = C_{21}$, $\gamma_1 = \tilde{\gamma}_2 =$ 10 dB, and $\gamma_2 = \tilde{\gamma}_1 = 30$ dB | 73 |
| 13 | The large relay networks with conferencing links | 80 |

| 14 | Transmission scheduling scheme for the large relay networks with conferencing links. | 80 |
|----|--|-----|
| 15 | Achievable rates vs. the number of relays, $P_s = 1$, $P_r = 1$, $P_c = 1$, and $ f_{i,k} = 1$ | 92 |
| 16 | Achievable rates vs. the conferencing ratio, $P_s = 1$, $P_r = 1$, $P_c = 1$, $ f_{i,k} = 1$, and $N = 100$. | 93 |
| 17 | Achievable rates vs. the conferencing link SNR, $P_s = 1$, $P_r = 1$, $ f_{i,k} = 1$, $N = 100$, and $p = 0.1$ | 94 |
| 18 | Two-hop interference networks with out-of-band SNR-limited con- ferencing links. | 97 |
| 19 | Transmission scheduling scheme for the two-hop interference net- work with conferencing links. | 98 |
| 20 | One example of the feasible set of Problem (5.24)-(5.27) with sum source power constraint. | 109 |
| 21 | The effect of initial value on the maximum minimum rate R_{\min} , $\gamma_c = 0 \text{ dB}, \beta = [0.5, 0.5].$ | 119 |
| 22 | The achievable rate region for Scenario I, $\gamma_c = 0$ dB | 120 |
| 23 | The achievable rate region for Scenario II, $\gamma_c = 0$ dB | 121 |
| 24 | The effect of conferencing link SNR on the minimum rate R_{\min} , $\boldsymbol{\beta} = [0.5, 0.5]$ | 123 |

Page

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

A. Overview of Relay Networks

In most recent wireless access standards, such as Long Term Evolution-Advanced (LTE-A) by the 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP) and IEEE 802.16m for WiMAX, relaying has been proposed as one of the main performance enhancement technologies [1]. In these standards, relays are deployed to help the wireless access systems increase the system capacity and enlarge the coverage.

From the information-theoretical viewpoint, the capacity bounds of the traditional three-node full-duplex relay channel have been well studied [2–5], and various coding schemes, such as decode-and-forward (DF) and compress-and-forward (CF), have been proposed. For the half-duplex relay channel, in [5] and the references therein the authors have studied achievable rates and the power allocation problems.

For the case with two relay nodes and no direct link between the source and the destination, termed as the diamond relay channel, various achievable rates were derived in [6–13]. In particular, the authors in [6,7] discussed the capacity upper bound and achievable rates using the DF and amplify-and-forward (AF) schemes under the full-duplex relaying mode. For the case with N relays, the authors in [8] used the bursty AF scheme to achieve the channel capacity within 1.8 bits with arbitrary channel gains and N values. In [9], the authors considered a different problem, where the relay-destination links are orthogonal, and derived achievable rates by assuming that each relay either cannot or can decode. Under the half-duplex mode, the authors in [10] discussed achievable rates using two time-sharing schemes,

The journal model is IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control.

i.e., the simultaneous relaying and alternative relaying schemes. In [11], the authors further discussed the same problem and bounded the gap between the achievable rates and the upper bound to at most some constant bits. By further exploring partial collaboration between the two relays, the authors in [12, 13] developed some DF schemes based on dirty paper coding (DPC) and block Markov encoding (BME), where the DF scheme is shown to be optimal in some special cases [13].

For the large relay networks with N relay nodes, the asymptotic capacity bounds were studied in [14–17]. Considering the joint source channel coding problem for a special class of Gaussian relay networks [14], the capacity upper bound is asymptotically achieved by the AF relaying scheme as the number of relays tends to infinity. For general Gaussian relay networks, the authors in [15] obtained the achievable rate scaling law for the multiple-input and multiple-output (MIMO) relay networks with AF: For the coherent relaying case, with full forward-link channel state information (CSI) at the relays, the AF achievable rate scales as $\mathcal{O}(\log(N))$; for the noncoherent relaying case with zero forward-link CSI at the relays, it scales as $\mathcal{O}(\log(1))$. In [16], the authors studied the scaling laws of the DF, CF, and linear relaying schemes, and proved that the DF rate scales at most as $\mathcal{O}(\log(\log(N)))$ for the coherent relaying scheme. The authors in [17] mainly focused on the noncoherent case, and proved that the DF relaying scheme asymptotically achieves the capacity upper bound.

In practical communication systems, some nodes might have extra out-of-band connections with the others, e.g., through Bluetooth, WiFi, optical fiber, etc., to exchange certain information and improve the overall system performance. From the information-theoretical viewpoint, such kinds of interactions can be modeled as nodes conferencing [18–22]. Specifically, for multiple access channel (MAC) [18], encoder conferencing was used to exchange part of the source messages, and it is proved that one-round conferencing scheme is optimal, for which the two receivers exchange information only once. For the broadcast channel (BC) in [19], each decoder was designed to first compress the received signal, and then transmit the corresponding binning index number to its counterpart through the conferencing link. In [19,20], it was shown that the one-round scheme is optimal for the physically degraded BC channel, while the two-round and three-round schemes can outperform the one-round one for general channel cases. Moreover, in [21] and [22], by adopting transmitter and receiver conferencing, achievable rates of the compound MAC channel were discussed, for which both the two receivers are required to fully decode the two source messages, and some capacity results for the degraded cases were provided.

In this dissertation, we introduce the idea of node conferencing into the cooperative communication networks, i.e., the diamond relay channels with the simultaneous and alternative relaying schemes, and single- or multi-user relay networks, by allowing the relays to talk to each other via out-of-band conferencing links. Moreover, we would like to address the following questions:

- 1. How to design efficient protocols to incorporate the relay conferencing among the relays and to excute relaying operations from the relays to the destinations?
- 2. Whether and when relay conferencing can (strictly) help the transmissions (in the sense of increasing the achievable rates) compared to the case without it?
- 3. How much gain can relay conferencing enable? Can we obtain more reward than the cost that we pay for relay conferencing?
- 4. When can the proposed relaying and conferencing schemes achieve the capacity upper bound?

B. Overview of Contributions

The main contribution and the structure of this dissertation are summarized as follows.

- 1. We first consider the half-duplex diamond relay channel with the simultaneous relaying scheme in Chapter 2, which consists of one source-destination pair and two relay nodes connected with two-way rate-limited out-of-band conferencing links. Three basic coding schemes are studied: For the DF scheme, we obtain an achievable rate by letting the source send a common message and two private messages; for the CF scheme, we exploit the conferencing links to help with the compression of the received signals, or to exchange messages intended for the second hop to introduce different levels of cooperations; for the AF scheme, we study the optimal combining strategy between the received signals from the source and the conferencing link. Moreover, we show that these schemes could achieve the rate upper bound under certain conditions. Finally, we evaluate various achievable rates for the Gaussian case with numerical results.
- 2. Next, the diamond relay channel with alternative relaying scheme is considered in Chapter 3, which consists of one source-destination pair and two relay nodes connected with rate-limited out-of-band conferencing links. In particular, we focus on the half-duplex alternative relaying strategy, in which the two relays operate alternatively over time. With different amounts of delay, two conferencing strategies are proposed, each of which can be implemented by either a general two-side conferencing scheme (for which both of the two conferencing links are used) or a special-case one-side conferencing scheme (for which only one of the two conferencing links is used). Based on the most general two-side conferencing scheme, we derive the achievable rates by using the DF and AF

relaying schemes, and show that these rate maximization problems are convex. By further exploiting the properties of the optimal solutions, the simpler oneside conferencing is shown to be equally good as the two-side conferencing in term of the achievable rates under arbitrary channel conditions. Based on this, the DF rate in closed-form is obtained, and the principle to use which one of the two conferencing links for one-side conferencing is also established. Moreover, the DF scheme is shown to be upper-bound-achieving under certain conditions with even one-side conferencing. For the AF relaying scheme, one-side conferencing is shown to be sub-optimal in general. Finally, numerical results are provided to validate our analysis.

- 3. Then, we extend the idea of relay conferencing to a half-duplex large relay network in Chapter 4, consisting of one source-destination pair and N relay nodes, each of which is connected with a subset of the other relays via signalto-noise ratio (SNR)-limited out-of-band conferencing links. The asymptotic achievable rates of two basic relaying schemes with the "p-portion" conferencing strategy are studied: For the DF scheme, we prove that the DF rate scales as $\mathcal{O}(\log(N))$; for the AF scheme, we prove that it asymptotically achieves the capacity upper bound in some interesting scenarios as N goes to infinity.
- 4. Finally, in Chapter 5, we consider a two-hop interference network, which consists of two source-destination pairs and two relay nodes connected with SNR limited out-of-band conferencing links. Assuming that the AF relaying scheme is adopted, this network is shown to be equivalent to a two-user IC. By deploying two IC decoding schemes, i.e., single-user decoding and joint decoding, respectively, we characterize the achievable rate regions with a two-stage iterative optimization method: First, we fix the source power pair and maximize

the sum rate over the relay combining vector; second, we fix the relay combining vector and optimize the source power pair. Specifically, we design a new routine to compute the optimal relay combining vector, which is more efficient than the existing scheme. Furthermore, it is revealed that the AF scheme with relay conferencing achieves the full DoF, which outperforms the case without relay conferencing. Finally, simulation results show that relay conferencing can significantly improve the system performance under certain channel conditions.

C. Notations

Here, we briefly summarize the notations adopted in this dissertation in Table I.

Table I.: Notations

| $\log(\cdot)$ | base-2 logarithm |
|--|---|
| $\ln(\cdot)$ | natural logarithm |
| x | scalar |
| x | vector |
| X | matrix |
| $\Re(x)$ | real part of a complex number x |
| x | the amplitude of a complex number x |
| $\max\left\{x,y\right\}$ | the maximum between two real numbers x and y |
| $\min\left\{x,y\right\}$ | the minimum between two real numbers x and y |
| $\mathcal{C}(x) = \log\left(1+x\right)$ | the AWGN channel capacity |
| $\langle oldsymbol{x},oldsymbol{y} angle$ | the inner product of two vectors \boldsymbol{x} and \boldsymbol{y} |
| $ m{x} $ | the norm of vector \boldsymbol{x} |
| $ oldsymbol{A} $ | the determinant of a matrix \boldsymbol{A} |
| $\mathrm{Rank}(\boldsymbol{X})$ | the rank of a matrix \boldsymbol{X} |
| $\mathbb{E}(X)$ | the expectation of a random variable X |
| $\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{X})$ | the trace of a matrix \boldsymbol{X} |
| $\boldsymbol{X} \succeq \boldsymbol{0}$ | \boldsymbol{X} is a positive semidefinite matrix |
| $	ext{Diag}(oldsymbol{x})$ | a diagonal matrix with \boldsymbol{x} as the diagonal elements |
| $X_N \xrightarrow{w.p.1} a$ | $X_N \to a$ with probability 1, as $N \to +\infty$ |
| $A_N \sim B_N$ | $\lim_{N \to +\infty} A_N - B_N = 0$ |
| $y_N \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\log(x_N)\right)$ | $\lim_{N\to+\infty} \frac{x_N}{y_N} = c$, where c is a positive constant |

CHAPTER II

SIMULTANEOUS RELAYING DIAMOND CHANNEL

In this chapter, we consider the half-duplex diamond relay channel, which consists of one source-destination pair and two relay nodes. We assume that the relays can conduct conferencing with each other via some orthogonal out-of-band links [23]. In general, the conferencing links can be used to exchange compressed versions of the received signals at the relays [19], part of the messages intended to the destination between the two relays [18], or just to forward the received signal to the other relay [10]. With these ideas, we develop relaying schemes based on the conventional DF, CF, and AF schemes by exploiting the inter-relay conferencing, for both the cases of discrete memoryless channel (DMC) and Gaussian channel. Moreover, in stead of considering multi-round conferencing schemes [19, 20], we just concentrate on the simple one-round conferencing scheme, which means that the relays simultaneously process their received signal and conduct conferencing with the other in the same time slot.

Three basic coding schemes are studied: For the DF scheme, we obtain an achievable rate by letting the source send a common message and two private messages; for the CF scheme, we exploit the conferencing links to help with the compression of the received signals, or to exchange messages intended for the second hop to introduce different levels of cooperations; for the AF scheme, we study the optimal combining strategy between the received signals from the source and the conferencing link. Moreover, we show that these schemes could achieve the rate upper bound under certain conditions. Finally, we evaluate various achievable rates for the Gaussian case with numerical results.

The remainder of the chapter is organized as follows. In Section A, we introduce

all assumptions and channel models. In Section B, we derive a rate upper bound and achievable rates for the DF, CF, and AF schemes. Moreover, we discuss some upper-bound-achieving cases. Section C shows some simulation and numerical results. Finally, this chapter is summarized in Section D.

A. Assumptions and System Model

In this chapter, we consider the diamond relay channel with out-of-band conferencing links between the relays, as shown in Fig. 1, which contains one source node, one destination node, and two relays. It is assumed that there is no direct link between the source and the destination. Furthermore, these two conferencing links are orthogonal to each other and outside the bandwidth used by the source-to-relay and relay-todestination links. In this chapter, we only consider the simultaneous relaying scheme [10] with conferencing, leaving the alternative relaying scheme [10] for future works. To be concise, in each relaying scheme we generically describe the coding scheme for the *i*-th relay (i = 1, 2), where we use (3 - i) to refer to the other relay index for the convenience of description.



Fig. 1.: Diamond relay channel with conferencing links.

The time scheduling schemes of the source-relay, relay-destination, and confer-

encing transmissions are shown in Fig. 2(a) and Fig. 2(b) for different relaying schemes, respectively. The relay nodes work in a half-duplex mode: During the *i*-th transmission block, the source transmits the *i*-th message and the two relays listen in the first time slot; the relays simultaneously transmit the (i-1)-th source message and the destination listens in the second time slot. For the DF and CF relaying schemes, denote the time fraction allocated to the first slot as λ , with $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, and that for the second slot as $\overline{\lambda} = 1 - \lambda$; for the AF relaying scheme, let $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$. After receiving the source signal, each relay temporarily stores this information for oneblock, and forward this information to its counterpart via the conferencing link; then after obtained the information from the other relay, each relay generates a message and transmits it to the destination in the successive slot. Moreover, for both the DF and CF relaying schemes, we adopt the CF scheme as the conferencing strategy; and for the AF relaying scheme, we adopt the AF scheme for conferencing. Due to this assumption, the conferencing scheduling schemes for DF, CF, and AF are different: For the DF and CF relaying schemes, the block length of the conferencing link codewords is equal to the sum of those for the source and relay transmission codewords, as shown in Fig. 2(a); on the other hand, for the AF relaying scheme, the block lengths of these three codewords should be the same, as shown in Fig. 2(b). Furthermore, due to relay conferencing, there will be a one-block delay between the transmissions at the source and the relays, as shown in Fig. 2(a) and Fig. 2(b). Assume that during each block, the communication rate is R, and we need to transmit B blocks in total. Thus, the average information rate is $R_{\overline{B+1}}^B \to R$, as B goes to infinity. In this chapter, we focus on the one-block transmission and the associated coding scheme without specifying the delay in the sequel.

In this chapter, we consider both the DMC and Gaussian channel cases for the DF relaying scheme, while considering only the Gaussian case for the AF relaying scheme.



(b) For the AF scheme.

Fig. 2.: Transmission scheduling scheme for the diamond relay channel with conferencing links.

These channel models are described as follows. For the DMC case, the diamond relay channel is defined as $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{X}_1, \mathcal{X}_2, \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Y}_1, \mathcal{Y}_2, \mathcal{Y})$, where $\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{X}_1$, and \mathcal{X}_2 are the finite channel inputs at the source, relay 1, and relay 2, respectively; $\mathcal{Y}_1, \mathcal{Y}_2$, and \mathcal{Y} are the finite channel outputs at relay 1, relay 2, and the destination, respectively; \mathcal{P} denotes the collection of the conditional probabilities $p(y_1, y_2, y | x, x_1, x_2) = p(y_1, y_2 | x) p(y | x_1, x_2)$ on $(y_1, y_2) \in \mathcal{Y}_1 \times \mathcal{Y}_2$ given $x \in \mathcal{X}$ and $y \in \mathcal{Y}$ given $(x_1, x_2) \in \mathcal{X}_1 \times \mathcal{X}_2$, respectively. The channel is memoryless in the sense that for n channel uses, we have

$$p(\boldsymbol{y}_1, \boldsymbol{y}_2 | \boldsymbol{x}) = \prod_{i=1}^{\lambda n} p(y_{1i}, y_{2i} | x_i),$$
$$p(\boldsymbol{y} | \boldsymbol{x}_1, \boldsymbol{x}_2) = \prod_{i=1}^{\overline{\lambda} n} p(y_i | x_{1i}, x_{2i}),$$

where the respective signal vectors are defined as follows: $\boldsymbol{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_{\lambda n}), \, \boldsymbol{x}_1 = (x_{11}, \dots, x_{1,\overline{\lambda}n}), \, \boldsymbol{x}_2 = (x_{21}, \dots, x_{2,\overline{\lambda}n}), \, \boldsymbol{y}_1 = (y_{11}, \dots, y_{1,\lambda n}), \, \boldsymbol{y}_2 = (y_{21}, \dots, y_{2,\lambda n}), \, \text{and}$ $\boldsymbol{y} = (y_1, \dots, y_{\overline{\lambda}n}).$ Denote the capacity of the conferencing link from relay 1 to relay 2 as C_{12} , with C_{21} defined similarly. The inputs of the two conferencing links are within two integer sets $\mathcal{W}_1 = \{1, \dots, 2^{nC_{12}}\}$ and $\mathcal{W}_2 = \{1, \dots, 2^{nC_{21}}\}$, respectively. We assume that for the conferencing links, the receivers can perfectly decode the source messages without incurring any errors if the transmission rate is under the conferencing link rate. Note that the definition of the conferencing links is not the most general one [18], but enough to describe our proposed coding schemes in the next section.

A nonnegative rate R is achievable for the diamond relay channel with conferencing links, if there exists a codebook $\{\boldsymbol{x}(w)\}, w \in [1, \dots, 2^{nR}]$, for the source node, a relaying mapping $\boldsymbol{x}_i(v_i) = \phi_i(\boldsymbol{y}_i, \boldsymbol{y}_{3-i,i}(w_{3-i}))$ for the *i*-th relay, i = 1, 2, where $v_i \in [1, \dots, 2^{nR_i}]$ and $\boldsymbol{y}_{3-i,i}(w_{3-i})$ with $w_{3-i} \in \mathcal{W}_{3-i}$ is of length n and generated based on \boldsymbol{y}_{3-i} , and a decoding function $\hat{w} = W(\boldsymbol{y}), \hat{w} \in [1, \dots, 2^{nR}]$, for the destination, such that the average error probability at the destination

$$P_e^{(n)} = \frac{1}{2^{nR}} \sum_{w=1}^{2^{nR}} \Pr\left\{\widehat{w} \neq w | w \text{ is sent}\right\} \to 0,$$

as n goes to infinity, where w is assumed to be uniformly distributed over $[1, \dots, 2^{nR}]$. Note that the source code $\{\boldsymbol{x}(w)\}$ is with length λn and size 2^{nR} , and the relay code $\{\boldsymbol{x}_i(v_i)\}$ is with length $\overline{\lambda}n$ and size 2^{nR_i} , i = 1, 2. The capacity of the considered channel is defined as the maximum value over all achievable rates.

For the Gaussian channel case, we further define the following channel inputoutput relationship. The received signal y_i from the source at the *i*-th relay (i = 1, 2) is given as

$$y_i = h_i x + n_i, \ i = 1, 2, \tag{2.1}$$

where x is the signal transmitted by the source with average power P_S , h_i is the

complex channel gain of the *i*-th source-to-relay link, and n_i 's are the independently and identically distributed (i.i.d.) circularly symmetric complex Gaussian (CSCG) noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, 1)$.

In the second hop, signal x_i with average power P_R , is transmitted from the *i*-th relay to the destination; and the received signal y at the destination is given as

$$y = \sum_{i=1}^{2} g_i x_i + n, \qquad (2.2)$$

where g_i is the complex channel gain of the *i*-th relay-to-destination link, and *n* is the CSCG noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, 1)$. For convenience, we define the link SNRs as

$$\gamma_i = |h_i|^2 P_S, \ \widetilde{\gamma}_i = |g_i|^2 P_R, \ i = 1, 2.$$
 (2.3)

B. Rate Upper Bound and Achievable Rates

In this section, we examine the rate upper bound and achievable rates of the considered channel with the following three relaying schemes: DF, CF, and AF. Moreover, we prove some upper-bound-achieving results under special channel conditions.

1. Rate Upper Bound

In this subsection, we first study the rate upper bound for the considered channel. Since the simultaneous relaying scheme described in Section A is adopted, we only consider the BC cut-set and MAC cut-set. Note that this upper bound is only for the simultaneous relaying protocol, not for the half-duplex diamond relay channel [10,13]. In this chapter, without introducing any confusions, we still call this bound as the rate upper bound for simplicity.

Theorem B.1 The rate upper bound for the discrete memoryless diamond relay

channel with conferencing links is given as

$$C_{upper} = \max \frac{I(X; Y_1, Y_2) I(X_1, X_2; Y)}{I(X; Y_1, Y_2) + I(X_1, X_2; Y)},$$
(2.4)

over distribution $p(x)p(y_1, y_2|x)p(x_1, x_2)p(y|x_1, x_2)$.

Proof: For any fixed distribution $p(x)p(y_1, y_2|x)p(x_1, x_2)$ $p(y|x_1, x_2)$, by the cut-set bound, we have

$$C_{\text{upper}} = \max_{\lambda \in (0,1)} \min \left\{ \lambda I(X; Y_1, Y_2), \overline{\lambda} I(X_1, X_2; Y) \right\},$$

which comes from the BC cut-set and MAC cut-set [10, 24]. We then optimize over λ to obtain the rate upper bound, and it is easy to see that the minimum value is achieved iff the two terms are equal, which means $\lambda^* = \frac{I(X_1, X_2; Y)}{I(X; Y_1, Y_2) + I(X_1, X_2; Y)}$. With this optimal λ , we obtain the upper bound in (2.4).

For the Gaussian case, we choose X and $X_1 = X_2$ to be independent CSCG with distributions $\mathcal{CN}(0, P_S)$ and $\mathcal{CN}(0, P_R)$, respectively, and these input distributions maximize both $I(X; Y_1, Y_2)$ and $I(X_1, X_2; Y)$ simultaneously, which means that they maximize C_{upper} ; and the corresponding rate upper bound is given by the following corollary.

Corollary B.1 For the Gaussian case, we have the following rate upper bound

$$C_{upper} = \frac{\log\left(1 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2\right)\log\left(1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_2 + 2\sqrt{\widetilde{\gamma}_1\widetilde{\gamma}_2}\right)}{\log\left(1 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2\right) + \log\left(1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_2 + 2\sqrt{\widetilde{\gamma}_1\widetilde{\gamma}_2}\right)}.$$
(2.5)

2. DF Achievable Rate

Main idea: For the DF scheme, the source transmits three messages: one common message w_0 to both of the relays, and one private message to each of the relays, denoted as w_1 and w_2 , respectively. In the *i*-th relay, it compresses the received signal

from the source, and sends the corresponding binning index through the conferencing link to the other relay, which helps with decoding the desired common message. In the second hop, the channel is indeed a MAC with common information. In the next, we first consider the DMC case and then the Gaussian case.

a. DF Rate for the DMC Case

We first focus on the first hop that is a BC channel with receiver one-round conferencing, for which the authors in [19] investigated the two cases: send one independent message to each receiver and send one common message to both receivers. In this subsection, we extend their results with a more general coding scheme, and have the following lemma.

Lemma B.1 An achievable rate region of the general discrete memoryless BC with common message and decoder conferencing is given as

$$\mathbf{R}_{BC} = \bigcup_{p(u_0)p(u_1|u_0)p(u_2|u_0)x(u_0,u_1,u_2)p(y_1,y_2|x)p(\hat{y}_1|y_1)p(\hat{y}_2|y_2)} \left\{ \begin{cases}
(R_0, R_1, R_2) : R_0, R_1, R_2 \ge 0, \\
R_0 + R_i \le \lambda I \left(U_0, U_i; \hat{Y}_{3-i}, Y_i \right), \\
R_0 + R_1 + R_2 \le \lambda I \left(U_i; \hat{Y}_{3-i}, Y_i | U_0 \right) \\
+ \lambda I \left(U_0, U_{3-i}; \hat{Y}_i, Y_{3-i} \right) - \lambda I \left(U_1; U_2 | U_0 \right), \\
2R_0 + R_1 + R_2 \le \lambda I \left(U_0, U_1; \hat{Y}_2, Y_1 \right) \\
+ \lambda I \left(U_0, U_2; \hat{Y}_1, Y_2 \right) - \lambda I \left(U_1; U_2 | U_0 \right), \end{cases} \right\}.$$
(2.6)

subject to the following constraints

$$C_{i,3-i} \ge \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_i; Y_i\right) - \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_i; Y_{3-i}\right), \ i = 1, 2,$$

$$(2.7)$$

where R_0 , R_1 , and R_2 are the rates of the common message, the private messages

for the first relay and the second relay, respectively, and U_0 , U_1 , U_2 , \hat{Y}_1 , and \hat{Y}_2 are auxiliary random variables defined on arbitrary finite sets with the distribution given in (2.6).

Proof: See Appendix 1. \blacksquare

For the second hop, i.e., the MAC with common message, its achievable rate region is well studied, which is presented in the following lemma.

Lemma B.2 An achievable rate region for the discrete memoryless MAC with common message is given as [25]

$$\mathbf{R}_{MAC} = \bigcup_{p(u)p(x_{1}|u)p(x_{2}|u)p(y|x_{1},x_{2})} \left\{ \begin{cases}
(R_{0}, R_{1}, R_{2}) : R_{0}, R_{1}, R_{2} \ge 0, \\
R_{1} \le \overline{\lambda}I (X_{1}; Y|U, X_{2}), \\
R_{2} \le \overline{\lambda}I (X_{2}; Y|U, X_{1}), \\
R_{1} + R_{2} \le \overline{\lambda}I (X_{1}, X_{2}; Y|U), \\
R_{0} + R_{1} + R_{2} \le \overline{\lambda}I (U, X_{1}, X_{2}; Y). \end{cases} \right\},$$
(2.8)

where U is an auxiliary random variable defined on arbitrary finite set with the distribution given in (2.8).

From the Lemmas B.1 and B.2, we have the following theorem for an achievable rate of the considered diamond relay channel.

Theorem B.2 An achievable rate by using the DF scheme for the DMC diamond relay channel with conferencing links is given as

$$R_{DF} = \max_{\lambda, (R_0, R_1, R_2) \in R_{BC} \bigcap R_{MAC}} R_0 + R_1 + R_2.$$
(2.9)

Corollary B.2 For the DMC case, there exist finite C_{12} and C_{21} satisfying

$$\begin{cases}
C_{12} \leq \lambda^* H(Y_1|Y_2) \\
C_{21} \leq \lambda^* H(Y_2|Y_1)
\end{cases}$$
(2.10)

with λ^* defined in Theorem B.1, such that the rate upper bound given in (2.4) can be achieved by the DF relaying scheme.

Proof: We consider the scheme that only one common message is transmitted at the source, which will provide an upper bound on the conferencing link rates to achieve the rate upper bound, since other smarter coding schemes might require smaller conferencing link rates. By choosing U_1 and U_2 as constants (also by Theorem 3 in [19]), (2.6) can be rewritten as

$$R \le \lambda^* \min\left\{ I\left(X; Y_1, \hat{Y}_2\right), I\left(X; Y_2, \hat{Y}_1\right) \right\}, \qquad (2.11)$$

subject to $C_{12} \geq \lambda^* I\left(\hat{Y}_1; Y_1\right) - \lambda^* I\left(\hat{Y}_1; Y_2\right)$ and $C_{21} \geq \lambda^* I\left(\hat{Y}_2; Y_2\right) - \lambda^* I\left(\hat{Y}_2; Y_1\right)$. By choosing $\hat{Y}_1 = Y_1$ and $\hat{Y}_2 = Y_2$, it is observed that (2.11) equals to the rate upper bound given in (2.4), and the conferencing link rates should satisfy $C_{12} \geq \lambda^* H\left(Y_1|Y_2\right)$ and $C_{21} \geq \lambda^* H\left(Y_2|Y_1\right)$, which means that when $C_{12} = \lambda^* H\left(Y_1|Y_2\right)$ and $C_{21} = \lambda^* H\left(Y_2|Y_1\right)$, the rate upper bound is achieved. As mentioned in the beginning of this proof, these values are only upper bounds for C_{12} and C_{21} , and thus, this corollary is proved.

The above conditions imply that Y_i can be reliably transmitted to relay (3 - i) via the conferencing links, or it can be reliably estimated by relay (3 - i) (e.g., when $Y_1 = Y_2$). Therefore, both relays have access to Y_1 and Y_2 . In this case, the two relays are effectively one node with two antennas, and the network behaves like a three-node two-hop relay channel without direct link, whose rate is already known and is achieved by the DF scheme [2].

Remark B.1 It is worth noting that for any conferencing link rates larger than the right-hand sides of (2.10), respectively, the rate upper bound given in (2.4) can also be achieved. In Corollary B.2, it only provides an upper bound for $C_{i,3-i}$ to achieve the rate upper bound of the considered channel, which is the conditional entropy of the received signal at the *i*-th relay given by another relay's received signal. In the proof, we point out that this result is only a sufficient condition, which is due to the fact that the cut-set upper bound is relatively loose under general channel conditions [26]. For some special cases, the DF scheme can achieve with rate upper bound without conferencing. For example, when the BC channel part is deterministic, *i.e.*, $Y_1 = f_1(X)$ and $Y_2 = f_2(X)$, where f_1 and f_2 are some deterministic functions, the BC cut-set bound is achieved by sending one private message to each relay [27], and this means that conferencing will not introduce any improvement.

Remark B.2 With $C_{i,3-i} = 0$, we claim that our proposed scheme is equivalent to the conventional DF scheme without conferencing. The reason is given as follows: For such a case, we choose \hat{Y}_1 and \hat{Y}_2 as constants, and \mathbf{R}_{BC} defined in (2.6) will degrade to the rate region of a BC channel with one common message and two private messages [28]. Moreover, for the Gaussian BC channel without relay conferencing, we only need to transmit one common message to both relays and one private message to the better relay [10]. Thus, our scheme is a generalization of the conventional DF scheme, and our DF rate will be the same as or higher than that without conferencing.

b. DF Rate for the Gaussian Case

For the BC part, it contains one transmitter and two receivers, and there are two received signals at each receivers (equivalent to that each receiver is equipped with two antennas). As such, it is equivalent to a vector BC [28]. Furthermore, since

one of the received signals at each relay is just a degraded version of that from the other relay, and the noise term in \hat{Y}_i is correlated with that in Y_i . Thus, the first hop is indeed a vector BC with correlated noises, which is not physically degraded in general. Therefore, it is possible to transmit a unique private message to each relay. For the compression at the relays, we choose $\hat{Y}_i = Y_i + N_{i,3-i}$, where $N_{i,3-i}$ is a CSCG random variable distributed as $\mathcal{CN}(0, \sigma_{i,3-i}^2)$. It is easy to check that the Pareto boundary [44] of the rate region over (R_0, R_1, R_2) is achieved when the variances of the compression noises are minimized, which means that the equality in (2.7) is achieved, i.e., the compression noise is set to have

$$\sigma_{i,3-i}^2 = \frac{1+\gamma_1+\gamma_2}{(\gamma_{3-i}+1)\left(2^{C_{i,3-i}/\lambda}-1\right)}.$$
(2.12)

We now discuss the coding scheme for the Gaussian BC, which combines DPC and superposition coding [45]. We choose the transmitting signal $X = X_0 + X_1 + X_2$, where X_0 , X_1 , and X_2 denote the common message and the private messages intended to relay 1 and relay 2, respectively, and they are independent zero mean CSCG random variables with variances $\overline{\mu}P_S$, μ_1P_S , and μ_2P_S , respectively, where the positive parameters $\overline{\mu}$, μ_1 , and μ_2 are power allocation factors for X_0 , X_1 , and X_2 , respectively, with $\overline{\mu} + \mu_1 + \mu_2 = 1$.

At the relays, the common message is first decoded by both of them, and then each relay decodes its intended private message. Private messages are encoded using DPC [45]: If we first encode X_2 , we use X_2 as a state information to help with encoding X_1 ; and in the decoding process, relay 1 can decode X_1 without interference from X_2 ; on the other hand, we can exchange the encoding and decoding orders to possibly obtain a better rate region. Therefore, an achievable rate region of the first hop is given as

$$\boldsymbol{R}_{\mathrm{BC}}(R_0, R_1, R_2) = \mathrm{Conv}\left(\bigcup_{\pi, \mu_1, \mu_2} R\left(\pi, \mu_1, \mu_2\right)\right), \qquad (2.13)$$

where $\text{Conv}(\cdot)$ is the convex hull operator, and $R(\pi, \mu_1, \mu_2)$ is an achievable rate region under a given power allocation scheme (μ_1, μ_2) and encoding order $\pi \in \{\pi_{12}, \pi_{21}\}$ with $\pi_{i,3-i}$ meaning that the *i*-th relay's private message is encoded first. Specially, if X_2 is encoded first, we have

$$\mathbf{R}(\pi_{21},\mu_{1},\mu_{2}) = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} (R_{0},R_{1},R_{2}):\\ R_{0} \leq \min_{i=1,2} \lambda \log \left(1 + \frac{\overline{\mu}\gamma_{i}(1+\sigma_{3-i,i}^{2})+\overline{\mu}\gamma_{3-i}}{((\mu_{1}+\mu_{2})\gamma_{i}+1)(1+\sigma_{3-i,i}^{2})+(\mu_{1}+\mu_{2})\gamma_{3-i}} \right) \\ R_{1} \leq \lambda \log \left(1 + \mu_{1}\gamma_{1} + \frac{\mu_{1}\gamma_{2}}{1+\sigma_{21}^{2}} \right) \\ R_{2} \leq \lambda \log \left(1 + \frac{\mu_{2}\gamma_{2}(1+\sigma_{12}^{2})+\mu_{2}\gamma_{1}}{(\mu_{1}\gamma_{2}+1)(1+\sigma_{12}^{2})+\mu_{2}\gamma_{1}} \right) \end{array} \right\}, \quad (2.14)$$

and $R(\pi_{12}, \mu_1, \mu_2)$ can be computed similarly.

Next, we consider the MAC part. We choose $X_1 = \sqrt{\alpha P}U + \sqrt{\alpha P}V_1$ and $X_2 = \sqrt{\beta P}U + \sqrt{\beta P}V_2$, where U, V_1 , and V_2 are independent CSCG variables with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, 1)$. Thus, an achievable rate region of the MAC channel with common message is given as

$$\mathbf{R}_{MAC} (R_0, R_1, R_2) = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} R_1 \leq \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \alpha \widetilde{\gamma}_1\right) \\ R_2 \leq \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \beta \widetilde{\gamma}_2\right) \\ R_1 + R_2 \leq \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \alpha \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + \beta \widetilde{\gamma}_2\right) \\ R_0 + R_1 + R_2 \leq \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_2 + 2\sqrt{\overline{\alpha} \overline{\beta} \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \widetilde{\gamma}_2}\right) \end{array} \right\}.$$
(2.15)

Therefore, as stated in Theorem B.2, an achievable rate by using the DF scheme

is the maximum sum rate over the intersection of the regions given in (2.14) and (2.15).

Remark B.3 From (2.12), we observe that when $\sigma_{i,3-i}^2$ goes to zero, $C_{i,3-i}$ goes to infinity. In other words, for the Gaussian case, only when C_{12} and C_{21} go to infinity, the DF scheme can achieve the rate upper bound, which is different from the DMC case. Intuitively, for Gaussian channels, the alphabet size of \mathcal{X} is infinite, and each relay cannot reliably decode its counterpart's received signal with the limited help from the other relay.

Remark B.4 When γ_i goes to infinity, the optimal λ goes to 0, and the rate upper bound becomes the same as the MAC cut-set bound. In this case, the source only needs to transmit a common message, and both relays can successfully decode it. Therefore, for finite $C_{i,3-i}$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_i$, the DF scheme can asymptotically achieve the cut-set bound as γ_i goes to infinity. On the other hand, when γ_i and $C_{i,3-i}$ are fixed, and $\tilde{\gamma}_i$ goes to infinity, the upper bound cannot be asymptotically achieved. This is due to the fact that the BC cut-set bound cannot be achieved with finite-rate relay conferencing.

3. CF Achievable Rates

In this subsection, we discuss three different coding schemes based on the conventional CF relaying scheme. The first two schemes exploit the conferencing links to partially or completely exchange the binning index of the compressed receiver signals at the relays, and we call them the partial cooperation CF scheme (PCF) and the full cooperation CF scheme (FCF), respectively, which implies how much cooperation is introduced in the MAC part; the third scheme uses the conferencing links to help compression, called as the conferencing assited CF scheme (CCF) scheme.

Here each relay first compresses its received signal as \hat{Y}_i independently and obtains the corresponding binning index. Then, each relay splits the binning index into two sub-messages, and transmit one of them to the other relay by conferencing. In the second hop, the active part of the system is nothing but a MAC channel with a common message. Since we only introduce partially cooperative transmission in the MAC channel, we call it as the partial cooperation CF scheme, i.e., PCF, as defined earlier.

DMC Case: We have the following theorem for a PCF achievable rate.

Theorem B.3 An achievable rate by using the PCF scheme for the DMC case is given as

$$R_{PCF} \le \max \lambda I\left(X; \hat{Y}_1, \hat{Y}_2\right) \tag{2.16}$$

s.t.
$$\lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{1};Y_{1}|\hat{Y}_{2}\right) \leq \overline{\lambda}I\left(X_{1};Y|U,X_{2}\right) + C_{12}$$
 (2.17)

$$\lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{2};Y_{2}|\hat{Y}_{1}\right) \leq \overline{\lambda}I\left(X_{2};Y|U,X_{1}\right) + C_{21}$$

$$(2.18)$$

$$\lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{1}, \hat{Y}_{2}; Y_{1}, Y_{2}\right) \leq \min\{\overline{\lambda}I\left(X_{1}, X_{2}; Y|U\right) + C_{12} + C_{21}, \overline{\lambda}I\left(X_{1}, X_{2}; Y\right)\},$$
(2.19)

over the distribution $p(x)p(y_1, y_2|x)p(\hat{y_1}|y_1)p(\hat{y_2}|y_2)p(u) \ p(x_1|u)p(x_2|u)p(y|x_1, x_2)$, and U is an auxiliary random variable similarly defined as before.

The proof of this theorem is straightforward: The coding scheme in the first hop is the same as that for the conventional CF scheme in [10]; the second hop with conferencing links is a MAC channel with conferencing encoders and its rate region is given in [18]. By a similar argument to that in [10], we can obtain the PCF rate as shown in this theorem. **Remark B.5** For the case $C_{i,3-i} = 0$, i = 1, 2, the PCF scheme is the same as the conventional CF scheme without conferencing [10]; for the case $C_{i,3-i} > 0$, the PCF scheme is not worse than the conventional CF scheme. Note that even when the MAC region is strictly enlarged compared to the case without conferencing, we still cannot claim that the PCF scheme is strictly better than the case without conferencing, since the right-hand side of (2.19) may not be strictly improved, and when (2.19) is dominant among these constraints, the PCF rate will be equal to the case without conferencing.

Gaussian Case: We define the compression at the relays as $\hat{Y}_i = Y_i + \hat{N}_i$, i = 1, 2, where \hat{N}_i is the compression noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, \sigma_i^2)$.

Corollary B.3 An achievable rate by using the PCF scheme for the Gaussian case is given as

$$R_{PCF} = \max_{\lambda,\alpha,\beta,\sigma_1^2,\sigma_2^2} \lambda \log\left(1 + \frac{\gamma_1}{1 + \sigma_1^2} + \frac{\gamma_2}{1 + \sigma_2^2}\right)$$
(2.20)

s.t.
$$\lambda \log \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sigma_1^2} \left(1 + \frac{\gamma_1 \left(1 + \sigma_2^2 \right)}{1 + \sigma_2^2 + \gamma_2} \right) \right) \leq \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \alpha \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \right) + C_{12},$$
 (2.21)

$$\lambda \log \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sigma_2^2} \left(1 + \frac{\gamma_2 \left(1 + \sigma_1^2 \right)}{1 + \sigma_1^2 + \gamma_1} \right) \right) \le \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \beta \widetilde{\gamma}_2 \right) + C_{21}, \tag{2.22}$$

$$\lambda \log \left(1 + \frac{1 + \gamma_1}{\sigma_1^2} + \frac{1 + \gamma_2}{\sigma_2^2} + \frac{1 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2}{\sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2} \right)$$

$$\leq \min \left\{ \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \alpha \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + \beta \widetilde{\gamma}_2 \right) + C_{12} + C_{21}, \\ \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_2 + 2\sqrt{\overline{\alpha}\overline{\beta}} \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \widetilde{\gamma}_2 \right) \right\}.$$
(2.23)

Remark B.6 For given γ_i , $C_{i,3-i}$, α , and β , when $\tilde{\gamma}_i \to \infty$, which means that the optimal $\lambda \to 1$, from (2.21), (2.22), and (2.23), we see that both σ_1^2 and σ_2^2 scale to 0, and (2.20) asymptotically achieves the rate upper bound $\log(1 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2)$. Therefore, when $\tilde{\gamma}_i \to \infty$, the PCF scheme asymptotically achieve the rate upper bound.
Remark B.7 We consider the case with fixed γ_i and $\tilde{\gamma}_i$ and infinite large $C_{i,3-i}$. In order to achieve the rate upper bound $\lambda^* \log (1 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2)$, where λ^* is given by Theorem B.1, it is required for the destination to perfectly recover $\hat{Y}_i = Y_i$. However, for the Gaussian channel case, the alphabet sizes of Y_i 's are infinity, and the MAC part of the considered channel, i.e., the second hop, is with only finite capacity. Hence, the MAC part cannot support the perfect reconstruction of Y_i at the destination. Thus, with finite channel gains, the PCF scheme cannot achieve the rate upper bound even with infinite conferencing rates.

Remark B.8 For the case that $C_{i,3-i}$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_i$ are fixed, and $\gamma_i \to \infty$, only if the following condition

$$C_{12} + C_{21} \ge \log\left(1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_2 + 2\sqrt{\widetilde{\gamma}_1\widetilde{\gamma}_2}\right),\tag{2.24}$$

is satisfied, the rate upper bound can be approached. This is due to the following fact: If we fix σ_1^2 and σ_2^2 , and choose $\lambda = \frac{\log(\tilde{\gamma}_1 + \tilde{\gamma}_2 + 2\sqrt{\tilde{\gamma}_1 \tilde{\gamma}_2})}{\log(1 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2)}$, it is easy to check that (2.20) asymptotically achieves the upper bound, the constraints (2.21) and (2.22) become redundant, and (2.23) asymptotically holds when $\gamma_i \to \infty$ and (2.24) satisfied.

b. FCF Achievable Rate

With FCF, after obtaining the compression of the received signal \hat{Y}_i , each relay finds the binning index (the number of bins is determined by the corresponding conferencing link rate), and send this binning index to the other relay. Based on its own received signal and the binning index from the other relay, each relay tries to decode the compressed signal of the other relay. Then, partition the two compressions again into some other bins and transmit the new binning indices to the destination. In this case, each relay has a full knowledge of these two binning indices, and transmits a common message X_r through the MAC channel to the destination. Since we introduce full cooperation over such a MAC channel, we call this scheme as the full cooperation CF scheme, i.e., FCF, as defined earlier.

DMC Case: We have the following theorem for an FCF achievable rate.

Theorem B.4 An achievable rate by using the FCF scheme for the DMC case is given as

$$R_{FCF} \le \max \lambda I\left(X; \hat{Y}_1, \hat{Y}_2\right) \tag{2.25}$$

s.t.
$$C_{i,3-i} \ge \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_i; Y_i\right) - \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_i; Y_{3-i}\right), \ i = 1, 2,$$
 (2.26)

$$\lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{1}, \hat{Y}_{2}; Y_{1}, Y_{2}\right) \leq \overline{\lambda} I\left(X_{r}; Y\right), \qquad (2.27)$$

over the distribution $p(x)p(y_1, y_2|x)p(\hat{y_1}|y_1)p(\hat{y_2}|y_2)p(x_r)$ $p(y|x_r)$. Here, we define $p(y|x_r) = p(y|x_r, x_r)$ according to $p(y|x_1, x_2)$ when $x_1 = x_2 = x_r$.

Proof: See Appendix 2. \blacksquare

Gaussian Case: We choose the distributions of X and X_r as $\mathcal{CN}(0, P_S)$ and $\mathcal{CN}(0, P_r)$, respectively. Furthermore, the compressions at the relays are according to $\hat{Y}_i = Y_i + \hat{N}_i$, i = 1, 2.

Corollary B.4 An achievable rate by using the FCF scheme for the Gaussian case is given as

$$R_{FCF} \le \max_{\lambda, \sigma_1^2, \sigma_2^2} \lambda \log \left(1 + \frac{\gamma_1}{1 + \sigma_1^2} + \frac{\gamma_2}{1 + \sigma_2^2} \right)$$
(2.28)

s.t.
$$\sigma_i^2 \ge \frac{1+\gamma_1+\gamma_2}{(\gamma_{3-i}+1)\left(2^{C_{i,3-i}/\lambda}-1\right)}, \ i=1,2,$$
 (2.29)

$$\lambda \log \left(1 + \frac{1 + \gamma_1}{\sigma_1^2} + \frac{1 + \gamma_2}{\sigma_2^2} + \frac{1 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2}{\sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2} \right)$$
$$\leq \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_2 + 2\sqrt{\widetilde{\gamma}_1 \widetilde{\gamma}_2} \right). \tag{2.30}$$

Remark B.9 It can be checked that when $C_{i,3-i} = 0$, $R_{FCF} = 0$ for any channel parameters. This suggests that the FCF scheme is worse than the conventional CF scheme when $C_{i,3-i}$ is relatively small. In this case, we should not use conferencing to obtain full cooperation in the second hop, and the PCF scheme should be adopted instead. Denote the optimal solution for the CF rate (by Theorem 5.8 in [10]) as $(\overline{\sigma}_{1}^{2}, \overline{\sigma}_{2}^{2}, \overline{\lambda})$, and it is easy to check that this solution also satisfies the constraint in (2.30). Thus, the threshold $\overline{C}_{i,3-i}$, below which the FCF scheme performs worse than the CF scheme, is obtained when the equality in (2.29) is achieved, i.e.,

$$\overline{C}_{i,3-i} = \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \frac{1 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2}{\overline{\sigma_i}^2 (\gamma_{3-i} + 1)} \right).$$
(2.31)

Remark B.10 For any given finite γ_i and $C_{i,3-i}$, when $\tilde{\gamma}_i$ goes to infinity, the optimal λ goes to 1. However, the compression noise power σ_i^2 cannot scale to 0 due to the constraints in (2.29), which means that the asymptotic rate upper bound cannot be achieved.

Remark B.11 For any given finite $\tilde{\gamma}_i$ and $C_{i,3-i}$, when $\gamma_i \to \infty$ (assuming that γ_1 and γ_2 are on the same order), we choose $\lambda = \frac{\log(\tilde{\gamma}_1 + \tilde{\gamma}_2 + 2\sqrt{\tilde{\gamma}_1 \tilde{\gamma}_2})}{\log(1+\gamma_1+\gamma_2)} \to 0$, while σ_i^2 scales on the order of $\frac{1}{\gamma_i}$ according to (2.29). For (2.30), it is easy to check that the lefthand side of the inequality is equal to the right-hand side asymptotically. Therefore, we conclude that the FCF scheme asymptotically achieves the rate upper bound as $\gamma_i \to \infty$.

Remark B.12 For any given finite γ_i and $\tilde{\gamma}_i$, by the same argument as in Remark B.7, we conclude that as the conferencing link rates go to infinity, the FCF scheme cannot achieve the rate upper bound even with infinite conferencing link rates.

Remark B.13 When the conferencing link rates go to infinity, we observe that the *PCF* and *FCF* schemes achieve the same asymptotic performance. In particular,

since the constraints (2.21), (2.22), and (2.29) become redundant as the conferencing link rates go to infinity, problem (2.20)-(2.23) and problem (2.28)-(2.30) can both be rewritten as

$$R \leq \max_{\lambda,\sigma_1^2,\sigma_2^2} \lambda \log \left(1 + \frac{\gamma_1}{1 + \sigma_1^2} + \frac{\gamma_2}{1 + \sigma_2^2} \right)$$

s.t. $\lambda \log \left(1 + \frac{1 + \gamma_1}{\sigma_1^2} + \frac{1 + \gamma_2}{\sigma_2^2} + \frac{1 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2}{\sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2} \right)$
 $\leq \overline{\lambda} \log \left(1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_2 + 2\sqrt{\widetilde{\gamma}_1 \widetilde{\gamma}_2} \right),$

which means that these two schemes achieve the same performance for the considered case.

c. CCF Achievable Rate

In this scheme, each relay generates its own compression intended for the second hop based on two signals: the received signal from the source, and the compressed signal from the other relay through the conferencing link.

DMC Case: We have the following theorem regarding a CCF achievable rate.

Theorem B.5 As we use the conferencing links to help with compressing the received signal at the relays, an achievable rate by using the CCF scheme for the DMC case is given by

$$R_{CCF} = \max \lambda I\left(X; \hat{Y}_{1}, \hat{Y}_{2}\right)$$

$$s.t. (2.7), \ \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{1}; Y_{1}, \hat{Y}_{21} | \hat{Y}_{2}\right) \leq \overline{\lambda} I\left(X_{1}; Y | X_{2}\right)$$

$$\lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{2}; Y_{2}, \hat{Y}_{12} | \hat{Y}_{1}\right) \leq \overline{\lambda} I\left(X_{2}; Y | X_{1}\right)$$

$$\lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{1}, \hat{Y}_{2}; Y_{1}, Y_{2}, \hat{Y}_{12}, \hat{Y}_{21}\right) \leq \overline{\lambda} I\left(X_{1}, X_{2}; Y\right),$$
(2.32)

over the distribution

 $p(x)p(y_1, y_2|x)p(\hat{y}_{12}|y_1)p(\hat{y}_{21}|y_2)p(\hat{y}_1|y_1, \hat{y}_{21})p(\hat{y}_2|y_2, \hat{y}_{12})p(x_1, x_2)p(y|x_1, x_2).$

Proof: See Appendix 3. ■

Gaussian Case: We choose the distributions of transmit signals over the conferencing links as $\hat{Y}_{12} = Y_1 + N_{12}$ and $\hat{Y}_{21} = Y_2 + N_{21}$, respectively, where N_{12} and N_{21} are independent zero mean CSCG random variable, with variances defined the same as in (2.12). For the relay signals to the destination, we choose $\hat{Y}_1 = aY_1 + b\hat{Y}_{21} + V_1$ and $\hat{Y}_2 = cY_2 + d\hat{Y}_{12} + V_2$, where a, b, c, and d are some parameters, V_1 and V_2 are independent zero mean CSCG random variables with variances σ_1^2 and σ_1^2 , respectively. Then, a CCF achievable rate for the Gaussian case is given as

$$R_{\text{CCF}} = \max_{\lambda,a,b,c,d,\sigma_1^2,\sigma_2^2} \lambda \log\left(\frac{P_{\hat{Y}_1\hat{Y}_2}}{\hat{\sigma}_1^2 \hat{\sigma}_2^2 - |ad^* + bc^*|^2}\right)$$
(2.33)
s.t. $\lambda \log\left(\frac{P_{\hat{Y}_1\hat{Y}_2}}{\sigma_1^2 (|dh_1 + ch_2|^2 P + \hat{\sigma}_2^2)}\right) \leq \overline{\lambda} \log\left(1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_1\right)$
 $\lambda \log\left(\frac{P_{\hat{Y}_1\hat{Y}_2}}{\sigma_2^2 (|ah_1 + bh_2|^2 P + \hat{\sigma}_1^2)}\right) \leq \overline{\lambda} \log\left(1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_2\right)$
 $\lambda \log\left(\frac{P_{\hat{Y}_1\hat{Y}_2}}{\sigma_1^2 \sigma_2^2}\right) \leq \overline{\lambda} \log\left(1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + \widetilde{\gamma}_2\right),$

where

$$P_{\hat{Y}_1\hat{Y}_2} = |ah_1 + bh_2|^2 P_S \hat{\sigma}_2^2 + |dh_1 + ch_2|^2 P_S \hat{\sigma}_1^2 + \hat{\sigma}_1^2 \hat{\sigma}_2^2 - |ad^* + bc^*|^2 - 2\Re \left[(ah_1 + bh_2) \left(dh_1 + ch_2 \right)^* \left(ad^* + bc^* \right) P_S \right], \qquad (2.34)$$

with $\hat{\sigma}_1^2 = |a|^2 + |b|^2 (1 + \sigma_{21}^2) + \sigma_1^2$, and $\hat{\sigma}_2^2 = |c|^2 + |d|^2 (1 + \sigma_{12}^2) + \sigma_2^2$. It is easy to check that the above objective function is not convex over a, b, c, and d jointly. Since it is difficult to compute the maximum rate, we try to find a sub-optimal but much simpler solution, i.e., letting $a = d = h_1^*$ and $b = c = h_2^*$, which will be used for the simulations in Section C.

Remark B.14 Since the conventional CF scheme is just a special case of our scheme, by letting $\hat{Y}_{i,3-i}$ be a constant, a CCF achievable rate for the DMC case is the same as the case without conferencing [10]. Hence, with our setup, we conclude that the CCF rate is the same as or higher than the conventional CF rate. However, since only the sub-optimal solution for the combining problem at the relay is adopted, the CCF scheme may not perform better than the conventional CF scheme for the Gaussian case, and this will be shown in Section C.

Remark B.15 Considering another case when C_{12} and C_{21} go to infinity, by the same argument as Remark B.7, we conclude that the CF scheme cannot achieve the rate upper bound.

4. AF Achievable Rate

In this subsection, to make the AF relaying scheme meaningful, we further assume that the conferencing links are Gaussian channels, which also use AF as the conferencing scheme. Without loss of generality, we assume that the input of the conferencing link is $x_{i,3-i} = y_i = h_i x + n_i$. Furthermore, we assume that the link gain of each conferencing link equals to 1, and the conferencing link output in the *i*-th relay is given as

$$y_{3-i,i} = x_{3-i,i} + n_{3-i,i}, (2.35)$$

where $n_{3-i,i}$ is CSCG noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, \sigma_{3-i,i}^2)$. Based on the conferencing link rate constraints, the variance of $n_{3-i,i}$ is given as $\sigma_{3-i,i}^2 \geq \frac{\gamma_{3-i}+1}{2^{C_{3-i,i}/2}-1}$, where the conferencing link rate is subject to a $\frac{1}{2}$ pre-log penalty due to the conferencing scheduling scheme introduced in Section A. Obviously, when the equality holds, the AF scheme performs the best. Thus, we let

$$\sigma_{3-i,i}^2 = \frac{\gamma_{3-i}+1}{2^{C_{3-i,i}/2}-1}.$$
(2.36)

After the conferencing sessions, the relays combine the two received signals from the source node and the other relay, which leads to

$$x_i = a_{ii}y_i + a_{3-i,i}y_{3-i,i}, (2.37)$$

where a_{ii} and $a_{3-i,i}$ are some complex parameters, and satisfy the following power constraints

$$\mathbb{E}\left(x_{i}^{2}\right) = |a_{ii}|^{2}\left(|h_{i}|^{2}P_{S}+1\right) + |a_{3-i,i}|^{2}\left(|h_{3-i}|^{2}P_{S}+1+\sigma_{3-i,i}^{2}\right) \leq P_{R}.$$
(2.38)

Therefore, the received signal at the destination is given as

$$y = g_1 x_1 + g_2 x_2 + n$$

= $(a_{11}h_1g_1 + a_{12}h_1g_2 + a_{21}h_2g_1 + a_{22}h_2g_2) x$
+ $(a_{11}g_1 + a_{12}g_2) n_1 + (a_{21}g_1 + a_{22}g_2) n_2$
+ $a_{21}g_1n_{21} + a_{12}g_2n_{12} + n,$

and an achievable rate by using the AF scheme is given as

$$R_{\rm AF} = \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \gamma_{\rm AF} \right), \qquad (2.39)$$

where $\gamma_{\rm AF}$ is the received SNR at the destination, given as

$$\gamma_{\rm AF} = \frac{|a_{11}h_1g_1 + a_{12}h_1g_2 + a_{21}h_2g_1 + a_{22}h_2g_2|^2 P_S}{|a_{11}g_1 + a_{12}g_2|^2 + |a_{21}g_1 + a_{22}g_2|^2 + |a_{21}g_1|^2\sigma_{21}^2 + |a_{12}g_2|^2\sigma_{12}^2 + 1}.$$
 (2.40)

We now rewrite (2.40) to a matrix form, and maximize it to obtain the maximum

AF rate defined in (2.39). Thus, we have the following optimization problem

$$\max \quad \frac{\mathbf{a}^{H} \mathbf{R} \mathbf{a}}{\mathbf{a}^{H} \mathbf{Q} \mathbf{a} + 1}$$
(2.41)
s.t. (2.38),

where $\mathbf{a} = [a_{11}, a_{12}, a_{21}, a_{22}]^T$, $\mathbf{b} = [h_1^* g_1^*, h_1^* g_2^*, h_2^* g_1^*, h_2^* g_2^*]^T$, and the matrices $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{b}\mathbf{b}^H$,

$$\mathbf{Q} = \begin{bmatrix} |g_1|^2 & g_1^* g_2 & 0 & 0\\ g_1 g_2^* & |g_2|^2 (1 + \sigma_{12}^2) & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & |g_1|^2 (1 + \sigma_{21}^2) & g_1^* g_2\\ 0 & 0 & g_1 g_2^* & |g_2|^2 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.42)

From (2.40), we know that \mathbf{R} and \mathbf{Q} are positive semidefinite. By a similar argument as in [46], this problem can be shown equivalent to

$$\begin{aligned} \max_{\mathbf{A},t} & t \end{aligned} (2.43) \\ \text{s.t.} & \operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathbf{A}\left(\mathbf{R}-t\mathbf{Q}\right)\right) \geq t, \ (2.38), \\ & \operatorname{Rank}(\mathbf{A}) = 1, \mathbf{A} \succeq 0, \end{aligned}$$

where $\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{a}\mathbf{a}^{H}$. Using semidefinite relaxation [46], we aim to solve the following optimization problem:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \max_{\mathbf{A},t} & t & (2.44) \\ \text{s.t.} & \operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathbf{A}\left(\mathbf{R}-t\mathbf{Q}\right)\right) \geq t, \\ & (2.38), \ \mathbf{A} \succeq 0. \end{array}$$

Remark B.16 This optimization problem can be efficiently solved by bisection search over t; and for each t, the remaining problem is a convex feasibility problem, which

can be efficiently solved using existing numerical tools, e.g., CVX [47]. However, the final solution may not be rank-1 to satisfy the constraint in (2.43); so we use the following randomization technique [46] to provide an approximate solution to the original rank-1 problem in (2.43): Denote the solution of problem (2.44) as \mathbf{A}^* , with its eigenvalue decomposition $\mathbf{A}^* = \mathbf{U}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{U}^H$; we choose $\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{U}\mathbf{D}^{1/2}\mathbf{v}$, where \mathbf{v} is a vector of zero-mean unit-variance i.i.d. Gaussian random variables. We then scale \mathbf{a} to make the power constraints (2.38) satisfied [48].

Remark B.17 If a rank-1 optimal solution for (2.44) can be found, our AF rate will be higher than the AF rate without conferencing, i.e., the case $C_{i,3-i} = 0$. This is due to the facts that the conventional AF relaying optimization problem is a special case of (2.41) with $a_{12} = a_{21} = 0$. However, sometimes we may not obtain the exact optimal solution of rank-1 for (2.44), such that there is a gap to the optimal value with the solution from the randomization method [48]. For these cases, our proposed AF scheme may not be better than the case without conferencing. It will be shown in Section C that for small conferencing link rates, our scheme performs worse than the conventional AF scheme without conferencing; but the reverse is true for large $C_{i,3-i}$ cases.

Remark B.18 It is easy to check that when γ_i goes to infinity, the AF scheme can achieve one-half of the rate upper bound, which is due to the half-duplex constraint. On the other hand, if both γ_i and $\tilde{\gamma}_i$ are finite, the upper bound is not achievable even with infinite conferencing link capacity.

C. Numerical Results

In this section, we present some numerical results to compare the performance among the proposed coding schemes. We consider both the symmetric and asymmetric cases.

1. Symmetric Case

For this case, we let $|h_1| = |h_2|$, $|g_1| = |g_2|$, and $C_{12} = C_{21} = C$. To further discuss the effects of the relative nodes location to achievable rates, we set the locations of the source node, the destination node, and the relays as $s_0 = (-1, 0)$, $s_3 = (0, 1)$, $s_1 = (d, -\sqrt{1-d^2})$, and $s_2 = (d, +\sqrt{1-d^2})$, respectively, where $d \in (-1, 1)$. Furthermore, we assume that the link gains satisfy $|h_i| = \frac{1}{|s_0-s_i|}$ and $|g_i| = \frac{1}{|s_3-s_i|}$, i = 1, 2. For the phases of h_i and g_i , we assume that they are uniform random variables over $[0, 2\pi]$. Moreover, we choose $P_S = P_R = 1$.



Fig. 3.: Achievable rates and cut-set upper bound for symmetric link gain case, with C = 0.5.

In Fig. 3, we compare the performance of the proposed schemes under the symmetric channel gain assumption for different relay locations. Here, we fix the conferencing link rate C = 0.5 bit/s/Hz. We observe that when d goes to -1, i.e.,

when the relays get close to the source node, the DF scheme asymptotically achieves the rate upper bound, so do the FCF and PCF schemes. Moreover, all three CF schemes outperform the AF scheme, but they are worse than the DF scheme. As dgoes to 1, i.e., when the relays get close to the destination, we observe that the PCF scheme achieve the rate upper bound asymptotically, while the DF, AF, and FCF schemes are strictly suboptimal. For the case when d is around 0, the DF scheme performs the best among all the coding schemes, and the performances of the others are almost the same.

In Fig. 4(a) and Fig. 4(b), with different channel gains, we compare the performances of the coding schemes as the conferencing link rate increases. We consider two typical setups: the BC channel gains are larger than those of the MAC channel for Fig. 4(a), and the reverse case for Fig. Fig. 4(b). Overall, we observe that for each relaying scheme, there is an asymptotic performance limitation as the conferencing link rate increases.

Note that when C = 0, the proposed DF and PCF schemes are equivalent to the conventional DF and CF schemes. From these two subfigures, we observe that conferencing can strictly increase the DF and CF achievable rates using the proposed DF and PCF schemes, respectively. However, for the AF, CCF, and FCF schemes, they cannot guarantee to increase the AF and CF rates as we discussed before, respectively, especially when C is small.

For both cases shown in Fig. 4(a) and Fig. 4(b), the DF scheme gets close to the rate upper bound when C is large enough: For the good BC channel case, we need $C \ge 2$ bits/s/Hz, and for the good MAC channel case, we need $C \ge 4$ bits/s/Hz. For the PCF and FCF schemes, we observe that as C becomes large, they have the same performance; when C is very close to 0, the PCF scheme always performs better; for small C but not close to 0, the FCF scheme performs better in the good BC channel



(b) Bad BC vs. good MAC, $\gamma_i = 10 \text{ dB}, \tilde{\gamma}_i = 30 \text{ dB}$

Fig. 4.: Achievable rates over different conferencing link rates, $P_S = P_R = 1$.

case, and the reverse is true for the good MAC channel case. In the high conferencing rate regime, the CCF scheme performs better than the other two CF schemes for the good MAC channel case, and the reverse is true for the good BC channel case.

2. Asymmetric Case

In this subsection, we consider the cases that these links are with different qualities, which can model the scenarios that the two relays are located with different distances to the source node.



Fig. 5.: Achievable rates and cut-set upper bound for asymmetric link gain case, with $|\gamma_1|^2 = |\widetilde{\gamma}_2|^2 = 30 \text{ dB}$ and $|\widetilde{\gamma}_1|^2 = |\gamma_2|^2 = 10 \text{ dB}.$

In Fig. 5, we plot achievable rates and the rate upper bound as functions of the conferencing link rates $C_{12} = C_{21} = C$ for the case that the source-relay and relay-destination links are not symmetrical, i.e., we set $|\gamma_1|^2 = |\tilde{\gamma}_2|^2 = 30$ dB and $|\tilde{\gamma}_1|^2 = |\gamma_2|^2 = 10$ dB. It is observed that the DF scheme can still achieve the rate upper bound as the conferencing link rates go to infinity asymptotically; for the PCF and FCF relaying schemes, the relay conferencing introduces about 1.2 bit gain when the conferencing link rates are large than 4 bits. for the AF relaying scheme, the relay conferencing provides gains only when the conferencing link rates are relatively large.

In Fig. 6(a) and Fig. 6(b), we plot achievable rates and the rate upper bound for the case with symmetric source-relay and relay-destination channel gains, while the conferencing link rates are different. Specifically, we set one conferencing link rate always equal to zero, i.e., $C_{12} = C$ and $C_{21} = 0$. We observe that the DF scheme cannot approach the rate upper bound even when the conferencing link rate is large for both the good BC (in Fig. 6(a)) and good MAC (in Fig. 6(b)) cases, which is due to the fact that relay 1 cannot decode all source messages. For the AF rate, it only changes slightly as the conferencing link rate increases; Moreover, for the good MAC case in Fig. 6(b), the PCF scheme performs better than the FCF scheme in the high conferencing link rate regime, which is different from the symmetric cases (shown in Fig. 4(a) and 4(b))and the good BC case with asymmetric conferencing link rates (shown in Fig. 6(a)).

D. Summary

Table II.: Upper-bound-achieving cases for the diamond relay channel with conferencing links

| | DMC | Gaussian channel | |
|---------|-------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------------|
| | | $\gamma_i \to \infty$ | $\widetilde{\gamma}_i \to \infty$ |
| Schemes | DF with finite | DF, FCF | PCF |
| | conferencing link rates | | |

In this chapter, we discussed the rate upper bound and achievable rates of the diamond relay channel with conferencing links. For the DF scheme, we derived an achievable rate by sending a common message and two private messages. We developed three new coding schemes based on CF and used the conferencing links to exchange certain compressed information between the relays, whose achievable rates were computed for both the DMC and Gaussian cases. For the AF scheme, we discussed the optimal combining problem between the signals from the source and the conferencing link at the relays, and use semidefinite relaxation and bisection search to efficiently obtain a sub-optimal solution. All the upper-bound-achieving cases are also summarized in Table II.

E. Appendix

1. Proof of Lemma B.1

Fix the distribution $p(u_0)p(u_1|u_0)p(u_2|u_0)p(y_1, y_2|x) p(\hat{y}_1|y_1)p(\hat{y}_2|y_2)$ and the function $x(u_0, u_1, u_2)$.

Codebook Generation: In the source, generate 2^{nR_0} i.i.d. sequences $\boldsymbol{u}_0(w_0)$, $w_0 \in [1:2^{nR_0}]$, according to the distribution $\prod_{j=1}^{\lambda n} p(u_{0,j})$. For each $\boldsymbol{u}_0(w_0)$, generate 2^{nR_i} i.i.d. sub-codebooks $\boldsymbol{Q}_i(w_0, w_i)$, $w_i \in [1:2^{nR_i}]$, where each sub-codebook contains $2^{n(\tilde{R}_i-R_i)}$ i.i.d. sequences $\boldsymbol{u}_i(w_0, l_i)$, $l_i \in [(w_i-1)2^{n(\tilde{R}_i-R_i)}+1:w_i2^{n(\tilde{R}_i-R_i)}]$, according to $\prod_{j=1}^{\lambda n} p(u_{i,j}|u_{0,j}(w_0))$. For each triple (w_0,w_1,w_2) , define the set

$$Q(w_0, w_1, w_2) = \{(u_1(w_0, l_1), u_2(w_0, l_2)) \in Q_1(w_0, w_1) \times Q_2(w_0, w_2) : \\ (u_0(w_0), u_1(w_0, l_1), u_2(w_0, l_2)) \in A^n_{\epsilon'}\}.$$

Conferencing function generation: Generate $2^{nR'_i}$ i.i.d. sequences $\hat{y}_i(k_i)$,

 $k_i \in [1:2^{nR'_i}]$, according to $\prod_{j=1}^{\lambda n} p(\hat{y}_{i,j})$, where

$$p_{\hat{Y}_{i}}(\hat{y}_{i,j}) = \sum_{\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y}_{1}, \mathcal{Y}_{2}} p(\hat{y}_{i}|y_{i}) p(y_{1}, y_{2}|x) p(x)$$

and $p(x) = \sum_{\mathcal{U}_1, \mathcal{U}_2} p(u_1, u_2, x)$. Randomly and uniformly partition the index set $[1: 2^{nR'_i}]$ into $2^{nC_{i,3-i}}$ binnings $S_i(s_i), s_i \in [1: 2^{nC_{i,3-i}}]$.

Encoding and Decoding: In the source, for each triple (w_0, w_1, w_2) , pick one sequence pair $(\boldsymbol{u}_1(w_0, l_1), \boldsymbol{u}_2(w_0, l_2)) \in \boldsymbol{Q}(w_0, w_1, w_2)$, and generate a codeword $\boldsymbol{x}(w_0, w_1, w_2)$ according to $\prod_{i=1}^{\lambda n} p(x_i | u_1(w_0, l_1), u_2(w_0, l_2))$; if no such pair exists, declare an error. This operation can be done reliably if [28]

$$\left(\widetilde{R}_1 - R_1\right) + \left(\widetilde{R}_2 - R_2\right) \ge \lambda I\left(U_1; U_2 | U_0\right).$$
(2.45)

In the *i*-th relay, upon receiving \boldsymbol{y}_i , it tries to find a $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_i(k_i)$ such that $(\boldsymbol{y}_i, \hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_i(k_i)) \in A_{\epsilon}^n$, and this can be done reliably as n goes to infinity, if

$$R'_i \ge \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_i; Y_i\right). \tag{2.46}$$

Then, the *i*-th relay finds the corresponding binning index number s_i , where $k_i \in \mathbf{S}_i(s_i)$, and sends it to the other relay through the conferencing link.

After receiving the conferencing message from its counterpart, the *i*-th relay first tries to find the unique \hat{k}_{3-i} such that $(\hat{y}_{3-i}(\hat{k}_{3-i}), y_i) \in A^n_{\epsilon}$ with $\hat{k}_{3-i} \in S_{3-i}(s_{3-i})$. This can be done reliably if

$$R'_{3-i} \le \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{3-i}; Y_i\right) + C_{3-i,i}.$$
 (2.47)

From (2.46) and (2.47), we obtain

$$C_{i,3-i} \ge \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_i; Y_i\right) - \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_i; Y_{3-i}\right).$$
(2.48)

Then, the *i*-th relay finds a unique pair (\hat{w}_0, \hat{w}_i) satisfying

$$\left(\boldsymbol{u}_0(\hat{w}_0), \boldsymbol{u}_i(\hat{w}_0, \hat{l}_i), \hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_{3-i}(\hat{k}_{3-i}), \boldsymbol{y}_i\right) \in A_{\epsilon}^n,$$

and this can be done reliably if

$$\begin{cases}
\widetilde{R}_{i} \leq \lambda I\left(U_{i}; \widehat{Y}_{3-i}, Y_{i} | U_{0}\right) \\
R_{0} + \widetilde{R}_{i} \leq \lambda I\left(U_{0}, U_{i}; \widehat{Y}_{3-i}, Y_{i}\right).
\end{cases}$$
(2.49)

From (2.45), (2.48), and (2.49), we obtain the rate region of the general broadcast channel with common message and conferencing as follows:

$$\mathbf{R}'_{BC} = \bigcup_{p(u_0)p(u_1|u_0)p(u_2|u_0)p(x|u_1,u_2)p(y_1,y_2|x)p(\hat{y}_1|y_1)p(\hat{y}_2|y_2)} \left\{ \begin{cases}
(R_0, R_1, R_2) : \\
0 \le R_0, 0 \le R_1 \le \tilde{R}_1, 0 \le R_2 \le \tilde{R}_2, \\
\tilde{R}_1 \le \lambda I \left(U_1; \hat{Y}_2, Y_1 | U_0 \right), \\
R_0 + \tilde{R}_1 \le \lambda I \left(U_0, U_1; \hat{Y}_2, Y_1 \right), \\
\tilde{R}_2 \le \lambda I \left(U_2; \hat{Y}_1, Y_2 | U_0 \right), \\
R_0 + \tilde{R}_2 \le \lambda I \left(U_0, U_2; \hat{Y}_1, Y_2 \right), \\
\left(\tilde{R}_1 - R_1 \right) + \left(\tilde{R}_2 - R_2 \right) \ge \lambda I \left(U_1; U_2 | U_0 \right), \\
\text{subject to: } (2.48).
\end{cases} \right\}.$$
(2.50)

Thus, the rate region $R_{\rm BC}$ is obtained from $R'_{\rm BC}$ using the Fourier-Motzkin elimination [50] to eliminate \tilde{R}_i , i = 1, 2.

2. Proof of Theorem B.4

Fix the distribution as given in the theorem.

Codebook generation: Generate 2^{nR} i.i.d. sequences $\boldsymbol{x}(w), w \in [1:2^{nR}]$, ac-

cording to $\prod_{i=1}^{n} p(x_i)$. Generate $2^{n\hat{R}_i}$, i = 1, 2, i.i.d. sequences $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_i(w_i)$, $w_i \in [1:2^{n\hat{R}_i}]$, according to the distribution $p(\hat{y}_i) = \int p(x)p(y_i|x)p(\hat{y}_i|y_i)dxdy_i$. Randomly and uniformly partition the set $[1:2^{n\hat{R}_i}]$ into 2^{nR_i} binnings $\boldsymbol{S}_i(s_i)$, $s_i \in [1:2^{nR_i}]$. Randomly and uniformly partition the set $[1:2^{nR_i}]$ into $2^{nC_{i,3-i}}$ binnings $\boldsymbol{M}_i(m_i)$. Generate $2^{n(R_1+R_2)}$ i.i.d. sequences $\boldsymbol{x}_r(s_1,s_2)$, according to $p(x_r)$.

Encoding and decoding: At the source, it transmits $\boldsymbol{x}(w)$. At the *i*-th relay, i = 1, 2, it finds a $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_i(w_i)$ such that $(\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_i(w_i), \boldsymbol{y}_i) \in A^n_{\epsilon}$, and this can be done reliably if $\hat{R}_i \geq \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_i; Y_i\right)$. Then, at the *i*-th relay, it finds the conferencing binning index m_i , and sends it to the other relay through the conferencing link. Upon receiving m_{3-i} , the *i*-th relay decodes $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_{3-i}(w_{3-i})$ such that $\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_{3-i}(\hat{k}_{3-i}), \boldsymbol{y}_i\right) \in A^n_{\epsilon}$ with $\hat{k}_{3-i} \in$ $\boldsymbol{M}_{3-i}(m_{3-i})$. This can be done reliably if $R'_{3-i} \leq \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{3-i}; Y_i\right) + C_{3-i,i}$. Thus, we satisfy the constraints in (2.26). Then, the *i*-th relay knows the binning index pair (s_1, s_2) , and transmits $\boldsymbol{x}_r(s_1, s_2)$.

At the destination, it first decodes (s_1, s_2) , and we obtain $R_1 + R_2 \leq \overline{\lambda} I(X_r; Y)$. Then, the destination decodes (\hat{y}_1, \hat{y}_2) and the original message w. By a similar argument as in Section VC of [10], we obtain (2.27).

3. Proof of Theorem B.5

First fix the distribution as shown in the theorem.

Codebook Generation: Generate $\boldsymbol{x}(w)$ the same as those in Appendix 2. Generate $2^{nR_{i,3-i}}$ i.i.d. sequences $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_{i,3-i}(k_i)$, according to $\prod_{j=1}^{\lambda n} p(\hat{y}_{i,3-i}^j)$ with $p(\hat{y}_{i,3-i}) = \int p(y_i) p(\hat{y}_{i,3-i}|y_i) dy_i$. Randomly and uniformly partition the set $[1:2^{nR_{i,3-i}}]$ into $2^{nC_{i,3-i}}$ bins $\boldsymbol{S}_{i,3-i}(s_{i,3-i})$; generate $2^{nR_{i0}}$ i.i.d. sequences $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_i(w_i)$, according to the distribution $\prod_{j=1}^{\lambda n} p(\hat{y}_{i,j})$ with $p(\hat{y}_i) = \int p(\hat{y}_i|y_i, \hat{y}_{3-i,i}) p(y_i, \hat{y}_{3-i,i}) dy_i d\hat{y}_{3-i,i}$. Randomly and uniformly partition the set $[1:2^{nR_{i0}}]$ into 2^{nR_i} bins $\widetilde{\boldsymbol{S}}_i(\widetilde{s}_i)$; and generate 2^{nR_i} i.i.d. sequences $\boldsymbol{x}_i(\widetilde{s}_i)$, according to $p_{X_i}(x_i)$.

Encoding and Decoding: At the source, it transmits $\boldsymbol{x}(w)$; in the *i*-th relay, the conferencing scheme is the same as the DF scheme, which is omitted here; and we obtain (2.7). Based on \boldsymbol{y}_i and $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_{3-i,i}$, the *i*-th relay find a $\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_i(k_i)$ such that $(\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_i(k_i), \hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_{3-i,i}(w_{3-i,i}), \boldsymbol{y}_i) \in A^n_{\epsilon}$, and this can be done reliably if $R_{i0} \geq I\left(\hat{Y}_i; \hat{Y}_{3-i,i}, Y_i\right)$. Then, the *i*-th relay obtains the binning index \tilde{s}_i and sends $\boldsymbol{x}_i(\tilde{s}_i)$ to the destination.

In the destination, upon receiving \boldsymbol{y} , it first decodes the pair $(\tilde{s}_1, \tilde{s}_2)$, and the rate region (R_1, R_2) is given by the MAC rate region as in [24, 28]. Then, the destination tries to decode $(\hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_1, \hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_2)$. Following a similar argument as in [10, 49], we have

$$\begin{cases}
R_{1} \geq \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{1}; Y_{1}, \hat{Y}_{21} | \hat{Y}_{2}\right) \\
R_{2} \geq \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{2}; Y_{2}, \hat{Y}_{12} | \hat{Y}_{1}\right) \\
R_{1} + R_{2} \geq \lambda I\left(\hat{Y}_{1}, \hat{Y}_{2}; Y_{1}, Y_{2}, \hat{Y}_{12}, \hat{Y}_{21}\right)
\end{cases}$$
(2.51)

Finally, by finding a unique \hat{w} such that $(\boldsymbol{x}(\hat{w}), \hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_1, \hat{\boldsymbol{y}}_2) \in A^n_{\epsilon}$, we obtain $R_{\text{CF}} = \lambda I\left(X; \hat{Y}_1, \hat{Y}_2\right)$. With the Fourier-Motzkin elimination [50], and the facts that

$$I\left(\hat{Y}_{1}, \hat{Y}_{2}; Y_{1}, Y_{2}, \hat{Y}_{12}, \hat{Y}_{21}\right) \ge I\left(\hat{Y}_{1}; Y_{1}, \hat{Y}_{21} | \hat{Y}_{2}\right) + I\left(\hat{Y}_{2}; Y_{2}, \hat{Y}_{12} | \hat{Y}_{1}\right),$$
$$I\left(X_{1}, X_{2}; Y\right) \le I\left(X_{1}; Y | X_{2}\right) + I\left(X_{2}; Y | X_{1}\right),$$

the theorem is proved.



(b) Bad BC vs. good MAC, $\gamma_i = 10 \text{ dB}, \widetilde{\gamma}_i = 30 \text{ dB}$

Fig. 6.: Achievable rates over different conferencing link rates with $C_{21} = 0$.

CHAPTER III

ALTERNATIVE RELAYING DIAMOND CHANNEL

In the previous chapter, we considered the diamond relay channel with the simultaneous relaying scheme. In this chapter, we consider another type of relaying scheme, i.e., alternative relaying, for which the two half-duplex relays are assumed to transmit and receive in different time slot and exchange their working modes alternatively over time. In practice, the alternative relaying strategy is more appealing than the simultaneous relaying strategy, due to the fact that it can achieve full multiplexing gain in the high SNR regime.

In this chapter, we consider the following two different conferencing strategies:

- 1. Conferencing strategy I: Relay conferencing for each source message is executed within the subsequent time slot after the relay receives the source signal by partially utilizing the conferencing links, and thus the decoding delay at the destination for each source message will be at most two time slots. By letting both or one of the two relays adopt the above conferencing strategy, we obtain the following two schemes:
 - (a) Two-side conferencing: Use both of the two conferencing links, and both of the two relays are required to conference with each other;
 - (b) One-side conferencing: Use one of the conferencing links, and one of the relays sends message to the its counterpart, while the other one keeps silent.
- 2. Conferencing strategy II: Relay conferencing for each source message is operated in the subsequent two time slots by fully utilizing the conferencing links, and thus the decoding delay for each source message at the destination will be more

than two time slots. Similar to the previous case, we can also introduce both of the two-side and one-side conferencing schemes with this conferencing strategy.

Intuitively, strategy II may lead to larger achievable rates compared to strategy I, since it allows higher conferencing rates between the two relays. Moreover, it is worth noting that one-side conferencing is just a special case of two-side conferencing, by letting one of the relays keep silent, and thus two-side conferencing in general will outperform oneside conferencing for both of the two conferencing strategies. Somewhat surprisingly, it will be shown that under certain conditions one-side conferencing is enough to achieve the same rate as the two-side conferencing, while it is much simpler to be implemented.

The remainder of the chapter is organized as follows. Section A introduces all assumptions and channel models. The rate upper bound and achievable rates obtained by using the DF and AF relaying schemes are discussed for conferencing strategy I in Section B, and the DF scheme under conferencing strategy II is investigated in Section C. Section D presents the numerical results. Finally, the paper is summarized in Section E.

A. System Model

We consider the Gaussian diamond relay channel, as shown in Fig. 7, which consists of one source node, one destination node, and two relays. It is assumed that there are no direct wireless links between either the source-destination pair or the two relays. However, between the two relays, there are two wired conferencing links, which are both rate-limited Gaussian. Due to the wired conferencing link assumptions, these two conferencing links can be considered orthogonal to each other and also orthogonal to the source-to-relay and relay-to-destination links.



Fig. 7.: The diamond relay channel with out-of-band conferencing links.

In this chapter, it is assumed that the transmissions of the source and relays are slotted, and the half-duplex alternative relaying scheme is adopted, as shown in Fig. 8. Specifically, in the odd-numbered time slots, the source sends a message to relay 1, and relay 2 forwards a signal to the destination; in the even-numbered time slots, the roles of the two relays are exchanged. At the relays, the DF and AF relaying schemes are adopted for the transmissions to the destination. For the DF relaying scheme, we may allocate different time fractions to the odd and even time slots: Denote the time fraction allocated to the odd time slots as λ_1 , and that to the even time slots as λ_2 , with $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1$, $\lambda_1 \ge 0$, and $\lambda_2 \ge 0$. Note that among odd time slots or among over time slots, they are of equal length. For the AF relaying scheme, we set $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \frac{1}{2}$.

The conferencing strategies shown in Fig. 9 are described as follows. For conferencing strategy I, the source transmits independent messages $\{w_k\}$ slot by slot; in the k-th time slot, when k is odd, relay 1 listens to the source, and relay 2 sends two signals, one to the destination about the source messages w_{k-2} and w_{k-1} , and the other to relay 1 about message w_{k-1} via the wired conferencing links; when k is even, the roles of these two relays are exchanged. For conferencing strategy II, in the k-th time slot, when k is odd, relay 1 listens and relay 2 sends two signals, one to the destination about messages w_{k-4} and w_{k-1} within the k-th time slot, and the other to



Fig. 8.: Two transmitting-receiving states for the alternative relaying diamond channel with conferencing links.

relay 1 about message w_{k-1} spreading over both of the k-th and the (k + 1)-th time slots; when k is even, the roles of the two relays are exchanged. From Fig. 9, it is easy to see that strategy II fully utilizes the conferencing links, i.e., there are no idle time slots over the conferencing links, while strategy I only partially utilizes them. In Fig. 9, these two conferencing strategies for the most general two-side conferencing case are described. As stated in the introduction part, we are also interested in a special case of the two-side conferencing scheme, i.e., one-side conferencing. Taking conferencing strategy I as an example, we could just let relay 1 talk to relay 2 as in the two-side conferencing case, while relay 2 keeps silent; or only let relay 2 talk to relay 1 while relay 1 keeps silent. Similarly, the one-side conferencing scheme could as be defined for strategy II.

Note that for strategy II, the only way to deploy the conferencing strategy for the AF relaying scheme is to transmit the received signal at each relay to its counterpart repeatedly over the two subsequent conferencing time slots, since we can only forward the same received signal to the other relay via the conferencing links. As such, the two conferencing strategies for the AF relaying scheme are almost the same, only with



(b) Conferencing strategy II.

Fig. 9.: Relay conferencing strategies for the diamond relay channel with conferencing links, with "S", "R1", "R2", and "D" denoting the source, relay 1, relay 2, and destination, respectively.

different conferencing link SNRs (i.e., for conferencing strategy I, it suffers a $\frac{1}{2}$ penalty, with no penalty for strategy II.), and the results are quite similar (interestingly, we find that for the DF relaying scheme, it is not). Thus, in this chapter, we only consider the AF relaying scheme under conferencing strategy I, and omit the analysis for the other strategy.

Due to relay conferencing, there may be extra decoding delay. To be concise, we describe the coding schemes by using i and (3 - i), i = 1, 2, as the relay indices in the sequel. Take the k-th source message (to the *i*-th relay) for example: With conferencing strategy I, the destination needs to wait another λ_i -block¹ to obtain the signal from the (3-i)-th relay, which means that the decoding delay at the destination will be λ_i -block more compared with the case without relay conferencing². However, when transmitting N messages in total, with N going to infinity, the effect of decoding delay to the average achievable rate can be neglected. Accordingly, in this chapter, we only consider the achievable rates over two successive time slots, since all coding schemes are operated periodically over time.

For the Gaussian channel case, the channel input-output relationships are given as follows. The received signal y_i at the *i*-th relay from the source, i = 1, 2, is given as

$$y_i = \sqrt{P_S} h_i x_i + n_i, \ i = 1, 2, \tag{3.1}$$

where x_i is the transmit signal from the source with unit average power, P_S is the source transmit power, h_i is the complex channel coefficient of the link from the source to the *i*-th relay, and n_i is the i.i.d. CSCG noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, 1)$.

¹Here, one "block" consists of two successive time slots.

²It is worth noting that even without relay conferencing, there is still an λ_i -block decoding delay due to the relaying operation.

It is worth noting that in general we could allocate different power levels to the source messages at the odd and even time slots to maximize the overall system performance, which makes the achievable rate maximization problem hard to be tracked. In this chapter, we focus more on the relay operations, i.e., conferencing and relaying; and thus we assume uniform power allocation at all the source messages for simplicity.

For the Gaussian conferencing links, denote the SNR of the link from relay 1 to relay 2 as $\gamma_{1,2}$, while $\gamma_{2,1}$ is defined similarly. As such, the conferencing link rates $C_{i,3-i} = C(\gamma_{i,3-i}), i = 1, 2$, are achievable when rate-achieving codes are applied. Then, if the DF relaying scheme is adopted, relay *i* can send information to relay 3 - i with the maximum rate $C_{i,3-i}$ reliably; for the AF relaying scheme, we assume that the AF scheme is also adopted as the conferencing scheme over the SNR-limited (equivalent to the notion of rate-limited in the DF case) conferencing links, which will be discussed with more details later in Section B.

After relay conferecing, each relay generates a signal t_i with unit average power, based upon the received signals from the source and the other relay. Then, the received signal z_i at the destination from the *i*-th relay is given as

$$z_i = \sqrt{P_R} g_i t_i + \widetilde{n}_i, \ i = 1, 2, \tag{3.2}$$

where P_R is the relay transmit power, g_i is the complex channel coefficient of the link from the *i*-th relay to the destination, and \tilde{n}_i is the i.i.d. CSCG noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, 1)$. For notation convenience, we denote the link SNRs as

$$\gamma_i = |h_i|^2 P_S, \ \widetilde{\gamma}_i = |g_i|^2 P_R, \ i = 1, 2.$$
 (3.3)

B. Conferencing Strategy I

In this section, we examine the rate upper bound along with the DF and AF achievable rates for the considered channel with conferencing strategy I. Moreover, we prove some upper-bound-achieving results under special channel conditions.

1. Rate Upper Bound

In this subsection, we derive the rate upper bound for the considered channel. Note that the following rate upper bound is only applicable for the diamond relay channel with the alternative relaying strategy, not for the diamond relay channel with other strategies. To simplify notations, we call this bound as the rate upper bound in this chapter.

Theorem B.1 Under conferencing strategy I, the rate upper bound for the alternative relaying diamond channel with conferencing links is given as

$$C_{upper} = \max_{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1} \min \left\{ \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2), \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2), \\ \lambda_1 C_{21} + \lambda_2 \left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + C_{12} \right), \lambda_1 \left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) + C_{21} \right) + \lambda_2 C_{12} \right\}.$$
(3.4)

Proof: This bound is derived by the cut-set bound [2] considering the alternative relaying scheme with conferencing links as given in Section A. Similar analysis can be found in [10] and thus skipped. \blacksquare

2. DF Achievable Rate

In this subsection, we first derive the DF rate for the general two-side conferencing, i.e., assuming that both of the two relays send information to each other via the conferencing links. After obtaining the most general expression of the DF rate in terms of a linear programming (LP) problem, we further exploit the properties of the optimal solution to simplify the coding scheme without sacrificing the DF rate, and show that one-side conferencing can also achieve the same DF rate as the two-side scheme. Then, we derive the DF rate in closed-form by solving the LP problem under different channel conditions.

a. Rate Formulation

First, we describe the main idea of the DF relaying scheme as follows: During the k-th time slot, the source transmits two messages w_k^i and w_k^{3-i} to the *i*-th relay by using superposition coding, with w_k^i targeted at the destination via the relay-todestination link and w_k^{3-i} targeted at the (3 - i)-th relay via the conferencing link; at the (3 - i)-th relay, it transmits the messages w_{k-1}^{3-i} and w_{k-2}^{3-i} to the destination by using superposition coding, and w_{k-1}^i to the *i*-th relay, respectively; at the end of the k-th time slot, the *i*-th relay decodes messages w_k^i , w_k^{3-i} , and w_{k-1}^i , and the destination decodes w_{k-1}^{3-i} and w_{k-2}^{3-i} . Here, since all links in this channel are scheduled orthogonally over time or frequency, it is unnecessary to introduce any cooperation between the two relays and we only need to send independent messages cross the two time slots. Then, the DF rate is given in the following theorem.

Theorem B.2 Under conferencing strategy I, the DF achievable rate for the alternative relaying diamond channel with conferencing links is given as

$$P1: R_{DF} = \max R_{11} + R_{12} + R_{21} + R_{22}$$
(3.5)
s. t. $R_{3-i,i} \leq \lambda_i C_{3-i,i}, i = 1, 2,$
 $R_{i,i} + R_{i,3-i} \leq \lambda_i C(\gamma_i), i = 1, 2,$
 $R_{3-i,3-i} + R_{i,3-i} \leq \lambda_i C(\widetilde{\gamma}_{3-i}), i = 1, 2,$
 $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1, R_{i,j} \geq 0, i, j = 1, 2,$

where the design variables are $\{R_{11}, R_{12}, R_{21}, R_{22}, \lambda_1, \lambda_2\}$, R_{11} and R_{12} are the rates of messages w_k^1 and w_k^2 decoded by relay 1, respectively, when k is odd, and R_{21} and R_{22} are defined similarly when k is odd.

Proof: See Appendix 1. ■

Note that if we do not send w_k^2 at odd k and w_k^1 at even k, i.e., $R_{12} = R_{21} = 0$, it is observed that the DF rate with conferencing given in (3.5) is the same as that for the case without relay conferencing [10], which implies that our coding scheme is a natural extension of that in [10]. Next, we show that one-side conferencing is enough to achieve the same maximum DF rate.

Proposition B.1 There exists one optimal point for Problem (P1) such that at least one of R_{12}^* and R_{21}^* is zero.

Proof: We prove this proposition by construction. Without loss of generality, assume that $R_{12}^* \ge R_{21}^* > 0$, and $R_{i,j}^*$, $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$ is the optimal point of Problem (P1). Then, construct a new point as $\widehat{R}_{12} = R_{12}^* - R_{21}^*$, $\widehat{R}_{21} = 0$, and $\widehat{R}_{i,i} = R_{i,i}^* + R_{21}^*$, i = 1, 2. It is easy to check that $\widehat{R}_{i,j}$'s also satisfy the constraints of Problem (P1) and achieve the same optimal value as $R_{i,j}^*$'s, $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$. Thus, the proposition is proved. ■

In practical communication system design, one-side conferencing simplifies the system requirements and thus is much easier to be implemented. In the next subsection, we will obtain the DF rate in closed-form, and show how to choose one of the two conferencing link for one-side conferencing under different channel conditions.

b. Closed-Form Expressions for the DF Rate

With Proposition B.1, it is easy to check that the optimal value of Problem (P1) is equal to the maximum between those of the following two problems, which are recast from Problem (P1) by letting $R_{21} = 0$ and $R_{12} = 0$, respectively.

P1.1: max
$$R_{11} + R_{12} + R_{22}$$
 (3.6)

s. t.
$$R_{12} \le \lambda_2 C_{12},$$
 (3.7)

$$R_{11} + R_{12} \le \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1), \ R_{11} \le \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1), \tag{3.8}$$

$$R_{22} + R_{12} \le \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2), \ R_{22} \le \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2), \tag{3.9}$$

$$R_{11} \ge 0, R_{12} \ge 0, R_{22} \ge 0, \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1, \lambda_i \ge 0, i = 1, 2,$$
(3.10)

and

P1.2: max
$$R_{11} + R_{21} + R_{22}$$
 (3.11)

s. t.
$$R_{21} \le \lambda_1 C_{21},$$
 (3.12)

$$R_{11} \le \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1), \ R_{11} + R_{21} \le \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1), \tag{3.13}$$

$$R_{22} \le \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2), \ R_{22} + R_{21} \le \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2), \tag{3.14}$$

$$R_{11} \ge 0, R_{12} \ge 0, R_{22} \ge 0, \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1, \lambda_i \ge 0, i = 1, 2.$$
(3.15)

Note that if Problems (P1) and (P1.1) achieve the same optimal value, the optimal point $(R_{11}^*, R_{12}^*, R_{22}^*, \lambda_1^*, \lambda_2^*)$ of Problem (P1.1) is also feasible to Problem (P1) with $R_{21}^* = 0$, and such an optimal point is also the solution for Problem (P1). Similar argument holds for the case that Problems (P1) and (P1.2) achieve the same optimal value. Therefore, solving Problems (P1.1) and (P1.2) is equivalent to solving Problem (P1). Before deriving the optimal solution for these two subproblems, we first introduce the following lemma.

Lemma B.1 There exists one optimal solution of Problem (P1.1), which makes either both of the two constraints in (3.8) or those in (3.9) satisfied with equality, i.e., $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) - R_{12}^* = \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)$ or $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) - R_{12}^* = \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)$. Similar result is true for

Problem (P1.2).

Proof: We only prove the result for Problem (P1.1). If the optimal point of Problem (P1.1) satisfies that $R_{12}^* < \lambda_2^* C_{12}$, we can prove this lemma by contradiction using the same argument as that for Theorem 4.1 in [10]. Hence, we only need to consider the case with $R_{12}^* = \lambda_2^* C_{12}$. The main idea is shown as follows: By changing λ_1^* to $\lambda_1^* + \epsilon$, where ϵ is a small real value, i.e., $|\epsilon| \ll 1$, it can be shown that all other cases cannot be optimal, except for the case shown in this lemma. There are four possible other cases.

- 1. $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) R_{12}^* < \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)$ and $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) R_{12}^* < \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$: Choose $\epsilon > 0$, it is observed that the new solution satisfies $\widetilde{R}_{12} - R_{12}^* = -\epsilon C_{12}$, $\widetilde{R}_{11} - R_{11}^* = \epsilon C_{12} + \epsilon \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)$, and $\widetilde{R}_{22} - R_{22}^* = \epsilon C_{12} + \epsilon \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$. It is easy to check that the sum rate is improved, and thus this case cannot happen.
- 2. $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) R_{12}^* < \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)$ and $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) R_{12}^* > \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$: Change λ_1^* to $\lambda_1^* + \epsilon$, and it follows that the new solution satisfies $\widetilde{R}_{12} - R_{12}^* = -\epsilon C_{12}$, $\widetilde{R}_{11} - R_{11}^* = \epsilon C_{12} + \epsilon \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)$, and $\widetilde{R}_{22} - R_{22}^* = -\epsilon \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)$. If $\gamma_1 \ge \gamma_2$, choose ϵ as a positive value; otherwise, choose ϵ as a negative value. It is easy to check that the sum rate is improved, and thus this case cannot happen.
- 3. $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) R_{12}^* > \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)$ and $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) R_{12}^* < \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$: This case is similar to case 2).
- 4. $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) R_{12}^* > \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)$ and $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) R_{12}^* > \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$: This case is similar to case 1).

In conclusion, the proposition is proved. \blacksquare

Next, we show how to obtain the optimal point $(R_{11}^*, R_{12}^*, R_{22}^*, \lambda_1^*, \lambda_2^*)$ of Problem (P1.1), where the solution of Problem (P1.2) can be obtained similarly.

(i) If $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) - R_{12}^* = \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)$, it follows that $\lambda_1^* = \frac{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + R_{12}^*}{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)}$. Then, by (3.7) and noticing that $R_{12}^* \leq \lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)$ and $R_{12}^* \leq \lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$ (due to constraints (3.8) and (3.9)), R_{12}^* should satisfy the following conditions

$$R_{12}^* \leq \frac{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)C_{12}}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_1) + C_{12}}$$

$$R_{12}^* \leq \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) \qquad (3.16)$$

$$R_{12}^* \leq \frac{\mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_2)}{\mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) - \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_2)}$$

Since the right-hand side of the second constraint is an upper bound of the right-hand side of the first one, it follows that the second one is redundant. Thus, we obtain

$$0 \le R_{12}^* \le \min\left\{\frac{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)C_{12}}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + C_{12}}, \frac{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)}{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) - \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)}\right\} \doteq k_1, \quad (3.17)$$

 $R_{11}^* = \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_1)$, and $R_{22}^* = \min \{\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_2) - R_{12}^*, \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)\}$. Thus, the optimal value of Problem (P1.1) is given as $R_1 = \max_{(3.17)} (R_{11}^* + R_{22}^* + R_{12}^*) = \max_{(3.17)} r_1(R_{12}^*)$, where

$$r_{1}(R_{12}^{*}) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_{1}) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{1})} \min \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{1})\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{1}) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{1})\mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2}) + (\mathcal{C}(\gamma_{1}) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2})) R_{12}^{*} \\ \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{1})\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{1}) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{1})\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2}) + (\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2}) - \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{1})) R_{12}^{*} \end{array} \right\}.$$

$$(3.18)$$

(ii) If $\lambda_1^* \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_2) - R_{12}^* = \lambda_2^* \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)$, it follows that $\lambda_1^* = \frac{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + R_{12}^*}{\mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_2) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)}$, and it is easy to check that

$$0 \le R_{12}^* \le \min\left\{\frac{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)C_{12}}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) + C_{12}}, \frac{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)}, \frac{(\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2))^2}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)}\right\} \doteq k_2.$$
(3.19)

Thus, the optimal value of Problem (P1.1) is given as $R_2 = \max_{(3.17)} r_2(R_{12}^*)$,

where

$$r_{2}(R_{12}^{*}) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2}) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2})} \min \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2})\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2}) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{1})\mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2}) + (\mathcal{C}(\gamma_{1}) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2})) R_{12}^{*} \\ \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2})\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2}) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{1})\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2}) + (\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2}) - \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{1})) R_{12}^{*} \end{array} \right\}.$$

$$(3.20)$$

It is worth noting that the two terms in the min operation of (3.18) and (3.20) are all linear functions of R_{12}^* , and thus the optimal value of Problem (P1.1) is given by the max/min over two linear functions. Then, the optimal value of Problem (P1.1) can be obtained in the following cases, which are also shown in Fig. 10.

1. $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_2 > \tilde{\gamma}_1$: As provable and shown in Fig. 10(a), both of the two functions in (3.18) or (3.20) are strictly increasing over R_{12}^* , and thus the maximum values of (3.18) and (3.20) are achieved at $R_{12}^* = k_1$ or $R_{12}^* = k_2$, respectively. Then, the optimal value of Problem (P1.1) is given as

$$\max\{r_1(k_1), r_2(k_2)\}, \qquad (3.21)$$

which implies that relay conferencing can strictly increase the DF rate in this case.

γ₁ ≤ γ₂ and γ̃₂ ≤ γ̃₁: As provable and shown in Fig. 10(b), both of the two functions in (3.18) or (3.20) are non-increasing over R^{*}₁₂, and thus the maximum values of (3.18) and (3.20) are achieved at R^{*}₁₂ = 0. Thus, the optimal value of Problem (P1.1) is given as

$$\max\left\{r_1(0), r_2(0)\right\},\tag{3.22}$$

which implies that using the conferencing link from relay 1 to relay 2 cannot

improve the DF rate for this case.

- 3. $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_2 \leq \tilde{\gamma}_1$: For either (3.18) or (3.20), one function in the min operation is increasing over R_{12}^* , while the other one is non-increasing. As such, we need to further compare the constant terms in them, and there are two subcases:
 - (a) $C(\gamma_1)C(\gamma_2) < C(\tilde{\gamma}_1)C(\tilde{\gamma}_2)$: As provable and shown in Fig. 10(c), for both (3.18) and (3.20), the two functions in the min operation may have one intersection point for $R_{12}^* \ge 0$, which is given by $k_3 \doteq \frac{C(\gamma_1)C(\gamma_2) - C(\tilde{\gamma}_1)C(\tilde{\gamma}_2)}{C(\tilde{\gamma}_1) - C(\tilde{\gamma}_2) - C(\gamma_1) + C(\gamma_2)}$. However, note that k_3 may not be within the region defined by (3.17) and (3.19). As such, for (3.18) and (3.20), their maximum values are achieved at $k_{01} = \min(k_1, k_3)$ or $k_{02} = \min(k_2, k_3)$, respectively. Thus, the optimal value of Problem (P1.1) is given as

$$\max\left\{r_1(k_{01}), r_2(k_{02})\right\},\tag{3.23}$$

which means that relay conferencing can strictly increase the DF rate in this case.

(b) $C(\gamma_1)C(\gamma_2) \ge C(\tilde{\gamma}_1)C(\tilde{\gamma}_2)$: As provable and shown in Fig. 10(d), for both (3.18) and (3.20), the two functions in the min operation have no intersection points in the region defined by (3.17) and (3.19), respectively. Thus, the optimal value of Problem (P1.1) is given the same as (3.22), and it is concluded that by using the conferencing link from relay 1 to relay 2, the DF rate cannot be improved compared to the case without relay conferencing.

4. $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_2 > \tilde{\gamma}_1$: This case is similar to case 3), and the DF rate is given as

- (a) $C(\gamma_1)C(\gamma_2) > C(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)C(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$: The optimal value of Problem (P1.1) is given by (3.23);
- (b) $C(\gamma_1)C(\gamma_2) \leq C(\tilde{\gamma}_1)C(\tilde{\gamma}_2)$: The optimal value of Problem (P1.1) is given by (3.22).



Fig. 10.: Four possible cases for the max/min solutions in (3.18) and (3.20), where k_1 and k_2 are given in (3.17) and (3.19), respectively.

Similar to Problem (P1.1), the optimal solution of Problem (P1.2) is summarized as follows.
1. $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_2 > \tilde{\gamma}_1$: The optimal value of Problem (P1.2) is given as

$$\max\left\{\widetilde{r}_1(0), \widetilde{r}_2(0)\right\},\tag{3.24}$$

where $\widetilde{r}_1(R_{21}^*)$ and $\widetilde{r}_2(R_{21}^*)$ are defined as

$$= \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)} \min \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) + (\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) - \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)) R_{21}^* \\ \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + (\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)) R_{21}^* \end{array} \right\},$$

$$(3.25)$$

with

$$0 \le R_{21}^* \le \min\left\{\frac{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)C_{21}}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + C_{21}}, \frac{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1^2)}{\mathcal{C}(2\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)}, \frac{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)}\right\} \doteq \widetilde{k}_1,$$

and

$$\widetilde{r}_{2}(R_{21}^{*}) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2}) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2})} \min \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2})\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2}) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{1})\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2}) + (\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{1}) - \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2}))R_{21}^{*} \\ \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2})\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_{2}) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{1})\mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2}) + (\mathcal{C}(\gamma_{2}) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_{1}))R_{21}^{*} \end{array} \right\},$$

$$(3.26)$$

with

$$0 \le R_{21}^* \le \min\left\{\frac{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)C_{12}}{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) + C_{12}}, \frac{\widetilde{\gamma}_1\widetilde{\gamma}_2}{\widetilde{\gamma}_2 + \gamma_2 - \widetilde{\gamma}_1}\right\} \doteq \widetilde{k}_2.$$

2. $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_2 \leq \tilde{\gamma}_1$: The optimal value of Problem (P1.2) is given as

$$\max\left\{\widetilde{r}_1(\widetilde{k}_1), \widetilde{r}_2(\widetilde{k}_2)\right\}.$$
(3.27)

- 3. $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_2 \leq \tilde{\gamma}_1$: There are two possible subcases:
 - (a) $C(\gamma_1)C(\gamma_2) < C(\tilde{\gamma}_1)C(\tilde{\gamma}_2)$: The optimal value of Problem (P1.2) is given as (3.24).
 - (b) $\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) \geq \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$: The optimal value of Problem (P1.2) is given as

$$\max\left\{\widetilde{r}_1(\widetilde{k}_{01}), \widetilde{r}_2(\widetilde{k}_{02})\right\},\tag{3.28}$$

where \widetilde{k}_{01} and \widetilde{k}_{02} are defined as follows: $\widetilde{k}_{01} = \min\left(\widetilde{k}_1, \widetilde{k}_3\right)$ and $\widetilde{k}_{02} = \min\left(\widetilde{k}_2, \widetilde{k}_3\right)$, with $\widetilde{k}_3 \doteq \frac{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) - \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_2)}{\mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_1) - \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_2) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)}$.

4. $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_2 > \tilde{\gamma}_1$: This is similar to case 3).

- (a) $C(\gamma_1)C(\gamma_2) > C(\tilde{\gamma}_1)C(\tilde{\gamma}_2)$: The optimal value of Problem (P1.2) is given by (3.24);
- (b) $C(\gamma_1)C(\gamma_2) \leq C(\tilde{\gamma}_1)C(\tilde{\gamma}_2)$: The optimal value of Problem (P1.2) is given by (3.27).

From the above analysis, it is observed that under the same channel conditions, at most one between R_{12}^* in Problem (P1.1) and R_{21}^* in Problem (P1.2) can be nonzero. Thus, the optimal value of Problem (P1) is achieved by one of the Problems (P1.1) and (P1.2) with non-zero $R_{i,3-i}^*$ (if there is), since these constant terms in (3.18) and (3.25) (same for (3.20) and (3.26)) are identical; for the case that both of $R_{i,3-i}^*$'s are zero, Problems (P1.1) and (P1.2) render the same optimal value, which is the same as that of Problem (P1). Therefore, we could obtain the DF rate in closedform under different channel conditions, which is summarized in Table III. Moreover, it is worth noting that under arbitrary channel conditions, at most one between R_{12}^* and R_{21}^* is positive, which is coherent with the result in Proposition B.1 and indicates which one of the conferencing links should be used; furthermore, for some cases, both

| Channel conditions | DF rate | Conferencing scheme |
|---|---------|---------------------------------------|
| $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2 \text{ and } \widetilde{\gamma}_2 > \widetilde{\gamma}_1$ | (3.21) | |
| $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_2 \leq \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \text{ and } \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) < \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$ | (3.23) | Relay $1 \to \text{Relay } 2^1$ |
| $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_2 > \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \text{ and } \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) > \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$ | (3.23) | |
| $\gamma_1 < \gamma_2 \text{ and } \widetilde{\gamma}_2 < \widetilde{\gamma}_1$ | (3.27) | |
| $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_2 \leq \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \text{ and } \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) > \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$ | (3.28) | Relay $2 \rightarrow \text{Relay } 1$ |
| $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_2 > \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \text{ and } \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) < \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$ | (3.28) | |
| $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 \text{ and } \widetilde{\gamma}_2 = \widetilde{\gamma}_1$ | (3.22) | |
| $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_2 \leq \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \text{ and } \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) = \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$ | (3.22) | No relay conferencing |
| $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_2 > \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \text{ and } \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) = \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$ | (3.22) | |

Table III.: The DF rate under the conferencing strategy I and the corresponding one-side conferencing scheme.

1. This means that only the conferencing link from relay 1 to relay 2 is used, and the other one is not.

 R_{12}^* and R_{21}^* are zero, which means under these channel conditions, relay conferencing is useless. In Table III, we also summarize which conferencing link should be used to deploy one-side relay conferencing and when relay conferencing cannot improve the DF rate.

Remark B.1 From the above analysis, we observe that for the symmetric channel case, i.e., $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_1 = \tilde{\gamma}_2$, relay conferencing cannot improve the DF rate with the alternative relaying scheme, which is not true for the simultaneous relaying scheme [23].

c. Asymptotic Performance

From [10], we know that for the diamond relay channel without relay conferencing, the DF scheme achieves the rate upper bound under arbitrary channel conditions. In the following, we show an asymptotic upper-bound-achieving result for the considered channel in this chapter.

Proposition B.2 With conferencing strategy I and arbitrary channel coefficients, the DF relaying scheme achieves the rate upper bound given in (3.4) asymptotically as the conferencing link rates go to infinity.

Proof: When $C_{i,3-i}$'s go to infinity, it is easy to see that the rate upper bound given in (3.4) is asymptotically equal to

$$C_{\text{upper}}^{\infty} = \max_{\lambda_i} \min \left\{ \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2), \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) \right\}.$$
(3.29)

On the other hand, we set $R_{12} = R_{21} = 0$ in (3.5), and we observe that $R_{\rm DF} \ge C_{\rm upper}^{\infty}$. Thus, the proposition is proved.

Remark B.2 For finite and positive $C_{i,3-i}$'s, it can be shown that the third and the fourth terms in (3.4) are generally larger than the DF rate define in (3.5), which implies why the DF relaying scheme cannot achieve this rate upper bound under general channel conditions. To see this point, we fix λ_i , i = 1, 2, and sum the following three constraints in (3.5) together: $R_{12} \leq \lambda_2 C_{12}$, $R_{22} + R_{21} \leq \lambda_2 C(\gamma_2)$, and $R_{11} + R_{21} \leq \lambda_2 C(\tilde{\gamma}_1)$, which leads to

$$R_{DF} \le R_{11} + R_{12} + 2R_{21} + R_{22} \tag{3.30}$$

$$= \lambda_2 \left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + C_{12} \right) \tag{3.31}$$

$$\leq \lambda_1 C_{21} + \lambda_2 \left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + C_{12} \right), \qquad (3.32)$$

where these two equalities in (3.30) and (3.32) are achieved only when $R_{21} = C_{21} = 0$. In general, since $C_{i,3-i} > 0$, we conclude that the rate upper bound given in (3.4) cannot be achieved by the DF scheme.

3. AF Achievable Rate

For the AF relaying scheme, each relay first linearly combines the received signals from the source and the other relay, and then transmits the combination to the destination under an individual relay power constraint.

We assume that the conferencing links are Gaussian. For simplicity, let the input of the conferencing link at the (3 - i)-th relay be $x_{3-i,i} = y_{3-i}$ and the link gain of each conferencing link equal to 1. Thus, the conferencing link output at the *i*-th relay is given as

$$y_{3-i,i} = x_{3-i,i} + n_{3-i,i}, (3.33)$$

where $n_{3-i,i}$ is the i.i.d. CSCG noise at the *i*-th relay with a distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, \sigma_{3-i,i}^2)$. With the conferencing link rate constraint, $\sigma_{3-i,i}^2$ is given as

$$\sigma_{3-i,i}^2 = \frac{\gamma_{3-i} + 1}{2^{C_{3-i,i}/2} - 1}, i = 1, 2.$$
(3.34)

After the relay conferencing, each relay combines the two received signals from the source and the other relay as $t_i = a_{ii}y_i + a_{3-i,i}y_{3-i,i}$, where a_{ii} and $a_{3-i,i}$ are the complex combining parameters, satisfying the following average transmit power constraint

$$\mathbb{E}\left(|t_i|^2\right) = |a_{ii}|^2 \left(\gamma_i + 1\right) + |a_{3-i,i}|^2 \left(\gamma_{3-i} + 1 + \sigma_{3-i,i}^2\right) \le 1, \ i = 1, 2.$$
(3.35)

At the destination, we apply a sequential decoding process: Assume that at the k-th time slot, the previous k - 1 source messages have already been successfully decoded; decode the k-th source message based on the received signals at the k-th and the (k + 1)-th time slots, by treating the (k + 1)-th message at the (k + 1)-th time slot as noise. As such, the AF rate for each source message is given as

$$R_{i} = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{C} \left(\frac{|a_{ii}|^{2} \gamma_{i} \widetilde{\gamma}_{i}}{1 + |a_{ii}|^{2} \widetilde{\gamma}_{i}} + \frac{|a_{i,3-i}|^{2} \gamma_{i} \widetilde{\gamma}_{3-i}}{|a_{i,3-i}|^{2} \widetilde{\gamma}_{3-i} \left(1 + \sigma_{i,3-i}^{2}\right) + |a_{3-i,3-i}|^{2} \widetilde{\gamma}_{3-i} (\gamma_{3-i} + 1) + 1} \right),$$
(3.36)

where R_1 and R_2 denote the rates for the source messages in odd and even time slots, respectively. Thus, the AF rate is given as

$$R_{\rm AF} = \max_{(3.35)} R_1 + R_2. \tag{3.37}$$

Then, we have the following result for the convexity of Problem (3.37).

Proposition B.3 The AF rate maximization problem in (3.37) is concave over the combining parameters $|a_{i,j}|^2$, $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$.

Proof: See Appendix 2. \blacksquare

Even though the AF rate maximization problem in (3.37) can be solved by numerical algorithms, e.g., the interior point method [51], we know little about whether two-side conferencing is necessary with general channel coefficients. To obtain some insights for the proposed conferencing scheme, we further investigate the performance of the AF scheme for the cases when the second-hop link SNR $\tilde{\gamma}_i$ goes to infinity and zero, respectively.

a. High SNR Regime

For the case with $\tilde{\gamma}_i \to \infty$, (3.36) can be approximated as

$$R_{i} \approx \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{C} \left(\gamma_{i} + \frac{|a_{i,3-i}|^{2} \gamma_{i}}{|a_{i,3-i}|^{2} \left(1 + \sigma_{i,3-i}^{2}\right) + |a_{3-i,3-i}|^{2} \gamma_{3-i}} \right).$$
(3.38)

Remark B.3 In general, it is still difficult to derive the closed-form solution for Problem (3.37) with (3.38). However, it is worth noting that the term γ_i in $\mathcal{C}(\cdot)$ of (3.38) equals the received SNR for the case without relay conferencing when $\tilde{\gamma}_i \to \infty$; moreover, the second term in $\mathcal{C}(\cdot)$ of (3.38) is the gain from relay conferencing. For some special cases, i.e., where $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2$ and we choose $C_{i,3-i}$ such that $1 + \sigma_{i,3-i}^2 = \gamma_i$, it can be checked that the maximum AF rate is achieved at $|a_{i,j}|^2 = \frac{1}{2\gamma_1}$, $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$ (note that R_i is concave over $|a_{i,j}|^2$'s). Thus, for both R_1 and R_2 , the conferencing gains are non-zero, which implies that two-side conferencing is necessary.

b. Low SNR Regime

For the case with $\tilde{\gamma}_i \to 0$, (3.36) can be approximated as

$$R_i \approx \frac{1}{2} \left(|a_{ii}|^2 \gamma_i \widetilde{\gamma}_i + |a_{i,3-i}|^2 \gamma_i \widetilde{\gamma}_{3-i} \right).$$
(3.39)

Then, the AF rate maximization problem can be recast as

(P2)
$$\max_{(3.35)} \frac{1}{2} \left(|a_{11}|^2 \gamma_1 \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + |a_{12}|^2 \gamma_1 \widetilde{\gamma}_2 + |a_{22}|^2 \gamma_2 \widetilde{\gamma}_2 + |a_{2,1}|^2 \gamma_2 \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \right),$$
(3.40)

which is a LP problem. It can be shown that Problem (P2) can be decomposed into two subproblems, and its optimal point can be constructed from those of the following two problems.

(P2.1) max
$$\frac{1}{2} \left(|a_{11}|^2 \gamma_1 \widetilde{\gamma}_1 + |a_{2,1}|^2 \gamma_2 \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \right)$$
 (3.41)

s. t.
$$|a_{11}|^2 (\gamma_1 + 1) + |a_{21}|^2 (\gamma_2 + 1 + \sigma_{21}^2) \le 1,$$
 (3.42)

and

(P2.2) max
$$\frac{1}{2} \left(|a_{12}|^2 \gamma_1 \widetilde{\gamma}_2 + |a_{22}|^2 \gamma_2 \widetilde{\gamma}_2 \right)$$
 (3.43)

s. t.
$$|a_{22}|^2 (\gamma_2 + 1) + |a_{12}|^2 (\gamma_1 + 1 + \sigma_{12}^2) \le 1.$$
 (3.44)

It is easy to check that one of the following two points is optimal for Problem (P2.1): $(|a_{11}|^2, |a_{21}|^2) = \left(\frac{1}{\gamma_1+1}, 0\right)$ and $(|a_{11}|^2, |a_{21}|^2) = \left(0, \frac{1}{\gamma_2+1+\sigma_{21}^2}\right)$, and thus its optimal value is $\tilde{\gamma}_1 \cdot \max\left\{\frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1}, \frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1+\sigma_{21}^2}\right\}$. Similarly, for Problem (P2.2), its optimal value $\tilde{\gamma}_2 \cdot \max\left\{\frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1}, \frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1+\sigma_{12}^2}\right\}$ is achieved by either $(|a_{22}|^2, |a_{12}|^2) = \left(\frac{1}{\gamma_2+1}, 0\right)$ or $(|a_{22}|^2, |a_{12}|^2) = \left(0, \frac{1}{\gamma_1+1+\sigma_{12}^2}\right)$. By considering different combinations of the possible optimal points of Problems (P2.1) and (P2.2), we obtain the optimal solution $|a_{i,j}^*|^2$, $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$, of Problem (P2) as follows.

- 1. For the case with $\frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1} \ge \frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1+\sigma_{21}^2}$ and $\frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1} \ge \frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1+\sigma_{12}^2}$, we have $|a_{11}^*|^2 = \frac{1}{\gamma_1+1}$, $|a_{22}^*|^2 = \frac{1}{\gamma_2+1}$, and $|a_{12}^*|^2 = |a_{21}^*|^2 = 0$; for this case, relay conferencing cannot improve the AF rate.
- 2. For the case with $\frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1} < \frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1+\sigma_{21}^2}$ and $\frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1} < \frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1+\sigma_{12}^2}$, we claim that it cannot happen. To see this point, consider the case with $C_{12} \to \infty$, i.e., $\sigma_{12}^2 \to 0$, and we obtain that $\frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1} < \frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1+\sigma_{21}^2} < \frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1}$. Applying a similar argument for the other inequality, it follows that $\frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1} < \frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1}$, which contradicts with the previous inequality. As such, it is concluded that this case cannot happen.
- 3. For the case with $\frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1} < \frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1+\sigma_{21}^2}$ and $\frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1} \ge \frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1+\sigma_{12}^2}$, we have $|a_{11}^*|^2 = |a_{12}^*|^2 = 0$, $|a_{22}^*|^2 = \frac{1}{\gamma_2+1}$, and $|a_{21}^*|^2 = \frac{1}{\gamma_2+1+\sigma_{21}^2}$; for this case, the source does not need to send information to relay 1, and both of the two relays forward the signals received at relay 2 to the destination.

4. For the case with
$$\frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1} \ge \frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1+\sigma_{21}^2}$$
 and $\frac{\gamma_2}{\gamma_2+1} < \frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_1+1+\sigma_{12}^2}$, we have $|a_{11}^*|^2 = \frac{1}{\gamma_1+1}$,

 $|a_{12}^*|^2 = \frac{1}{\gamma_1 + 1 + \sigma_{12}^2}$, and $|a_{22}^*|^2 = |a_{21}^*|^2 = 0$; this case leads to results opposite to case 3).

Remark B.4 From the above analysis, we conclude that for the case with $\tilde{\gamma}_i \to 0$, after obtaining the two signals from the source and its counterpart relay, each relay should only forward the one with a higher SNR and discard the other one. Moreover, cases 3 and 4 suggest that in the low SNR regime, increasing power gain is more critical than increasing multiplex gain for the AF relaying scheme. This is opposite to the result in the high SNR regime, where the alternative relaying scheme is optimal in the sense of achieving the full multiplexing gain as stated in the introduction part.

C. Conferencing Strategy II

In this section, we consider conferencing strategy II, and derive the rate upper bound and the DF achievable rate. We will show that the DF rate will be greatly improved compared with that of strategy I. As we discussed before, we omit the analysis for the AF relaying scheme, since its result is only different by some constant factors from that of strategy I.

1. Rate Upper Bound

Note that for this case, the conferencing links can be fully utilized, and thus there will be no penalty terms λ_i 's over the conferencing link rates $C_{i,3-i}$'s. As such, we obtain the following result for the rate upper bound, which is similar to Theorem B.1.

Theorem C.1 Under conferencing strategy II, the rate upper bound for the alterna-

tive relaying diamond channel with conferencing links is given as

$$C_{upper} = \max_{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1} \min \left\{ \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2), \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2), \\ \lambda_2 \left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) \right) + C_{12} + C_{21}, \lambda_1 \left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) \right) + C_{12} + C_{21} \right\}.$$
(3.45)

2. DF Achievable Rate

The DF coding scheme under conferencing strategy II is similar to that for scheme I, and thus we only describe its differences from the previous scheme. For the k-th source message (sending to the *i*-th relay), it contains two sub-messages w_k^i and w_k^{3-i} via superposition coding. After relay *i* decodes them, it sends w_k^i to the destination in the (k + 1)-th time slot, and w_k^{3-i} to the other relay in the (k + 1)-th and the (k+2)-th time slots via the conferencing link. As such, the rate of message w_k^{3-i} is no longer subject to the conferencing link rates constraints, i.e., $R_{i,3-i} \leq C_{i,3-i}$, i = 1, 2 is not required. In the (k + 3)-th time slot, relay 3 - i sends w_k^{3-i} to the destination together with the message w_{k+3}^{3-i} . Accordingly, we have the following result for the DF rate.

Theorem C.2 Under conferencing strategy II, the DF achievable rate for the alternative relaying diamond channel with conferencing links is given as

$$P3: \max R_{DF} = R_{11} + R_{12} + R_{21} + R_{22}$$
(3.46)

s. t.
$$R_{3-i,i} \le C_{3-i,i}, i = 1, 2,$$
 (3.47)

$$R_{i,i} + R_{i,3-i} \le \lambda_i \mathcal{C}(\gamma_i), \ i = 1, 2, \tag{3.48}$$

$$R_{3-i,3-i} + R_{i,3-i} \le \lambda_i \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_{3-i}), \ i = 1, 2,$$
(3.49)

$$R_{i,j} \ge 0, i, j \in \{1, 2\}, \ \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1, \ i = 1, 2,$$
 (3.50)

where R_{ii} and $R_{i,3-i}$, i = 1, 2, are defined the same as those in Problem (P1).

| Channel conditions | Minimum $C_{12} + C_{21}$ | |
|---|--|--|
| $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_2 > \widetilde{\gamma}_1$ | $\min \left\{ \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1), \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) \right\}$ | |
| $\gamma_1 \le \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_2 \le \widetilde{\gamma}_1$ | $\min\left\{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2),\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) ight\}$ | |
| $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_1 \le \widetilde{\gamma}_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_2 \ge \gamma_1$ | $\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)$ | |
| $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_1 > \widetilde{\gamma}_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_2 \leq \gamma_1$ | $\mathcal{C}\left(\gamma_{1} ight)$ | |
| $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_1 > \widetilde{\gamma}_2, \gamma_1 > \widetilde{\gamma}_2$ | $\left \begin{array}{c} \frac{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma_2}) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma_1})}{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma_2}) - \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma_1}) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)} - g(\lambda_0)^1 \end{array} \right.$ | |
| $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_1 < \widetilde{\gamma}_2, \gamma_1 < \widetilde{\gamma}_2$ | $\frac{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma_2}) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma_1})}{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma_2}) - \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma_1}) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)} - g(\lambda_0)$ | |
| 1. $g(\cdot)$ is defined | in (3.59), and $\lambda_0 =$ | |
| $rac{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) - \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)}{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) - \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)}.$ | | |

Table IV.: Lower bound on $C_{12} + C_{21}$ for the DF scheme to achieve the rate upper bound under conferencing strategy II.

Since Problem (P3) has a similar structure as Problem (P1), it can be shown that one-side conferencing is also optimal for the DF scheme under conferencing strategy II, and the optimal solution of Problem (P3) can be obtained by a similar routine as that in Section B, which is omitted for simplicity. Here, we first have the following proposition to show a rate result for the DF scheme.

Proposition C.1 Under conferencing strategy II, the DF relaying scheme achieves the corresponding rate upper bound with finite conferencing link rates, i.e., with $C_{12} + C_{21}$ larger than or equal to the values summarized in Table IV.

Proof: See Appendix 3. \blacksquare

Remark C.1 Compared to the asymptotic upper-bound-achieving result for conferencing strategy I given in Proposition B.2, Proposition C.1 guarantees that conferencing strategy II is practically feasible, and only finite conferencing link rates are necessary to achieve the rate upper bound. **Proposition C.2** If the conferencing link rates are symmetric, i.e., $C_{12} = C_{21}$, the DF rate under conferencing strategy II is the same as the rate upper bound under conferencing strategy I with arbitrary channel coefficients.

Proof: First, for the cases that the either one of the first two terms in the min operation of (3.4) is the smallest among these four terms, it is easy to check that it can be achieved by setting $R_{i,3-i} = 0$, i = 1, 2, in Problem (P3). On the other hand, if the third term in (3.4) is the smallest one, it is achievable for the DF scheme due to the following fact: As a similar argument of Remark B.2, it can be shown that

$$R_{\rm DF} \le R_{11} + R_{12} + 2R_{21} + R_{22} \tag{3.51}$$

$$\leq C_{12} + \lambda_2 \left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) \right), \qquad (3.52)$$

where (3.52) equals the third term in (3.4), the equality in (3.51) is achieved only when $R_{21} = 0$, and the equality in (3.52) is achieved only when the constraints (3.47)-(3.49) achieves the equality for the case of i = 2. Thus, define $R_{12} = C_{12}$, $R_{21} = 0$, $R_{11} = \lambda_2 C(\tilde{\gamma}_1)$, and $R_{22} = \lambda_2 C(\gamma_2)$. Since we assume that the third term in (3.4) is the smallest one, it is easy to check that this solution is also feasible for the constraints in (3.48) and (3.49) for the case of i = 1. As such, the third term in (3.4) is achievable for the DF scheme. For the fourth term in (3.4), it can be shown that it is achievable by applying a similar argument as in the previous case. Therefore, this proposition is proved.

For the case that the conferencing link rates are not the same, i.e., $C_{12} \neq C_{21}$, the DF rate under conferencing strategy II may be either larger or smaller than the rate upper bound under conferencing strategy I, which will be shown in the next section by numerical results.

D. Numerical Results

In this section, we present some numerical results to compare the performances of the proposed coding schemes. Here, we only consider the asymmetric channel case, i.e., $\gamma_1 = \tilde{\gamma}_2$ and $\gamma_2 = \tilde{\gamma}_1$, and also show the performance of the DF simultaneous relaying scheme given in [23] as a comparison, which usually performs the best among various coding schemes under the simultaneous relaying mode.



Fig. 11.: Comparison of the rate upper bounds and various achievable rates under different channel conditions, with $C_{12} = C_{21} = 5$ bits/s/Hz, $\gamma_1 = \tilde{\gamma}_2 = 10$ dB, and different $\gamma_2 = \tilde{\gamma}_1$.

In Fig. 11, for the two relay conferencing strategies, we plot the rate upper bounds and various achievable rates as functions of link gains. Here, we let $C_{12} = C_{21} = 5$ bits/s/Hz, $\gamma_1 = \tilde{\gamma}_2 = 10$ dB, and $\gamma_2 = \tilde{\gamma}_1$ change over [-10, 30] dB. It is observed that the two upper bounds coincide when the channel gain is relatively small, i.e., when below 15 dB. For the DF relaying scheme, it achieves the rate upper bound when the channel gain is less than 10 dB under conferencing strategy II, while only at the point of 10 dB under conferencing strategy I.



Fig. 12.: Comparison of the rate upper bounds and various achievable rates over different conferencing link rates, with $C_{12} = C_{21}$, $\gamma_1 = \tilde{\gamma}_2 = 10$ dB, and $\gamma_2 = \tilde{\gamma}_1 = 30$ dB.

In Fig. 12, we plot the rate upper bounds and various achievable rates as functions of the conferencing link rates for both of the two conferencing strategies. Here, we assume $C_{12} = C_{21}$, $\gamma_1 = \tilde{\gamma}_2 = 10$ dB, and $\gamma_2 = \tilde{\gamma}_1 = 30$ dB. It is observed that relay conferencing can significantly increase these achievable rates for both of the simultaneous and alternative relaying schemes. Moreover, although it is proved in Proposition B.2 that under conferencing strategy I, the alternative DF scheme can asymptotically achieve the rate upper bound as C_{12} goes to infinity, unfortunately it approaches the upper bound very slowly: Even when C_{12} are 50 bits/s/Hz, the gap between them is still about 1 bits/s/Hz; while under conferencing strategy II, the DF scheme achieves the corresponding upper bound with relative small conferencing link rates, i.e., about 12 bits/s/Hz.

E. Summary

In this chapter, we considered the alternative relaying diamond relay channel with conferencing links. We derived the DF and AF achievable rates for two conferencing strategies, and showed that these rate maximization problem are convex. For the DF relaying scheme, by further exploiting the properties of the optimal solution, oneside conferencing was shown to be optimal for the DF scheme with both of the two conferencing strategies. Then, we obtained the DF rate in closed-form, and explicitly showed the rules on which conferencing link should be used under given channel conditions for one-side conferencing. Interestingly, the DF scheme was shown to be upper-bound-achieving with the help of finite conferencing link rates under conferencing strategy II, whose lower bounds were also derived. For the AF relaying scheme, we studied the optimal combining strategy, and showed that one-side conferencing is not optimal in general. Furthermore, some asymptotic optimal combining strategies were obtained in both the high and low SNR regimes.

F. Appendix

1. Achievability Proof of the DF Rate

Codebook Generation: First, note that we only need to generate in total two sets of codebooks for the odd and even time slots, respectively; for simplicity, we use the subscript s, s = 1, 2, to distinguish these two sets of codebooks, i.e., s = 1 for that in odd time slots and s = 2 for that in even ones. The codebooks at the source are

generated as follows: Generate $2^{nR_{s,s}}$ i.i.d. sequences $\boldsymbol{u}_s(q_s^1)$, where $q_s^1 \in [1:2^{nR_{s,s}}]$, according to the distribution $\prod_{j=1}^{\lambda_s n} p(u_{s,j})$; for each $\boldsymbol{u}_s(q_s^1)$, generate $2^{nR_{s,3-s}}$ i.i.d. sequences $\boldsymbol{x}_s(q_s^1, q_s^2)$, where $q_s^2 \in [1:2^{nR_{s,3-s}}]$, with the distribution $\prod_{j=1}^{\lambda_s n} p(x_{s,j}|u_{s,j})$. For the conferencing links, generate $2^{nR_{3-s,s}}$ i.i.d. sequences $\mathcal{M}_{3-s}(v_{3-s})$, where $v_{3-s} \in [1:R_{3-s,s}]$. For the relay-destination transmissions, generate $2^{n(R_{3-s,3-s}+R_{s,3-s})}$ i.i.d. sequences $\boldsymbol{t}_{3-s}(s_s^1, s_s^2)$ by a similar superposition coding method as that of \boldsymbol{x}_s , where $s_s^1 \in [1:R_{3-s,3-s}]$ and $s_s^2 \in [1:R_{s,3-s}]$, according to the distribution $\prod_{j=1}^{\lambda_s n} p(t_j)$.

Encoding and decoding: At the beginning of the k-th time slot, $k = 1, 2, \cdots$, where the source sends message to the *i*-th relay with i = 1 for odd k and i = 2for even k, the source splits the message w_k into two submessages w_k^1 and w_k^2 , and transmits $\boldsymbol{x}_i(w_k^1, w_k^2)$; the (3 - i)-th relay transmits $\mathcal{M}_i(w_{k-1}^{3-i})$ to the *i*-th relay via the conferencing link; the (3 - i)-th relay transmits $\boldsymbol{t}_i(w_{k-1}^{3-i}, w_{k-2}^i)$ to the destination.

At the end of the k-th time slot, the *i*-th relay obtains $\mathcal{M}_i(w_{k-1}^{3-i})$ from the (3-i)th relay. Since we assume that the conferencing links are noiseless, the *i*-th relay can successfully decode message w_{k-1}^{3-i} if

$$R_{3-i,i} \le \lambda_i C_{3-i,i}.\tag{3.53}$$

Simultaneously, the *i*-th relay obtains \boldsymbol{y}_i from the source. Then, it decodes (w_k^1, w_k^2) , and this can be done reliably if

$$R_{i,i} + R_{i,3-i} \le \lambda_i I\left(X_i; Y_i\right) = \lambda_i \mathcal{C}\left(\gamma_i\right), \qquad (3.54)$$

where (3.54) is obtained by choosing X_i as a Gaussian random variable with a distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, P_S)$. At the destination, it decodes $(w_{k-1}^{3-i}, w_{k-2}^i)$, and this can be done reliably if

$$R_{3-i,3-i} + R_{i,3-i} \le \lambda_i I\left(T_{3-i}; Z_i\right) = \lambda_i \mathcal{C}\left(\widetilde{\gamma}_{3-i}\right),\tag{3.55}$$

where (3.55) is obtained by choosing T_{3-i} as a Gaussian random variable with a distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, P_R)$. Based on the above analysis, we can obtain the DF achievable rate as shown in (3.5).

2. Proof of Proposition B.3

To prove this result, we only need to show that R_i defined in (3.36) is concave over $|a_{i,j}|^2$'s [51], due to the convexity of the constraints in (3.35). Then, since the function y = C(x) is concave and non-decreasing, we need to prove that the function within the $C(\cdot)$ function in (3.36) is concave [51]. Moreover, noticing that $\frac{|a_{ii}|^2 \gamma_i \tilde{\gamma}_i}{1+|a_{ii}|^2 \tilde{\gamma}_i}$ is concave over $|a_{ii}|^2$, we only need to show that the second fraction in $C(\cdot)$ is also concave. By letting $x = |a_{i,3-i}|^2$ and $y = |a_{3-i,3-i}|^2$, and normalizing the coefficients of x in the numerator and the denominator both to 1, it is equivalent to prove that $z = \frac{x}{x+ay+b}$, where a and b are some positive constants, is concave. Then, check the Hessian matrix of function z as

$$\boldsymbol{H} = \frac{1}{(x+ay+b)^3} \begin{bmatrix} -2ay-2b & ax-a^2y-ab\\ ax-a^2y-ab & 2a^2x \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.56)

Noticing that a > 0, b > 0, $x \ge 0$, and $y \ge 0$, it is easy to show that -2ay - 2b < 0and $|\mathbf{H}| = \frac{1}{(x+ay+b)^3} [-2a^2x(2ay+2b) - (ax - a^2y - ab)^2] < 0$, which implies that \mathbf{H} is negative semidefinite and function z is concave. Therefore, the proposition is proved.

3. Proof of Proposition C.1

Similar to the proof of Proposition C.2, it is easy to check that the first and the second terms in (3.45) can be achieved by the DF rate given in Problem (P3). However, for the third and the fourth terms in (3.45), by a similar argument as Remark B.2, it can

be shown that these two terms cannot be achieved by the DF relaying scheme. As such, the DF relaying scheme achieves the rate upper bound only for the case that the last two terms are redundant, i.e., for the optimal λ_i^* achieving the maximum value of the following optimization problem,

$$\widetilde{C}_{\text{upper}} = \max_{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1} \min \left\{ \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2), \lambda_2 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1) + \lambda_1 \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) \right\}, \qquad (3.57)$$

we always have $\lambda_2^* (\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_1)) + C_{12} + C_{21} \geq \widetilde{C}_{upper}$ and $\lambda_1^* (\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_2)) + C_{12} + C_{21} \geq \widetilde{C}_{upper}$. Therefore, the rate upper bound is achieved by the DF scheme only when the following relationship is satisfied

$$C_{12} + C_{21} \ge \widetilde{C}_{\text{upper}} - \min\left\{\lambda_2^* \left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\right), \lambda_1^* \left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)\right)\right\}.$$
(3.58)

Denote

$$g(\lambda_1^*) = \min\left\{\lambda_2^*\left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)\right), \lambda_1^*\left(\mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2)\right)\right\},\tag{3.59}$$

and it follows that g(0) = g(1) = 0. Then, in order to compute the lower bound on $C_{12} + C_{21}$ to achieve the rate upper bound, we only need to compute \tilde{C}_{upper} and the corresponding λ_i^* . For Problem (3.57), it follows that

γ₁ > γ₂, γ̃₂ > γ̃₁: It is obtained that λ₁^{*} = 1, and thus, C̃_{upper} = min {C(γ₁), C(γ̃₂)};
 γ₁ ≤ γ₂, γ̃₂ ≤ γ̃₁: It is obtained that λ₁^{*} = 0, and thus C̃_{upper} = min {C(γ₂), C(γ̃₁)};
 γ₁ > γ₂, γ̃₁ ≤ γ̃₂, γ̃₂ ≥ γ₁: It is obtained that λ₁^{*} = 1, and thus C̃_{upper} = C(γ̃₂);
 γ₁ ≤ γ₂, γ̃₁ > γ̃₂, γ̃₂ ≤ γ₁: It is obtained that λ₁^{*} = 1, and thus C̃_{upper} = C(γ̃₂);
 γ₁ ≤ γ₂, γ̃₁ > γ̃₂, γ̃₂ ≤ γ₁: It is obtained that λ₁^{*} = 1, and thus C̃_{upper} = C(γ₁);
 γ₁ > γ₂, γ̃₁ > γ̃₂, γ₁ > γ̃₂; V₁ > γ̃₂: It is obtained that λ₁^{*} = λ₀, and thus C̃_{upper} = C(γ₁);

6. $\gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2, \widetilde{\gamma}_1 < \widetilde{\gamma}_2, \gamma_1 < \widetilde{\gamma}_2$: It is obtained that $\lambda_1^* = \lambda_0$, and thus $\widetilde{C}_{upper} = \frac{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1)\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_1)}{\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\gamma}_2) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)};$

where $\lambda_0 = \frac{\mathcal{C}(\gamma_2) - \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_1)}{\mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_2) - \mathcal{C}(\tilde{\gamma}_1) - \mathcal{C}(\gamma_1) + \mathcal{C}(\gamma_2)}$. Thus, the lower bound on $C_{12} + C_{21}$ to achieve the rate upper bound is given in Table IV.

CHAPTER IV

SINGLE-USER LARGE RELAY NETWORKS

In Chapters 2 and 3, we investigated the achievable rates for the four-node diamond relay channel with rate-limited out-of-band conferencing links between the two relays, and it was shown that the DF scheme could achieve the cut-set bound even with finite conferencing link rates in some special channel conditions. In this chapter, we extend these results to the large Gaussian relay networks with SNR-limited AF conferencing links among the relays, and focus on the asymptotic achievable rates of the DF and AF relaying schemes. It is shown that the relay conferencing can improve these achievable rates, and some asymptotic capacity results can be established under certain conditions.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. In Section A, we introduce the assumptions and channel models. In Section B, we discuss the DF and AF achievable rates. In Section C, we present some simulation and numerical results. Finally, the paper is concluded in Section D.

A. Assumptions and System Model

In this chapter, we consider a large relay network with out-of-band conferencing links among the relays, as shown in Fig. 13, which consists of one source-destination pair and N relays. We assume that there is no direct link between the source and destination.

The time scheduling of the transmissions at the source, relays, and conferencing links is shown in Fig. 14. The relay nodes work in a half-duplex mode: The source transmits and the relays listen in the first time slot; the relays simultaneously transmit and the destination listens in the second time slot. For simplicity, we allocate equal



Fig. 13.: The large relay networks with conferencing links.

time durations to the two hops [15, 17]. Note that the conferencing links use outof-band connections, which are orthogonal to other conferencing links, the sourceto-relay links, and the relay-to-destination links. Based on these assumptions, the source-to-relay and the conferencing transmissions are scheduled during the same time slot.



Fig. 14.: Transmission scheduling scheme for the large relay networks with conferencing links.

Due to the relay conferencing, each relay needs to wait the conferencing signals from the other relays before forwarding information to the destination. Thus, there is a one-block delay between the transmissions at the source and the relays, as shown in Fig. 14, which requires the relays to buffer one block of source signals for each relaying operation. Assume that during each data block, the communication rate is R, and we need to transmit B blocks in total. Thus, the average information rate is $R\frac{B}{B+1} \to R$, as B goes to infinity, such that the effect of the one-block delay is negligible. In this chapter, we focus on the one-block transmission to study the associated relaying and conferencing schemes without specifying the delay in the proof of the achievability.

We assume that each relay can conference with a subset of other relays via orthogonal wired links. In this chapter, we adopt a deterministic "p-portion conferencing" scheme: each relay can conference with other M relays, and

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} \frac{M+1}{N} = p.$$
(4.1)

Without loss of generality, we assume that the *i*-th relay forwards its received signal to the relays with indices $i + k, i = 1, 2, \dots, N$, and $k = 1, \dots, M$, via the conferencing links. With a little abuse of notation, we use i + k to denote the $(i + k)_N$ -th relay, where $(\cdot)_N$ means the modula over N (and also i - k is defined similarly). Particularly, when N = M + 1, we call the scheme as "complete conferencing". Note that there exist many other conferencing schemes, i.e., random conferencing with any other Mrelays; for simplicity, the *p*-portion deterministic conferencing scheme is adopted here to provide a tractable achievable rate. In practical systems, it is costly to deploy MNconference links, which is exactly the reason why we propose a *p*-portion conferencing protocol to limit the percentage of conferencing connections. We will study the impact of *p* on the tradeoff between the system performance and the system installation cost.

We further define the following channel input-output relationship. In the first hop, the received signal y_i at the *i*-th relay, $i = 1, 2, \dots, N$, is given as

$$y_i = \sqrt{P_s} h_i x + n_i, \tag{4.2}$$

where x is the signal transmitted by the source, P_s is the transmit power at the source node, h_i is the complex channel gain of the *i*-th source-to-relay link, which is assumed known to the source, and n_i 's are the i.i.d. CSCG noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, N_0)$. Note that there are no particular assumptions on the distributions of h_i 's, which are just assumed to be independent, of zero-mean, and with uniformly and positively bounded second-order and fourth-order statistics, i.e., $0 < b_1 \leq \mathbb{E}(|h_i|^2) \leq b_2 < +\infty$ and $0 < c_1 \leq \mathbb{E}(|h_i|^4) \leq c_2 < +\infty$ for arbitrary *i*.

Regardless of whether the relays work with the DF or AF relaying scheme, for the conferencing links, we assume that only AF is used as the conferencing scheme to forward the received signal of the *i*-th relay to the (i + k)-th relay, and the received signal at the (i + k)-th relay via the conferencing link is given as

$$y_{i,i+k} = \sqrt{\frac{P_c}{P_s \mathbb{E}\left(|h_i|^2\right) + N_0}} f_{i,i+k} y_i + n_{i,i+k}, \qquad (4.3)$$

where $f_{i,i+k}$ is the complex link gain, $n_{i,i+k}$ is the CSCG noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, N_0)$, and P_c is the transmit power at the conferencing links. Here, the constant coefficient $\sqrt{\frac{P_c}{P_s \mathbb{E}(|h_i|^2)+N_0}}$ is used to satisfy the average transmit power constraint of the conferencing link. Due to the out-of-band and possible wired conferencing link assumptions, we assume that $f_{i,i+k}$ is a fixed positive constant and uniformly and positively bounded (similarly defined as that for $\mathbb{E}(|h_i|^2)$). Since the inputs of conferencing links may not be Gaussian, we adopt the transmit SNR $\frac{P_c}{N_0}$ as the quality metric of the conferencing links for convenience, instead of the rate constraints as in [23].

In the second hop, x_i with unit average power is transmitted from the *i*-th relay to the destination, and the received signal y at the destination is given as

$$y = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sqrt{P_r} g_i x_i + n,$$
(4.4)

where g_i is the complex channel gain of the *i*-th relay-to-destination link, P_r is the transmit power at each relay, and *n* is the CSCG noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, N_0)$. We also assume that g_i 's are independent, of zero mean, and with uniformly and positively bounded $\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^2)$ and $\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^4)$.

In this chapter, we assume that for the *i*-th relay, it knows h_i , h_j , $f_{j,i}$, and g_i , where $j \in \mathcal{A}_i \subset \{1, \dots, N\}$ and \mathcal{A}_i is the set of the indices corresponding to the relays connected to the *i*-th relay via the conferencing links. In practice, to obtain h_j 's, one solution is to let the source send out one symbol pilot, and each relay then forward this pilot to the other relays via the conferencing links. After receiving such forwarded pilot signals, each relay can estimate h_j 's, since the conferencing link gains $f_{j,i}$'s are assumed to be constant and known. To obtain g_i , we assume that the relayto-destination links are reciprocal such that only one pilot signal from the destination is needed.

B. Capacity Upper Bound and Achievable Rates

In this section, we examine the capacity upper bound and the achievable rates of the considered networks with the DF and AF relaying schemes, respectively. Moreover, we prove some capacity-achieving results under special conditions.

1. Preliminary Results and Capacity Upper Bound

In this subsection, we first present some preliminary results and the capacity upper bound.

Lemma B.1 Let $\{X_i \ge 0, i = 1, \dots, N\}$ be independent random variables, whose means and variances are uniformly and positively bounded, respectively. Then, we have

$$\log\left(1+\sum_{i=1}^{N}X_{i}\right)-\log\left(1+\sum_{i=1}^{N}\mathbb{E}\left(X_{i}\right)\right)\xrightarrow{w.p.1}0,\tag{4.5}$$

$$\log\left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} X_{i}\right) - \log\left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbb{E}\left(X_{i}\right)\right) \xrightarrow{w.p.1} 0.$$

$$(4.6)$$

Proof: By the Corollary 2.3 in [52], we have (4.5); and we could obtain (4.6) similarly. ■

Using this lemma and the classic BC cut-set bound [2], we obtain the following capacity upper bound.

Theorem B.1 (BC cut-set bound) The capacity upper bound for the two-hop large Gaussian relay network is given as

$$C_{upper} \le \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{P_s}{N_0} \sum_{i=1}^N |h_i|^2 \right)$$
 (4.7)

$$\xrightarrow{w.p.1} \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{P_s}{N_0} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{E}\left(|h_i|^2 \right) \right)$$
(4.8)

$$\sim \mathcal{O}\left(\log(N)\right)$$
 (4.9)

Proof: (4.7) is by the result in [15], and (4.8) is by (4.5). Let $\mu = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbb{E}(|h_i|^2)$, which is positively bounded, and we obtain (4.9).

2. The DF Achievable Rate

In [16], the authors showed that the DF rate scales on the order of $\mathcal{O}(\log(\log(N)))$ without conferencing among the relays, where the source chooses an optimal a subset of relays to decode the source message and let the rest keep silent in the second hop transmission. In this subsection, we adopt a different scheme to require all the relays to decode the source message and transmit in the second hop. Obviously, compared to the previous scheme [16], our scheme is not optimal in term of relay subset selection, while it is enough to show the improvement of the achievable rate scaling behavior introduced by relay conferencing. Note that both the schemes in [16] and our proposed DF scheme require full channel CSI at the source node. Our main result for the DF relaying scheme is given as the following theorem.

Theorem B.2 Using the p-portion conferencing strategy, the DF rate scales on the order of $\mathcal{O}(\log(N))$.

Proof: Based on the principle of maximum ratio combining (MRC), the received SNR at the relay is the sum of the SNRs in (4.2) and (4.3). Thus, for the first hop, the maximum rate supported at the *i*-th relay is given as

$$R_{i} = \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{|h_{i}|^{2} P_{s}}{N_{0}} + \frac{P_{s}}{N_{0}} \sum_{k=1}^{M} \frac{\frac{P_{c}}{P_{s}\mathbb{E}(|h_{i-k}|^{2}) + N_{0}} |f_{i-k,i}|^{2} |h_{i-k}|^{2}}{\frac{P_{c}}{P_{s}\mathbb{E}(|h_{i-k}|^{2}) + N_{0}} |f_{i-k,i}|^{2} + 1} \right)$$
(4.10)

$$\xrightarrow{w.p.1} \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{P_s}{N_0} \left(\mathbb{E} \left(|h_i|^2 \right) + \sum_{k=1}^M \frac{P_c |f_{i-k,i}|^2 \mathbb{E} \left(|h_{i-k}|^2 \right)}{P_c |f_{i-k,i}|^2 + P_s \mathbb{E} \left(|h_{i-k}|^2 \right) + N_0} \right) \right) \quad (4.11)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + (M+1) \frac{P_s}{N_0} \mu_{\rm DF} \right), \tag{4.12}$$

where (4.11) is by the Lemma B.1, and

$$\mu_{\rm DF} = \frac{1}{M+1} \left[\mathbb{E} \left(|h_i|^2 \right) + \sum_{k=1}^M \frac{P_c |f_{i-k,i}|^2 \mathbb{E} \left(|h_{i-k}|^2 \right)}{P_c |f_{i-k,i}|^2 + P_s \mathbb{E} \left(|h_{i-k}|^2 \right) + N_0} \right],$$

which is positively bounded. Thus, we have $R_i \sim \mathcal{O}(\log(N))$.

In the second hop, we assume that all relays transmit simultaneously, and the transmit signal at the *i*-th relay is $x_i = \sqrt{\frac{1}{\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^2)}} g_i^* x$. Thus, the received signal at the destination is given as

$$y = \underbrace{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sqrt{\frac{P_r}{\mathbb{E}\left(|g_i|^2\right)}} |g_i|^2 x + n,}_{Q_0}$$
(4.13)

and the maximum rate supported in the second hop is given as

$$R_{\rm MAC} = \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{Q_0^2}{N_0} \right) \tag{4.14}$$

$$\sim \log\left(\frac{Q_0}{\sqrt{N_0}}\right)$$
 (4.15)

$$\xrightarrow{w.p.1} \log\left(\frac{\mathbb{E}\left(Q_0\right)}{\sqrt{N_0}}\right) \tag{4.16}$$

$$=\frac{1}{2}\log\left(\frac{P_r}{N_0}N^2\mu^2\right),\tag{4.17}$$

where (4.15) is valid as $N \to \infty$, (4.16) is by (4.6), $\mathbb{E}(Q_0) = \sqrt{P_r} \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^2)}{\sqrt{\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^2)}} = \sqrt{P_r} \sum_{i=1}^N \sqrt{\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^2)}$, and $\mu = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \sqrt{\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^2)}$.

Therefore, the DF achievable rate is given as

$$R_{\rm DF} = \min\left\{\min_{i}\{R_i\}, R_{\rm MAC}\right\}.$$
(4.18)

Since R_i and R_{MAC} scale as $\mathcal{O}(\log(N))$ and $\mathcal{O}(\log(N^2))$, respectively, R_{DF} scales with the order of $\mathcal{O}(\log(N))$.

Remark B.1 For the complete conferencing scheme, i.e., M = N-1, the DF scheme is not capacity-achieving, since the SNR penalty term $\frac{P_c|f_{i-k,i}|^2}{P_c|f_{i-k,i}|^2+P_s\mathbb{E}(|h_{i-k}|^2)+N_0}$ is uniformly and positively bounded and strictly less than 1. For the case 0 ,obviously, the DF scheme is also not capacity-achieving, and suffers another <math>(1-p)portion power gain loss.

3. AF Achievable Rate

In this subsection, we discuss the AF relaying scheme. Since we assume no global CSIs at the relays, the network-wide optimal combining at the relays as proposed in [23] cannot be deployed. Thus, with only local CSIs, MRC across conferencing signals is another good choice, which maximizes the received SNR at the relays. Unfortunately,

MRC makes the rate expression too complicated to obtain any clean results. Instead, here we combine the received signals y_i and $y_{i-k,i}$'s at the *i*-th relay as

$$t_{i} = h_{i}^{*} y_{i} + \sum_{k=1}^{M} \sqrt{\frac{P_{s} \mathbb{E}\left(|h_{i-k}|^{2}\right) + N_{0}}{P_{c}}} \frac{1}{f_{i-k,i}} h_{i-k}^{*} y_{i-k,i}.$$
(4.19)

Then, the transmit signal at the i-th relay is given as

$$x_{i} = a_{i}\sqrt{P_{r}}g_{i}^{*}t_{i}$$

$$= a_{i}\sqrt{P_{r}}g_{i}^{*}\left(\sum_{k=0}^{M}\sqrt{P_{s}}|h_{i-k}|^{2}x + \sum_{k=0}^{M}h_{i-k}^{*}n_{i-k}\right)$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{M}\sqrt{\frac{P_{s}\mathbb{E}\left(|h_{i-k}|^{2}\right) + N_{0}}{P_{c}}}\frac{h_{i-k}^{*}n_{i-k,i}}{f_{i-k,i}}\right), \qquad (4.21)$$

where a_i is the power control factor to satisfy $\mathbb{E}(x_i) \leq P_r$, and it is chosen as

$$a_{i}^{2} = \mathbb{E}^{-1} \left(|g_{i}|^{2} \right) \left[P_{s} \mathbb{E} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{M} |h_{i-k}|^{2} \right)^{2} + \sum_{k=0}^{M} \mathbb{E} \left(|h_{i-k}|^{2} \right) \left(1 + \frac{P_{s} \mathbb{E} \left(|h_{i-k}|^{2} \right) + N_{0}}{P_{c} |f_{i-k,i}|^{2}} \right) \right]^{-1}.$$
(4.22)

Remark B.2 This combining scheme is not valid for the case without relay conferencing, i.e., the conferencing link SNR $\frac{P_c}{N_0} = 0$. Moreover, if $|f_{i,i+k}|$ or $\frac{P_c}{N_0}$ is close to zero, it will boost the conferencing link noise $n_{i,i+k}$, which may make the performance even worse than the case without conferencing. However, our analysis will show that for uniformly and positively bounded $|f_{i,i+k}|$'s and arbitrary $\frac{P_c}{N_0}$, the AF scheme performs well as $N \to \infty$. Based on (4.4) and (4.21), the received signal at the destination is given as

$$y = \sum_{i=1}^{N} g_{i}x_{i} + n$$

$$= \sqrt{P_{r}P_{s}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} a_{i}|g_{i}|^{2} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{M} |h_{i-k}|^{2}\right) x + \sqrt{P_{r}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{M} a_{i+k}|g_{i+k}|^{2}\right) h_{i}^{*}n_{i}$$

$$+ \sqrt{P_{r}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{M} \sqrt{\frac{P_{s}\mathbb{E}\left(|h_{i-k}|^{2}\right) + N_{0}}{P_{c}}} \frac{1}{f_{i-k,i}} a_{i}|g_{i}|^{2}h_{i-k}^{*}n_{i-k,i} + n.$$

$$(4.24)$$

Then, the AF achievable rate is given as

$$R_{\rm AF} = \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{P_s P_r Q_1^2}{\left(P_r Q_2 + P_r Q_3 + 1\right) N_0} \right), \tag{4.25}$$

where

$$Q_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{M} a_{i+k} |g_{i+k}|^2 \right)^2 |h_i|^2,$$
(4.26)

$$Q_3 = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{M} |a_i|^2 \frac{P_s \mathbb{E}\left(|h_{i-k}|^2\right) + N_0}{P_c |f_{i-k,i}|^2} |g_i|^4 |h_{i-k}|^2.$$
(4.27)

Now we have

$$\log\left(1 + \frac{P_s P_r Q_1^2}{(P_r Q_2 + P_r Q_3 + 1) N_0}\right) \tag{4.28}$$

$$\sim \log\left(\frac{P_s P_r Q_1^2}{(P_r Q_2 + P_r Q_3 + 1) N_0}\right)$$
(4.29)

$$= 2\log\left(\sqrt{\frac{P_s P_r}{N_0}}Q_1\right) - \log\left(P_r Q_2 + P_r Q_3 + 1\right)$$
(4.30)

$$\xrightarrow{w.p.1} 2 \log\left(\sqrt{\frac{P_s P_r}{N_0}} \mathbb{E}\left(Q_1\right)\right) - \log\left(P_r \mathbb{E}\left(Q_2\right) + P_r \mathbb{E}\left(Q_3\right) + 1\right), \tag{4.31}$$

$$\sim \log\left(1 + \frac{P_s P_r \mathbb{E}^2\left(Q_1\right)}{\left(P_r \mathbb{E}\left(Q_2\right) + P_r \mathbb{E}\left(Q_3\right) + 1\right) N_0}\right),\tag{4.32}$$

where (4.31) is by the Lemma B.1. Notice that (4.29) and (4.32) are valid since we only add or ignore a constant term, which can be neglected in the case of $N \to +\infty$.

As $N \to +\infty$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}(Q_1) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} a_i \mathbb{E}\left(|g_i|^2\right) \left(\sum_{k=0}^{M} \mathbb{E}\left(|h_{i-k}|^2\right)\right) = N(M+1)\mu_1, \tag{4.33}$$

$$\mathbb{E}(Q_2) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbb{E}\left(\left(\sum_{k=0}^{M} a_{i+k} |g_{i+k}|^2\right)^2\right) \mathbb{E}\left(|h_i|^2\right) = N(M+1)^2 \mu_2, \tag{4.34}$$

$$\mathbb{E}(Q_3) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{M} |a_i|^2 \frac{P_s \mathbb{E}(|h_{i-k}|^2) + N_0}{P_c |f_{i-k,i}|^2} \mathbb{E}(|g_i|^4) \mathbb{E}(|h_{i-k}|^2) = NM\mu_3, \quad (4.35)$$

where

$$\mu_{1} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} a_{i} \mathbb{E}\left(|g_{i}|^{2}\right) \left(\frac{1}{M+1} \sum_{k=0}^{M} \mathbb{E}\left(|h_{i-k}|^{2}\right)\right),$$
(4.36)

$$\mu_2 = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{E}\left(\left(\frac{1}{M+1} \sum_{k=0}^M a_{i+k} |g_{i+k}|^2\right)^2\right) \mathbb{E}\left(|h_i|^2\right),\tag{4.37}$$

$$\mu_3 = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{1}{M} \sum_{k=1}^M |a_i|^2 \frac{P_s \mathbb{E}\left(|h_{i-k}|^2\right) + N_0}{P_c |f_{i-k,i}|^2} \mathbb{E}\left(|g_i|^4\right) \mathbb{E}\left(|h_{i-k}|^2\right).$$
(4.38)

Since we assume that $\mathbb{E}(|h_i|^2)$, $\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^2)$, and $\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^4)$ are uniformly and positively bounded, $|a_i|$, μ_1 , μ_2 , and μ_3 are also bounded and positive. For the *p*-portion conferencing scheme, since $\mathbb{E}(Q_3)$ scales on a smaller order than $\mathbb{E}(Q_2)$ as *N* goes to infinity, we obtain the AF rate as

$$R_{\rm AF} \xrightarrow{w.p.1} \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + N \frac{\mu_1^2}{\mu_2} \frac{P_s}{N_0} \right). \tag{4.39}$$

Remark B.3 The term Q_3 is the contribution of the conferencing link noises. Since $\frac{\mathbb{E}(Q_3)}{\mathbb{E}(Q_2)} \to 0$, we conclude that for the p-portion conferencing scheme, the conferencing link noises are asymptotically negligible as $N \to +\infty$. This suggests that for large relay networks with AF, we do not need high quality conferencing links, i.e., even with small $\frac{P_c}{N_0}$, and the performance of the AF scheme is reasonably good for large N. It is difficult to verify whether the AF scheme is capacity-achieving or not for the case with $0 and generally distributed <math>h_i$'s and g_i 's. In the following, we prove two special capacity-achieving cases, which may be applied to many widely-used scenarios.

Theorem B.3 If h_i 's and g_i 's are *i.i.d.*, respectively, the AF scheme asymptotically achieves the capacity upper bound (4.8) as N goes to infinity for arbitrary 0 $and <math>\frac{P_c}{N_0} > 0$.

Proof: Since h_i 's and g_i 's are i.i.d., $\mathbb{E}(|h_i|^2)$, $\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^2)$, and $\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^4)$ are identical over different *i*'s, respectively. Let us examine the term $\frac{\mu_1^2}{\mu_2}$, and we have

$$\frac{\mu_1^2}{\mu_2} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{E}\left(|h_i|^2\right) \frac{\sum_{j=1}^N \mathbb{E}\left(|h_j|^2\right) \left(\sum_{k=0}^M a_{i+k} \mathbb{E}\left(|g_{i+k}|^2\right)\right) \left(\sum_{t=0}^M a_{j+t} \mathbb{E}\left(|g_{j+t}|^2\right)\right)}{\sum_{j=1}^N \mathbb{E}\left(|h_j|^2\right) \mathbb{E}\left(\left(\sum_{s=0}^M a_{j+s}|g_{j+s}|^2\right)^2\right)}$$

$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}(|h_{i}|^{2})}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \underbrace{\frac{N\mathbb{E}^{2}(|g_{i}|^{2})\left[\left(\sum_{k=0}^{M} a_{i+k}\right)\left(\sum_{t=0}^{M} a_{t}\right)\right]}{\mathbb{E}^{2}(|g_{i}|^{2})\sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{s_{1} \neq s_{2}} a_{j+s_{1}} a_{j+s_{2}} + \mathbb{E}(|g_{i}|^{4}) M \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{j}^{2}}{C_{i}}}_{C_{i}}.$$
 (4.41)

From (4.22), we have $a_i^2 \approx \frac{1}{\mathbb{E}(|h_i|^2)\mathbb{E}(|g_i|^2)P_sM^2}$ for large M, and we have

$$C_i \approx \frac{\mathbb{E}^2 \left(|g_i|^2\right) N(M+1)^2}{\mathbb{E}^2 \left(|g_i|^2\right) NM(M+1) + \mathbb{E} \left(|g_i|^4\right) MN} \to 1.$$
(4.42)

Hence, we have $\frac{\mu_1^2}{\mu_2} \to \mathbb{E}(|h_i|^2)$. Therefore, the theorem is proved.

Theorem B.4 For independent but not necessarily identically distributed h_i 's or g_i 's, the full conferencing scheme, i.e., N = M + 1, asymptotically achieves the capacity upper bound as N goes to infinity for arbitrary $\frac{P_c}{N_0} > 0$. *Proof:* For the complete conferencing scheme, we obtain

$$Q_1 = \left(\sum_{i=1}^N a_i |g_i|^2\right) \sum_{k=1}^N |h_k|^2, \tag{4.43}$$

$$Q_2 = \left(\sum_{i=1}^N a_i |g_i|^2\right)^2 \sum_{k=1}^N |h_k|^2.$$
(4.44)

By a similar argument as in the previous theorem, we can show $\frac{P_rQ_3+1}{P_rQ_2} \xrightarrow{w.p.1} 0$ as N goes to infinity such that we obtain

$$R_{\rm AF} = \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{P_s \sum_{k=1}^N |h_k|^2}{\left(1 + \frac{P_r Q_3 + 1}{P_r Q_2}\right) N_0} \right)$$
(4.45)

$$\xrightarrow{w.p.1}{\frac{1}{2}} \log\left(1 + \frac{P_s}{N_0} \sum_{k=1}^N |h_k|^2\right). \tag{4.46}$$

Therefore, the capacity upper bound is asymptotically achieved. \blacksquare

C. Numerical Results

In this section, we present some simulation and numerical results to compare the performance among the proposed coding schemes. For simplicity, we assume that h_i 's and g_i 's are i.i.d. complex Gaussian random variable of $\mathcal{CN}(0,1)$, $|f_{i,i+k}| = 1$, $P_s = 1$, $P_r = 1$, and $N_0 = 1$. The rates in all the simulations, are averaged over 1000 fading realizations.

In Fig. 15, we show the capacity upper bound and the achievable rates for different p values, as the number of relays increases. For the AF relaying scheme, the gap between the upper bound and the achievable rate is very small for p = 0.2 and large N values. For the DF relaying scheme, when N is large, we observe that the DF rate and the capacity upper bound have the same scaling behavior.

In Fig. 16, we plot the achievable rates as functions of p. For the AF relaying



Fig. 15.: Achievable rates vs. the number of relays, $P_s = 1$, $P_r = 1$, $P_c = 1$, and $|f_{i,k}| = 1$.

scheme, the p value does not need to be large to achieve most of the gains, i.e., around p = 0.3; on the other hand, conferencing may not strictly improve the AF rate: When p is close to zero, the achievable rate is lower than the case without relay conferencing, which is due to the sub-optimality of the combining scheme at the relays. For the DF relaying scheme, relay conferencing always helps, and there is a significant rate improvement as p increases.

In Fig. 17, we plot the achievable rates as functions of the conferencing link SNR. It is observed that with medium-quality conferencing links (the SNRs of the conferencing links are around 5 dB), we achieve most of the gains introduced by relay conferencing for both the AF and DF relaying schemes.



Fig. 16.: Achievable rates vs. the conferencing ratio, $P_s = 1$, $P_r = 1$, $P_c = 1$, $|f_{i,k}| = 1$, and N = 100.



Fig. 17.: Achievable rates vs. the conferencing link SNR, $P_s = 1$, $P_r = 1$, $|f_{i,k}| = 1$, N = 100, and p = 0.1.

D. Summary

In this chapter, we investigated the achievable rate scaling laws of the DF and AF relaying schemes in a large Gaussian relay networks with conferencing links. We showed that for the DF relaying scheme, the rate scales as $\mathcal{O}(\log(N))$, compared to $\mathcal{O}(\log(\log(N)))$ for the case without conferencing; for the AF relaying scheme, we proved that if the channel fading coefficients h_i 's and g_i 's are i.i.d., respectively, or N = M+1, it asymptotically achieves the capacity upper bound as N goes to infinity.

CHAPTER V

TWO-USER INTERFERENCE RELAY NETWORKS

In this chapter, we focus on the multi-user wireless systems. In the literature, the one-hop IC has been extensively studied, where various upper bounds and achievable rates have been established [29–31]. Specifically, the best known achievable rate result was obtained by Han and Kobayashi [29], where each source splits its message into two parts and each destination decodes its own desired message and part of the interference. In general, the capacity of IC remains unknown, and the capacity results are established only for some special cases, e.g., the strong [30] and weak [31] interference cases.

An important extension of the one-hop IC is the so-called two-hop interference networks [32–36], where two sources send messages to their intended destinations via two separate relays. Essentially, such a network is a cascade of two ICs, which may arise in many practical scenarios, such as two neighboring base-stations communicating with two mobile users via two relays in an LTE-A cellular system. For such a two-hop interference network, the authors in [32–34] derived the achievable rates by using the DF and AF relaying schemes under the weak or strong interference assumptions, while no general capacity results were established. In [35], the authors investigated this network by using a deterministic model and bounded the gap between the achievable rate and the upper bound within a constant number of bits under arbitrary channel conditions. More recently, the authors in [36] proved that under the full-duplex relaying mode, i.e., the relay can transmit and receive at the same time and frequency, the maximum degree-of-freedom (DoF) of 2 can be achieved by a specifically designed DF scheme, while only $\frac{3}{2}$ DoF can be achieved by the AF scheme with constant channel coefficients.
Among these relaying schemes, the AF scheme is more attractive for practical implementation in cellular or other systems. When both the source and relays are equipped with multiple antennas, the optimal AF relaying matrix design problem was considered in [37–39] for point-to-point communication under different design principles: maximum achievable rate, minimum mean square error (MMSE), and optimal quality-of-service (QoS), respectively. In [40–43], the authors considered the optimal design for the multipoint-to-multipoint networks assisted with AF relays, where both the non-robust and robust design methods were considered in [43]. Note that all these aforementioned works are based on the single-user decoding scheme, which treats other users' signals as noise and may lead to certain suboptimality under general channel setups. In addition, the above works did not explore any information exchanges among the relays.

In this chapter, we consider a two-hop interference network, which contains two sources, two destinations, and two relays with out-of-band conferencing links. We assume that each source wants to transmit a message to its desired destination. As shown in this chapter, such a system with AF relaying and relay conferencing is equivalent to a two-user IC. Instead of characterizing the rate region via the complicated general Han-Kobayashi scheme [29], we turn to two more practical decoding schemes:

- 1. Single-user decoding scheme: Each destination tries to decode its own message and treat the other source's message as noise;
- 2. Joint decoding scheme: Each destination decodes both of the source messages.

Compared with the previous works [40–42], in this chapter, we further consider the conferencing between the two relays, and concentrate on how to characterize the rate region by optimizing over the source powers and the relay combining vector.

The rest of the chapter is organized as follows. Section A introduces the assump-

tions and channel models. In Sections B and C, we study the rate regions for both the single-user decoding and joint decoding schemes, respectively. In Section D, we compare the performances of the two schemes in the high SNR regime. Section E presents some numerical results. Finally, the paper is summarized in Section F.

A. System Model

In this chapter, we consider a two-hop interference network, as shown in Fig. 18, which contains two sources, two destinations, and two relays with out-of-band SNR-limited conferencing links. We assume that there are no direct links between any sourcedestination pairs. Denote the received SNR of the conferencing link from relay 1 to relay 2 as γ_{12} , with γ_{21} defined similarly. Furthermore, these two conferencing links are assumed to be orthogonal to each other and outside the frequency band used by the source-to-relay and relay-to-destination links, or even use wired connections.



Fig. 18.: Two-hop interference networks with out-of-band SNR-limited conferencing links.

It is assumed that the relay nodes work in a half-duplex mode: The sources simultaneously transmit and the two relays listen in the first time slot; the relays simultaneously transmit and the destinations listen in the second time slot. Moreover, relay conferencing is scheduled at the same time slot as the source-to-relay transmissions. It is assumed that the AF scheme is adopted as the relaying and conferencing schemes, such that the lengthes of the above transmission blocks are the same. With the above assumptions, the time scheduling of the transmissions at the sources, relays, and conferencing links is described as follows, also shown in Fig. 19. The i-th source, i = 1, 2, sends independent messages $w_i(1)$ in the first time slot, and $w_i(t)$, $t = 2, 3, \cdots$, in the (2t - 2)-th time slot sequentially; during the (2t - 2)-th time slot, $t \geq 2$, the *i*-th relay forwards the received signal about the $w_i(t-1)$ -th message to its counterpart relay via the conferencing link; after receiving the signals from the source and the other relay, each relay sends the combined signals about the $w_1(t)$ -th and the $w_2(t)$ -th source messages, $t = 1, 2, \cdots$, to the destination in the (2t+1)-th time slot. Due to relay conferencing, there is a one-block delay between the transmissions at the sources and the relays, which enables the relays to buffer one block of the source signal for each relaying operation. Assume that during each block, the communication rate is R, and we need to transmit B blocks in total. Thus, the average information rate is $R\frac{B}{B+1} \to R$ as B goes to infinity, such that the effect of the one-block delay is negligible. As such, here we only focus on one-block transmission and the associated relay operations without specifying the delay in the analysis.



Fig. 19.: Transmission scheduling scheme for the two-hop interference network with conferencing links.

The channel input-output relationships of the discussed network are given as follows. To be concise, when we describe the signal relationship at the i-th relay

(i = 1, 2), we use (3 - i) to index the other relay. The received signal at the *i*-th relay is given as

$$y_i = h_{1i}x_1 + h_{2i}x_2 + n_i, (5.1)$$

where x_j , j = 1, 2, is the circularly symmetric complex Gaussian (CSCG) signal from the *j*-th source with power p_j , h_{ji} is the complex channel gain from the *j*-th source to the *i*-th relay, n_i is the independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) CSCG noise with zero mean and unit variance, i.e., $n_i \sim C\mathcal{N}(0, 1)$. For the sources, we consider two different power constraints on the channel inputs: With the individual source power constraints, we define the source power region as

$$\mathcal{P} = \{ (p_1, p_2) : 0 \le p_1 \le P_{S1}, 0 \le p_2 \le P_{S2} \},\$$

where P_{S1} and P_{S2} are the maximum power budgets at source 1 and source 2, respectively; with the sum power constraint, we have

$$\mathcal{P} = \{ (p_1, p_2) : p_1 + p_2 \le P_S, p_1 \ge 0, p_2 \ge 0 \},\$$

where P_S is the maximum sum power budget over both sources.

For the conferencing links, the received signal at the (3 - i)-th relay, i = 1, 2, is given as

$$r_{i,3-i} = f_{i,3-i} \cdot (h_{1i}x_1 + h_{2i}x_2 + n_i) + n_{i,3-i}, \tag{5.2}$$

where $f_{i,3-i} = \sqrt{\gamma_{i,3-i}} e^{j\theta_{i,3-i}} E_i^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ is a coefficient regulating the input power to make the conferencing link received SNR not bigger than $\gamma_{i,3-i}$, E_i is a constant to be defined later, $\theta_{i,3-i}$ is the phase of the link channel coefficient, and $n_{i,3-i}$ is the i.i.d. CSCG noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, 1)$. Without loss of generality, we assume wired connections for the conferencing links, such that $\theta_{i,3-i}$ is fixed. In fact, our following analysis is also valid for the time-varying conferencing link case as long as $\theta_{i,3-i}$ can be learned at the *i*-th relay. For the parameter E_i , the best choice is to set it equal to the power of the received signal y_i , i.e., $E_i = |h_{1i}|^2 p_1 + |h_{2i}|^2 p_2 + 1$. However, this will make the source power allocation problem intractable, since $f_{i,3-i}$ is a function of the source power values. To simplify the analysis, we adopt a normalizing method to make the worst-case scenario still satisfy the conferencing link SNR constraints: For the case with individual source power constraints, we let $E_i = |h_{1i}|^2 P_{S1} + |h_{2i}|^2 P_{S2} + 1$; for the case with a sum source power constraint, we let $E_i = (|h_{1i}|^2 + |h_{2i}|^2) P_S + 1$.

After receiving the signals from the sources and the other relay, each relay first linearly combines the two received signals as

$$t_i = c_{i,i} y_i + c_{3-i,i} r_{3-i,i}, (5.3)$$

where the combining parameter $c_{i,i}$ and $c_{3-i,i}$ satisfy the following power constraints at the relays: With the individual relay power constraints under power budgets P_{R1} and P_{R2} respectively at the two relays, we have $|t_1|^2 \leq P_{R1}$ and $|t_2|^2 \leq P_{R2}$, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{c} : \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{R1} \boldsymbol{c} \leq P_{R1}, \text{ and } \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{R2} \boldsymbol{c} \leq P_{R2} \right\},$$
(5.4)

where $\boldsymbol{c} = [c_{11}, c_{21}, c_{12}, c_{22}]^T$ and $\boldsymbol{W}_{Ri} = p_1 \boldsymbol{w}_{Ri1} \boldsymbol{w}_{Ri1}^H + p_2 \boldsymbol{w}_{Ri2} \boldsymbol{w}_{Ri2}^H + \boldsymbol{W}_{Rin}, i = 1, 2$. In particular, $\boldsymbol{w}_{Ri1}, \boldsymbol{w}_{Ri2}$, and \boldsymbol{W}_{Rin} are contributed by source 1, source 2, and the noises at the relays, respectively, i.e., $\boldsymbol{w}_{R11} = [h_{11}, h_{12}f_{21}, 0, 0]^H$, $\boldsymbol{w}_{R12} = [h_{21}, h_{22}f_{21}, 0, 0]^H$, $\boldsymbol{W}_{R1n} = \text{Diag}[1, |f_{21}|^2 + 1, 0, 0], \boldsymbol{w}_{R21} = [0, 0, h_{11}f_{12}, h_{12}]^H, \boldsymbol{w}_{R22} = [0, 0, h_{21}f_{12}, h_{22}]^H$, and $\boldsymbol{W}_{R2n} = \text{Diag}[0, 0, |f_{12}|^2 + 1, 1]$; with the sum relay power constraint under the total power budget P_R over the two relays, we have $|t_1|^2 + |t_2|^2 \leq P_R$, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{c} : \ \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_R \boldsymbol{c} \le P_R \right\}, \tag{5.5}$$

where $\boldsymbol{W}_{R} = \boldsymbol{W}_{R1} + \boldsymbol{W}_{R2}$.

At the *i*-th destination, the received signal is given as

$$z_i = g_{1i}t_1 + g_{2i}t_2 + w_i, (5.6)$$

where g_{ji} , j = 1, 2, is the complex channel gain from the *j*-th relay to the *i*-th destination, w_i is the i.i.d. CSCG noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, 1)$. By (5.1), (5.2), (5.3), and (5.6), the overall input-output relationship of this network is given as

$$z_{i} = \boldsymbol{w}_{1,i}^{H} \boldsymbol{c} x_{1} + \boldsymbol{w}_{2,i}^{H} \boldsymbol{c} x_{2} + (g_{1,i}c_{11} + g_{2,i}f_{i,3-i}c_{12}) n_{1} + (g_{1,i}f_{i,3-i}c_{21} + g_{2,i}c_{22}) n_{2} + g_{1,i}c_{21}n_{21} + g_{2,i}c_{12}n_{12} + w_{i}, \ i = 1, 2,$$
(5.7)

where with

$$\boldsymbol{w}_{1,i} = [h_{11}g_{1,i}, h_{12}g_{1,i}f_{21}, h_{11}g_{2,i}f_{12}, h_{12}g_{2,i}]^{H},$$
$$\boldsymbol{w}_{2,i} = [h_{21}g_{1,i}, h_{22}g_{1,i}f_{21}, h_{21}g_{2,i}f_{12}, h_{22}g_{2,i}]^{H}.$$

The power of the noise terms in (5.7) is $\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{in}\boldsymbol{c}+1$, where \boldsymbol{W}_{in} is given as

$$\boldsymbol{W}_{in} = \begin{bmatrix} |g_{1i}|^2 & 0 & g_{1i}^* g_{2i} f_{12} & 0 \\ 0 & |g_{1i}|^2 (f_{21}^2 + 1) & 0 & g_{1i}^* g_{2i} f_{21} \\ g_{1i} g_{2i}^* f_{12} & 0 & |g_{2i}|^2 (f_{12}^2 + 1) & 0 \\ 0 & g_{1i} g_{2i}^* f_{21} & 0 & |g_{2i}|^2 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (5.8)

From (5.7), we know that the AF two-hop interference networks with relay conferencing is equivalent to an IC, but with possibly correlated noises.

Next, we define the rate region $C(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{C})$ of the considered two-hop interference network, subject to the source and relay power constraints, respectively, as

$$C(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{C}) \triangleq \bigcup_{(p_1, p_2) \in \mathcal{P}, \ \boldsymbol{c} \in \mathcal{C}} \left\{ (R_1, R_2) \right\},$$
(5.9)

where (R_1, R_2) is the rate pair achieved with a certain coding and power allocation

scheme.

In this chapter, we mainly focus on two special decoding schemes: single-user decoding, where each destination only decodes its desired message; and joint decoding, where each destination decodes both of the source messages. In the following two sections, we will discuss how to characterize the AF achievable rate regions for the single-user and joint decoding schemes, respectively. Note that due to the fundamental non-convexity of the joint source power and relay combining optimization problem, it is not guaranteed that all the Pareto boundary points [54] of the rate regions can be found. However, the proposed algorithms are still efficient and meaningful to provide some reasonable good achievable rate regions by fully exploring the hidden convexity of the decomposed subproblems.

B. Single-User Decoding

In this section, we assume that each destination tries to decode its own desired message, and treats the signal intended to the other destination as noise. With these assumptions, the achievable rate region is given as

$$C(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{C}) \triangleq \bigcup_{(p_1, p_2) \in \mathcal{P}, \ \boldsymbol{c} \in \mathcal{C}} \left\{ (R_1, R_2) \middle| \begin{array}{c} R_1 \leq \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{p_1 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{11} \boldsymbol{c}}{p_2 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{12} \boldsymbol{c} + \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{1n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1} \right) \\ R_2 \leq \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{p_2 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{22} \boldsymbol{c}}{p_1 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{21} \boldsymbol{c} + \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{2n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1} \right) \end{array} \right\},$$
(5.10)

where $W_{ij} = w_{ij}w_{ij}^{H}, i, j \in \{1, 2\}.$

Typically, the rate region can be characterized by the weighted-sum maximization method [54]. However, in our case, the weighted sum will involve coupled nonconvex functions, which is hard to solve. Instead, here we apply the rate profile method adopted in [54], and define the rate-profile vector as $\boldsymbol{\beta} = [\beta, 1 - \beta]^T$, where $0 \leq \beta \leq 1$. Such a method could decouple the nonconvex weighted-sum objective function and transfer the nonconvex elements into individual constraints. Specifically, to characterize the whole rate region, we compute a sum rate maximization problem for all possible rate-profile vectors, i.e.,

$$\max_{R_{\text{sum}},p_{1},p_{2},\boldsymbol{c}} R_{\text{sum}} \qquad (5.11)$$
s. t.
$$\frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{p_{1}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{11}\boldsymbol{c}}{p_{2}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{12}\boldsymbol{c} + \boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{1n}\boldsymbol{c} + 1} \right) \geq \beta R_{\text{sum}},$$

$$\frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{p_{2}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{22}\boldsymbol{c}}{p_{1}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{21}\boldsymbol{c} + \boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{2n}\boldsymbol{c} + 1} \right) \geq (1 - \beta) R_{\text{sum}},$$

$$(p_{1}, p_{2}) \in \mathcal{P}, \ \boldsymbol{c} \in \mathcal{C}.$$

Although this problem is still not convex, we observe that if we fix either (p_1, p_2) or c, the remaining problem is efficiently solvable. Hence, we turn to a two-stage iterative method, and approximately solve Problem (5.11) via iterations between the following two sub-problems:

- 1. Fix (p_1, p_2) , maximize R_{sum} over $\boldsymbol{c} \in \mathcal{C}$;
- 2. Fix \boldsymbol{c} , maximize R_{sum} over $(p_1, p_2) \in \mathcal{P}$.

Remark B.1 Note that the above algorithm cannot guarantee to obtain all the boundary points of the rate region defined in (5.10), since it is difficult to find the global optimal solution of the non-convex Problem (5.11). However, it provides us an efficient way to obtain an meaningful achievable rate region. In addition, we here fix the optimization order to first optimize over \mathbf{c} for a given (p_1, p_2) . Generally, we can start the optimization problem in an arbitrary order between these two sub-problems. The reason why we take such an order is that vector \mathbf{c} is of a higher dimension than the source power pair (p_1, p_2) , such that it is relatively hard to find a feasible solution for \mathbf{c} to initiate the algorithm.

1. Optimization over \boldsymbol{c} at the Relays

In this subsection, we consider the relay optimization problem with a fixed source power pair. Then, Problem (5.11) can be rewritten as

$$\max_{R_{\text{sum}}, \boldsymbol{c}} \quad R_{\text{sum}}$$
(5.12)
s. t. $\boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{F}_{1} \boldsymbol{c} \geq 1, \ \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{F}_{2} \boldsymbol{c} \geq 1, \ \boldsymbol{c} \in \mathcal{C},$

where $\mathbf{F}_1 = \frac{1}{\lambda_1} p_1 \mathbf{W}_{11} - p_2 \mathbf{W}_{12} - \mathbf{W}_{1n}, \mathbf{F}_2 = \frac{1}{\lambda_2} p_2 \mathbf{W}_{22} - p_1 \mathbf{W}_{21} - \mathbf{W}_{2n}, \lambda_1 = 2^{2\beta R_{\text{sum}}} - 1,$ and $\lambda_2 = 2^{2(1-\beta)R_{\text{sum}}} - 1$. Furthermore, Problem (5.12) is equivalent to the following problem

$$\begin{aligned} \max_{R_{\text{sum}}, \boldsymbol{C}} & R_{\text{sum}} \\ \text{s. t.} & \operatorname{Tr} \left(\boldsymbol{F}_{1} \boldsymbol{C} \right) \geq 1, \ \operatorname{Tr} \left(\boldsymbol{F}_{2} \boldsymbol{C} \right) \geq 1, \ \boldsymbol{C} \in \mathcal{C}_{0}, \\ & \operatorname{Rank}(\boldsymbol{C}) = 1, \ \boldsymbol{C} \succeq 0, \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.13)$$

where $C = cc^{H}$, and in particular, for the sum relay power constraint case, we have

$$\mathcal{C}_0 = \{ \boldsymbol{C} : \operatorname{Tr} (\boldsymbol{W}_R \boldsymbol{C}) \le P_R \}; \qquad (5.14)$$

for the individual relay power constraint case, we have

$$\mathcal{C}_0 = \{ \boldsymbol{C} : \operatorname{Tr} (\boldsymbol{W}_{R1} \boldsymbol{C}) \le P_{R1}, \ \operatorname{Tr} (\boldsymbol{W}_{R2} \boldsymbol{C}) \le P_{R2} \}.$$
(5.15)

In general, due to the rank-1 constraint, Problem (5.13) is not convex. Next, we will show that this rate maximization problem can be exactly solved by a sequence of power minimization problems (as defined next) without considering the rank-1 constraint, which is the so-called semidefinite relaxation (SDR) approach [53].

1. Sum Relay Power Constraint: We consider the following semidefinite program

(SDP) power minimization problem for a given set of R_{sum} and β ,

$$\min_{\boldsymbol{C}} \quad p_R = \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}_R \boldsymbol{C})$$
s. t. $\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{F}_1 \boldsymbol{C}) \ge 1$, $\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{F}_2 \boldsymbol{C}) \ge 1$,
 $\boldsymbol{C} \succeq 0$. (5.16)

2. Individual Relay Power Constraint: Similarly to the previous case, we consider the following SDP power minimization problem.

$$\min_{\boldsymbol{C}} \quad p_{R1} = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\boldsymbol{W}_{R1}\boldsymbol{C}\right) \tag{5.17}$$

s. t.
$$\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{F}_{1}\boldsymbol{C}) \geq 1$$
, $\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{F}_{2}\boldsymbol{C}) \geq 1$, $\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}_{R2}\boldsymbol{C}) \leq P_{R2}$, (5.18)

$$\boldsymbol{C} \succeq \boldsymbol{0}. \tag{5.19}$$

First, we claim that if the rank-1 optimal solution of Problem (5.16) or (5.17)-(5.19) can be found, which will be probed later, the sum rate maximization problem in (5.12) can be efficiently solved via the following bi-section search algorithm up to an accuracy requirement ϵ :

Algorithm 1:

- Initialize $r_{\text{low}} = 0$ and $r_{\text{up}} = r_{\text{max}}$;
- Repeat
 - 1. Set $\frac{1}{2}(r_{\text{low}} + r_{\text{up}}) \rightarrow r;$
 - 2. Solve Problem (5.16) with the given $R_{\text{sum}} = r$ and obtain the optimal point p_R^* ; similarly, solve Problem (5.17)-(5.19) with the given $R_{\text{sum}} = r$ and obtain the optimal point p_{R1}^* .
 - 3. Update r with the bi-section search: For the sum relay power constraint

case, if $p_R^* \leq P_R$, set $r_{\text{low}} = r$; otherwise, set $r_{\text{up}} = r$. For the individual relay power constraint case, if $p_{R1}^* \leq P_{R1}$, set $r_{\text{low}} = r$; otherwise, set $r_{\text{up}} = r$.

• Until $r_{\rm up} - r_{\rm low} < \epsilon$.

Here, the upper limit r_{max} of the searching range can be determined by the cut-set upper bound shown in Section VI.

For the sum relay power constraint case, as shown in [54], if the rank of the optimal solution of Problem (5.16) is larger than 1, an equivalently optimal rank-1 solution can be efficiently constructed via finding a matrix decomposition as in [55] and solving a linear programming problem as in Appendix E of [54].

For the individual relay power constraint case, we have the following theorem to guarantee that the rank-1 solution of the power minimization Problem (5.17)-(5.19) can be efficiently constructed. ¹ As shown in Remark G.1, the proposed algorithm for the construction of rank-1 solution is much more efficient than that given in [56].

Theorem B.1 Assuming that an optimal solution C^* with rank r > 1 is found for Problem (5.17)-(5.19), a rank-1 solution C^{**} can be constructed based on C^* efficiently.

Proof: See Appendix 1. ■

In conclusion, for both the sum and individual relay power constraint cases, Problem (5.13) can be efficiently solved.

¹Note that the existence conditions of rank-1 solutions for general quadratic SDP relaxation problems are nicely summarized in [56]. Our result here can be considered as a special case, with a differently tailored rank-1 construction routine.

2. Optimizing (p_1, p_2) at the Sources

In this subsection, we fix \boldsymbol{c} and optimize over p_1 and p_2 . Problem (5.11) is rewritten as

$$\max_{R_{\text{sum}},p_1,p_2} R_{\text{sum}} \tag{5.20}$$

s. t.
$$p_1 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{11} \boldsymbol{c} - p_2 \lambda_1 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{12} \boldsymbol{c} \ge \lambda_1 \left(\boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{1n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right),$$
 (5.21)

$$p_2 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{22} \boldsymbol{c} - p_1 \lambda_2 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{21} \boldsymbol{c} \ge \lambda_2 \left(\boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{2n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right), \qquad (5.22)$$

$$(p_1, p_2) \in \mathcal{P}. \tag{5.23}$$

where λ_1 and λ_2 are defined the same as before. It is easy to check that this problem is not convex, due to the non-convex constraints (5.21) and (5.22). However, by fixing R_{sum} as a constant, consider the following feasibility problem:

$$\inf_{\{p_1, p_2\}} 0$$
(5.24)

s. t.
$$p_1 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{11} \boldsymbol{c} - p_2 \lambda_1 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{12} \boldsymbol{c} \ge \lambda_1 \left(\boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{1n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right),$$
 (5.25)

$$p_2 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{22} \boldsymbol{c} - p_1 \lambda_2 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{21} \boldsymbol{c} \ge \lambda_2 \left(\boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{2n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right), \qquad (5.26)$$

$$(p_1, p_2) \in \mathcal{P}. \tag{5.27}$$

Thus, Problem (5.20)-(5.23) can be efficiently solved via a bisection search method over R_{sum} , since for a given R_{sum} at each searching step, Problem (5.24)-(5.27) is convex over (p_1, p_2) .

For Problem (5.24)-(5.27), we have the following result to efficiently check its feasibility. First, consider the two hyperplanes defined as follows:

$$\begin{cases}
p_1 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{11} \boldsymbol{c} - p_2 \lambda_1 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{12} \boldsymbol{c} = \lambda_1 \left(\boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{1n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right) \\
-p_1 \lambda_2 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{21} \boldsymbol{c} + p_2 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{22} \boldsymbol{c} = \lambda_2 \left(\boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{2n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right)
\end{cases}, \quad p_1, p_2 \in \mathcal{R}.$$
(5.28)

For each of the hyperplanes, the set of (p_1, p_2) actually forms a straight line. It is

observed that there may be one intersection point $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$ of these two hyperplanes, where \tilde{p}_i is given as

$$\widetilde{p}_{1} = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} \lambda_{1} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{1n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right) & -\lambda_{1} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{12} \boldsymbol{c} \\ \lambda_{2} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{2n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right) & \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{22} \boldsymbol{c} \end{vmatrix}}{\begin{vmatrix} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{11} \boldsymbol{c} & -\lambda_{1} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{1n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right) \\ -\lambda_{2} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{21} \boldsymbol{c} & \lambda_{2} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{2n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right) \end{vmatrix}} \\ \begin{vmatrix} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{11} \boldsymbol{c} & -\lambda_{1} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{12} \boldsymbol{c} \\ -\lambda_{2} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{21} \boldsymbol{c} & \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{22} \boldsymbol{c} \end{vmatrix}}, \quad \widetilde{p}_{2} = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{11} \boldsymbol{c} & \lambda_{1} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{1n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right) \\ -\lambda_{2} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{21} \boldsymbol{c} & \lambda_{2} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{2n} \boldsymbol{c} + 1 \right) \end{vmatrix}}{\begin{vmatrix} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{11} \boldsymbol{c} & -\lambda_{1} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{12} \boldsymbol{c} \\ -\lambda_{2} \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{21} \boldsymbol{c} & \boldsymbol{c}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{22} \boldsymbol{c} \end{vmatrix}}.$$

$$(5.29)$$

Then, we have the following result for the feasibility of Problem (5.24)-(5.27).

Proposition B.1 Problem (5.24)-(5.27) is feasible if and only if $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$ defined in (5.29) exists and satisfies the source power constraint in (5.27).

Proof: The "if" part is obvious, and thus its proof is omitted. For the "only if" part, since $\mathbf{c}^H \mathbf{W}_{i,j} \mathbf{c} \geq 0$, i, j = 1, 2, it is easy to check that only when $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$ exists and $\tilde{p}_i \geq 0$, i = 1, 2, Problem (5.24)-(5.27) may be feasible, as shown in Fig. 20. Then, we only need to prove that if Problem (5.24)-(5.27) is feasible, $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$ always satisfies the relay power constraint (5.27). To see this point, it is noticed that the slopes of these two lines defined in (5.28) are both non-negative (also due to the fact that $\mathbf{c}^H \mathbf{W}_{i,j} \mathbf{c} \geq 0$, and see Fig. 20), such that any feasible point (\hat{p}_1, \hat{p}_2) defined by constraint (5.25)-(5.26) must satisfy $\tilde{p}_i \leq \hat{p}_i$, i = 1, 2. With the individual source power constraint, if (\hat{p}_1, \hat{p}_2) is feasible, it is easy to check that $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$ is also feasible; with the sum source power constraint, if (\hat{p}_1, \hat{p}_2) is feasible, we conclude that $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$ is also feasible since $\tilde{p}_1 + \tilde{p}_2 \leq \hat{p}_1 + \hat{p}_2 \leq P_s$. In other words, if Problem (5.24)-(5.27) is feasible, $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$ is always a feasible point of Problem (5.24)-(5.27). Therefore, this proposition is proved. ■

Based on this proposition, the feasibility of Problem (5.24)-(5.27) can be checked



Fig. 20.: One example of the feasible set of Problem (5.24)-(5.27) with sum source power constraint.

as follows. First, compute $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$. We then check whether $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$ satisfies constraint (5.27) or not: If it is, Problem (5.24)-(5.27) is feasible; if not, Problem (5.24)-(5.27) is not. As such, we obtain the following algorithm to solve Problem (5.20)-(5.23).

Algorithm 2:

- Initialize $r_{\text{low}} = 0$ and $r_{\text{up}} = r_{\text{max}}$;
- Repeat
 - 1. Set $\frac{1}{2}(r_{\text{low}} + r_{\text{up}}) \rightarrow r;$
 - 2. Set $R_{\text{sum}} = r$, and obtain $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$ by using (5.29);
 - 3. Update r with the bi-section search: If $(\tilde{p}_1, \tilde{p}_2)$ satisfies constraint (5.27), set $r_{\text{low}} = r$; otherwise, set $r_{\text{up}} = r$.
- Until $r_{\rm up} r_{\rm low} < \epsilon$.

Here, $r_{\rm max}$ can also be chosen as the cut-set bound given in Section VI.

3. Iterative Algorithm

Based on the above analysis, we summarize the iterative algorithm for Problem (5.11) for a particular rate profile vector $\boldsymbol{\beta}$ as:

Algorithm 3:

- Set the initial values of (p_1, p_2) ;
- Repeat
 - 1. Solve Problem (5.13) by using Algorithm 1, and obtain a rank-1 solution c_i^* by using Appendix 1;
 - 2. Set $\boldsymbol{c} = \boldsymbol{c}_i^*$, and solve Problem (5.20)-(5.23) by using Algorithm 2. Denote (p_{1i}^*, p_{2i}^*) as the optimal point obtained in this stage, and set this pair as the initial value for the next round of iteration;
- Until an accuracy requirement is met.

The initial values of (p_1, p_2) are chosen based on the following observations: For the sum source power constraint case, it is a necessary condition for the optimal (p_1^*, p_2^*) that the equality of the sum source power constraint is achieved; otherwise, we can scale the pair simultaneously with a factor $\frac{P_S}{p_1+p_2}$, and then the new pair will give a rate pair larger than the previous one. As such, we choose the initial values as $p_1 = \alpha P_S$ and $p_2 = (1 - \alpha)P_S$, where $\alpha \in [0, 1]$. For the individual source power constraint case, it is necessary at the optimal point that at least one of source powers should be equal to its maximum value; otherwise, with a similar argument of scaling, a higher rate can be achieved. Thus, we choose $p_1 = P_{S1}$ and $p_2 = \alpha P_{S2}$, or $p_1 = \alpha P_{S1}$ and $p_2 = P_{S2}$.

With the above two-stage iteration scheme for the source power allocation and

relay combining problem as defined in (5.11), we have the following proposition addressing the convergence issue.

Proposition B.2 The optimal value given by using Algorithm 3 is convergent for arbitrary initial values and channel realizations under both individual and sum power constraints at the sources and relays.

Proof: Denote the sum rate in the *i*-th iteration of Algorithm 3 after the first and the second stages as $R_{\text{sum}}^{(1i)}$ and $R_{\text{sum}}^{(2i)}$, respectively. Since the optimal values of each stage satisfy $R_{\text{sum}}^{(11)} \leq R_{\text{sum}}^{(12)} \leq R_{\text{sum}}^{(21)} \leq R_{\text{sum}}^{(22)} \leq \cdots$, where $R_{\text{sum}}^{(ij)}$ is an upper-bounded sequence (e.g., bounded by the cut-set upper bound given in Section E), this proposition is proved. ■

It is worth noting that although the optimal value of Problem (5.11) obtained by using Algorithm 3 is convergent, its associated optimal point may not converge. This is due to the fact that during each iteration, the optimal points of Problem (5.16) and Problem (5.17)-(5.19) may not be unique. Moreover, even when the optimal point obtained by using Algorithm 3 converges, it may not be globally optimal, due to the non-convexity of the overall problem in (5.11). As such, Algorithm 3 may not obtain all the boundary points of the AF rate region defined in (5.10); however, it still provides a meaningful inner bound for the capacity region of the considered two-hop interference network.

Remark B.2 By setting $c_{12} = c_{21} = 0$, Problem (5.11) degrades to the traditional two-hop AF interference networks without conferencing [34], where the proposed algorithms are still valid and also provide a relatively simple way to compute a suboptimal solution. As far as we know, there are no efficient algorithms to compute the global optimal solution for such a problem, except for the exhaustive search method. Thus, we may conclude that our AF scheme with the help of relay conferencing is more general than the traditional AF scheme, and the newly derived rate region is equal to or larger than that of the traditional case, if the same two-stage iteration algorithm is used. This is also true for the joint decoding scheme discussed in the next section.

C. Two-User Joint Decoding

With the joint decoding scheme, each destination tries to decode both of the source messages independently. Thus, the overall channel given in (5.7) is indeed the compound MAC [21,22]. Accordingly, for each receiver, the rate pair is within the capacity region of a MAC, and the rate region for the two-hop interference network is given as the intersection of capacity regions of the two MACs, which is given as

$$\begin{cases}
R_{1} \leq \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{p_{1}c^{H}W_{i1}c}{c^{H}W_{in}c+1} \right) \\
R_{2} \leq \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{p_{2}c^{H}W_{i2}c}{c^{H}W_{in}c+1} \right) , \quad i = 1, 2, \quad (5.30) \\
R_{1} + R_{2} \leq \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \frac{p_{1}c^{H}W_{i1}c+p_{2}c^{H}W_{i2}c}{c^{H}W_{in}c+1} \right)
\end{cases}$$

where W_{ij} 's and W_{in} 's are defined the same as in the previous section. Similarly, using the rate profile method, we have the following sum rate maximization problem to characterize the rate region:

$$\max_{R_{\text{sum}}, \boldsymbol{c}, p_{1}, p_{2}} R_{\text{sum}}$$
(5.31)
s. t. $p_{1}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{i1}\boldsymbol{c} \geq \lambda_{1} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{in}\boldsymbol{c}+1\right),$
 $p_{2}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{i2}\boldsymbol{c} \geq \lambda_{2} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{in}\boldsymbol{c}+1\right),$
 $p_{1}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{i1}\boldsymbol{c}+p_{2}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{i2}\boldsymbol{c} \geq \lambda_{0} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{in}\boldsymbol{c}+1\right),$
 $\left(p_{1}, p_{2}\right) \in \mathcal{P}, \ \boldsymbol{c} \in \mathcal{C}, \ i = 1, 2,$

where $\lambda_0 = 2^{2R_{\text{sum}}} - 1$, λ_1 and λ_2 are defined the same as in the previous section. Since Problem (5.31) is non-convex, we adopt the same two-stage iterative method as Algorithm 3. Specifically, we first fix (p_1, p_2) and optimize over c; but unfortunately, this problem is not convex. Equivalently, we rewrite this problem as

$$\max_{R_{sum}, \mathbf{C}} R_{sum}$$
(5.32)
s. t. Tr $((p_1 \mathbf{W}_{i1} - \lambda_1 \mathbf{W}_{in}) \mathbf{C}) \ge \lambda_1,$
Tr $((p_2 \mathbf{W}_{i2} - \lambda_2 \mathbf{W}_{in}) \mathbf{C}) \ge \lambda_2,$
Tr $((p_1 \mathbf{W}_{i1} + p_2 \mathbf{W}_{i2} - \lambda_0 \mathbf{W}_{in}) \mathbf{C}) \ge \lambda_0,$
Rank $(\mathbf{C}) = 1, \mathbf{C} \succeq 0, \mathbf{C} \in \mathcal{C}_0, i = 1, 2,$

where C_0 is defined the same as the previous section. By using the SDR approach [53], we solve the following problem to obtain an approximate solution by ignoring the rank-1 constraint:

$$\max_{R_{sum},C} R_{sum} \qquad (5.33)$$
s. t.
$$\operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(p_1 \boldsymbol{W}_{i1} - \lambda_1 \boldsymbol{W}_{in} \right) \boldsymbol{C} \right) \geq \lambda_1,$$

$$\operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(p_2 \boldsymbol{W}_{i2} - \lambda_2 \boldsymbol{W}_{in} \right) \boldsymbol{C} \right) \geq \lambda_2,$$

$$\operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(p_1 \boldsymbol{W}_{i1} + p_2 \boldsymbol{W}_{i2} - \lambda_0 \boldsymbol{W}_{in} \right) \boldsymbol{C} \right) \geq \lambda_0,$$

$$\boldsymbol{C} \succeq 0, \ \boldsymbol{C} \in \mathcal{C}_0, \ i = 1, 2.$$

This problem can be efficiently solved via the bi-section search over R_{sum} (similar to Algorithm 2), since for each given R_{sum} , the resulting feasibility problem is a convex SDP problem. Generally, the optimal point C^* of Problem (5.33) is not of rank-1, and the rank-1 reconstruction method in Section III cannot be applied here. Instead, we turn to the following approximate randomization method [57]: Calculate the eigendecomposition for C^* as $C^* = UDU^H$, and choose $c_l = c_l UD^{1/2} v_l$, where the elements of v_l are independent complex random variables with zero-mean and unitvariance and c_l is a constant to make c_l satisfy the equality of the power constraints in Problem (5.32). In the simulations, we generate a set of c_l , $l = 1, \dots, L$, and choose the one which maximizes R_{sum} as the optimal point c^* for Problem (5.31).

Then, we fix $\boldsymbol{c} = \boldsymbol{c}^*$ and optimize over (p_1, p_2) . Note that for the individual source power constraint case, each source should transmit with its maximum power. With the sum source power constraint, the source power allocation problem is then given as

$$\max_{R_{\text{sum}},p_{1},p_{2}} R_{\text{sum}}$$
(5.34)
s. t. $p_{1}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{i1}\boldsymbol{c} \geq \lambda_{1} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{in}\boldsymbol{c}+1\right),$
 $p_{2}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{i2}\boldsymbol{c} \geq \lambda_{2} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{in}\boldsymbol{c}+1\right),$
 $p_{1}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{i1}\boldsymbol{c}+p_{2}\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{i2}\boldsymbol{c} \geq \lambda_{0} \left(\boldsymbol{c}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{in}\boldsymbol{c}+1\right),$
 $\left(p_{1},p_{2}\right) \in \mathcal{P}, \ i=1,2.$

This problem is a convex problem over (R_{sum}, p_1, p_2) , which can be efficiently solved by some optimization tools, e.g., CVX [47].

As the above two steps iterate, since we cannot exactly solve Problem (5.32), the approximate solution of Problem (5.32) may not strictly improve the sum rate compared to the previous iteration. Hence, when we iteratively compute Problem (5.33) and Problem (5.34), the sum rate sequence may not be convergent. To minimize this deficiency, we take the following two measures: First, we choose a relatively large L for the randomization method used in rank-1 construction for Problem (5.33); second, we terminate the iteration mannually, when the iteration cannot improve the sum rate anymore. Accordingly, we summarize the algorithm as follows.

Algorithm 4:

• Set the initial values of (p_1, p_2) ;

• Repeat

- 1. Solve Problem (5.33) via the bi-section search method over R_{sum} , and use the randomization method to construct a rank-1 solution c_i^* ;
- 2. Set $\boldsymbol{c} = \boldsymbol{c}_i^*$, and solve Problem (5.34). Denote R_{sum}^* and (p_{1i}^*, p_{2i}^*) as the optimal sum rate and source power pair obtained in this stage, respectively. Set (p_{1i}^*, p_{2i}^*) as the initial value for the next round of iteration;
- Until the maximum iteration number is reached, or R_{sum}^* is less than or equal to that in the previous iteration.

The initial values of (p_1, p_2) can be set the same as those in the previous section for the sum source power constraint case. Note that Algorithm 4 is used only for the sum source power constraint case; for the individual source power constraint case, we only need to set $p_1 = P_{S1}$ and $p_2 = P_{S2}$, and directly solve Problem (5.33).

D. Asymptotic Behaviors of the Two Decoding Schemes

In the above two sections, we presented two different decoding schemes. In this section, we study the performance of these schemes in both the high and low SNR regimes.

1. High SNR Regime

In this subsection, we assume that both the source and relay powers go to infinity.

Proposition D.1 When the source and relay powers scale with the same order, i.e., $a_1P_S \leq P_R \leq a_2P_S$, where a_1 and a_2 are positive constants, the two-hop interference network with relay conferencing achieves DoF of one by using the single-user decoding scheme if

$$\boldsymbol{w}_{11}, \boldsymbol{w}_{22} \notin \mathcal{O}\left(\boldsymbol{w}_{12}, \boldsymbol{w}_{21}\right), \tag{5.35}$$

where $\mathcal{O}(\boldsymbol{w}_{12}, \boldsymbol{w}_{21})$ is the subspace spanned by \boldsymbol{w}_{12} and \boldsymbol{w}_{21} ; it achieves DoF of $\frac{1}{2}$ by the joint decoding scheme with arbitrary channel realizations.

Proof: See Appendix 2. \blacksquare

Note that condition (5.35) is usually satisfied in practice. For example, if these channel coefficients are i.i.d., by the theory of random matrix, we know that condition (5.35) is satisfied almost surely. Moreover, from the proof, we know that in the high SNR regime, the relay combining vector can be chosen to be orthogonal to the "interference space", which is indeed the interference cancelation scheme [40].

Remark D.1 Considering the cut-set bound [36] and the half-duplex relaying constraint, the maximum DoF value of the two-hop interference networks is one. Thus, Proposition D.1 indeed proves that in the high SNR regime, single-user decoding with interference cancelation at the relay is asymptotically optimal for the AF relaying scheme in the sense of achieving the maximum DoF. As shown in [36], for the case without relay conferencing, only $\frac{3}{4}$ DoF is achieved (under the half-duplex constraint) with the AF scheme and constant channel coefficients. In conclusion, it is shown that relay conferencing closes the gap between the DoF achieved by the AF relaying scheme and the DoF upper bound in high SNR regime.

2. Low SNR Case

In this subsection, we consider the case that the source and relay powers both go to zero.

Proposition D.2 The achievable rate regions obtained by using the single-user and

joint decoding schemes are asymptotically the same when the source and relay transmission powers both go to zero.

Proof: First, we have $\log(1+x) \to \frac{x}{\ln 2}$ and $1+x \to 1$, as $x \to 0$. Using these results, it is easy to observe that both the rate regions given by (5.10) and (5.30) are asymptotically equal to

$$\begin{cases} R_1 \leq \frac{1}{2\ln 2} p_1 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{11} \boldsymbol{c} \\ R_2 \leq \frac{1}{2\ln 2} p_2 \boldsymbol{c}^H \boldsymbol{W}_{22} \boldsymbol{c} \end{cases}$$
(5.36)

Thus, this proposition is proved. \blacksquare

E. Simulation Results

In this section, we present some simulation results to validate our analysis about the achievable rate regions for both the two decoding schemes. For convenience, we assume that for the conferencing links, $\theta_{i,3-i} = 0$, i = 1, 2; for other links, h_{ii} and g_{ii} , i = 1, 2, are i.i.d. CSCG with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0, 1)$, and $h_{i,3-i}$ and $g_{i,3-i}$ are also i.i.d. CSCG with distributions $\mathcal{CN}(0, a)$ and $\mathcal{CN}(0, b)$, respectively, where a and bare parameters reflecting the power of the cross-link interference at each hop.

In the simulations, we only consider two typical scenarios: 1) The first hop is a weak IC, and the second hop is a strong interference channel, i.e., a < 1 and b > 1, respectively; and 2) both of the two hops are weak ICs, i.e., a, b < 1. Specifically, the two scenarios are set up as:

- 1. Scenario I: a = 0.1; b = 10;
- 2. Scenario II: a = 0.1; b = 0.1.

Moreover, we only present the results for the sum source/relay power constraints, and the cases with individual power constraints are omitted for conciseness. All the First, we study the effect of initial values of the source power pair (p_1, p_2) , where we pick a particular boundary point that gives the maximum R_{\min} , where $R_{\min} = \min(R_1, R_2)$ and it is computed by setting the rate profile vector $\boldsymbol{\beta} = [0.5, 0.5]$. As shown in Fig. 21(a) and Fig. 21(b), we plot R_{\min} over different initial power allocation factors $\alpha = \frac{p_1}{P_S}$ for both scenarios I and II with different SNR values. For the conferencing links, we set $\gamma_{12} = \gamma_{21} = \gamma_c = 0$ dB, and the maximum number of iterations for both algorithms as 5. It is observed that for the high SNR case, R_{\min} is not sensitive to the initial values, except for the case when α is close to 0; for the low SNR case, the initial value of α plays a relatively important role compared to the high SNR case, and the peak R_{\min} is usually achieved for $\alpha \in [0.4, 0.6]$. Moreover, it is also observed that for both high and low SNR cases, single-user decoding performs better than joint decoding in Scenario II, and vice versa for Scenario I. However, this may not be true for the case with general SNR values.

Next, we compare the AF achievable rate region with the capacity upper bound. The upper bound used in this chapter is derived by the MAC and BC cut-set bounds [28] and is given by

$$C_{\text{upper}}(R_1, R_2) = C_{\text{MAC}}(R_1, R_2) \bigcap C_{\text{BC}}(R_1, R_2),$$
(5.37)

where $C_{\text{MAC}}(R_1, R_2)$ is the MAC channel rate region [28] with a sum source power constraint, and $C_{\text{BC}}(R_1, R_2)$ is the BC channel rate region, which can be characterized by the MAC-BC duality [28, 58]. The cut-set bound corresponds to the case where the conferencing link SNR goes to infinity, for which these two relays can be regarded as two co-located antennas.

In Fig. 22 and Fig. 23, we plot the AF achievable rates without time sharing



Fig. 21.: The effect of initial value on the maximum minimum rate R_{\min} , $\gamma_c = 0$ dB, $\beta = [0.5, 0.5]$.



(b) Low SNR case: $P_S = P_R = 0$ dB.

Fig. 22.: The achievable rate region for Scenario I, $\gamma_c=0$ dB.





Fig. 23.: The achievable rate region for Scenario II, $\gamma_c=0$ dB.

or convex hulling and the capacity upper bound under different channel conditions. It is observed that the AF relaying scheme performs better in the high SNR regime than in the low SNR regime. For Scenario I with conferencing link SNR $\gamma_0 = 0$ dB, the joint decoding scheme is always better than the single-user decoding scheme, and the performance difference is more significant in the high SNR regime; for Scenario II, single-user decoding scheme performs always better.

Finally, we examine the effect of the conferencing link quality on the minimum rate. In Fig. 24(a) and Fig. 24(b), we plot $R_{\rm min}$ over different conferencing link SNRs for both of the two scenarios with different source and relay power levels. Moreover, we show the results for the case without relay conferencing by using exhaustive search, which provides a benchmark to illustrate the improvement induced by relay conferencing. It is observed that for the high source/relay power case, relay conferencing brings a relatively large gain for single-user decoding at scenario I compared with those with other setups; for the low source/relay power case, relay conferencing significantly improves the rates for both the two decoding schemes at scenario I, while it introduces a little rate gain for scenario II. Furthermore, most of the gain introduced by relay conferencing can be achieved when $\gamma_c \approx 20$ dB.

F. Summary

In this chapter, we investigated the source power allocation and relay combining strategies for the two-hop AF interference network with conferencing relays. By using the rate profile method, we developed a two-stage iterative algorithm to efficiently characterize the achievable rate region for both the single-user decoding and joint decoding schemes. In particular, we proposed a more efficient routine to compute the optimal solution for the relay combining problem under the individual relay power



(b) Low SNR case: $P_S = P_R = 0$ dB.

Fig. 24.: The effect of conferencing link SNR on the minimum rate R_{\min} , $\beta = [0.5, 0.5]$.

constraint. Moreover, we showed that relay conferencing can improve the DoF in the high SNR regime compared to the case without conferencing. In particular, the single-user decoding scheme is asymptotically optimal to achieve the DoF upper bound with simple linear beamforming schemes, while the joint decoding scheme is strictly suboptimal in term of DoF.

G. Appendix

1. Proof of Theorem B.1 and the Computation Complexity Analysis

First, we cite the following lemma, which is proved in [59].

Lemma G.1 Given that $Tr(\mathbf{AC}^*) \ge 0$ and $Tr(\mathbf{BC}^*) \ge 0$, there exists a decomposition for \mathbf{C}^* such that

$$\boldsymbol{C}^* = \sum_{j=1}^r \boldsymbol{x}_j \boldsymbol{x}_j^H, \qquad (5.38)$$

and $\boldsymbol{x}_j^H \boldsymbol{A} \boldsymbol{x}_j \geq 0, \ \boldsymbol{x}_j^H \boldsymbol{B} \boldsymbol{x}_j \geq 0, \ j = 1, \cdots, r.$

We consider the third constraint in (5.18), and denote $p_0 = \text{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}_{R2}\boldsymbol{C}^*)$. Since \boldsymbol{W}_{R2} is positive semidefinite, we have $p_0 \geq 0$. First, let us consider the case $p_0 > 0$. By Lemma G.1, let $\boldsymbol{A} = \boldsymbol{F}_1 - \frac{1}{p_0} \boldsymbol{W}_{R2}$ and $\boldsymbol{B} = \boldsymbol{F}_2 - \frac{1}{p_0} \boldsymbol{W}_{R2}$, we obtain that there exists $\boldsymbol{C}^* = \sum_{j=1}^r \boldsymbol{x}_j \boldsymbol{x}_j^H$ with $\boldsymbol{x}_j^H \left(\boldsymbol{F}_1 - \frac{1}{p_0} \boldsymbol{W}_{R2} \right) \boldsymbol{x}_j \geq 0$, $\boldsymbol{x}_j^H \left(\boldsymbol{F}_2 - \frac{1}{p_0} \boldsymbol{W}_{R2} \right) \boldsymbol{x}_j \geq 0$, $j = 1, \cdots, r$. Define $y_{i,j} = \boldsymbol{x}_j^H \boldsymbol{W}_{Ri} \boldsymbol{x}_j$, and $z_{i,j} = \boldsymbol{x}_j^H \boldsymbol{F}_i \boldsymbol{x}_j$, i = 1, 2, and $j = 1, \cdots, r$. Thus, it is easy to check that Problem (5.17)-(5.19) has the same minimum objective value as the following linear programming (LP) problem

$$\min_{t_1,\cdots,t_r} \sum_{j=1}^r y_{1,j} t_j$$
s. t.
$$\sum_{j=1}^r z_{1,j} t_j \ge 1, \quad \sum_{j=1}^r z_{2,j} t_j \ge 1, \quad \sum_{j=1}^r \frac{y_{2,j}}{p_0} t_j = 1,$$

$$t_j \ge 0, \quad j = 1, \cdots, r,$$
(5.39)

which is based on the facts that for each feasible set of $t_j \ge 0$, $\sum_{j=1}^r t_j \boldsymbol{x}_j \boldsymbol{x}_j^H$ corresponds to a feasible solution for Problem (5.17)-(5.19), such that when $t_j = 1$, $\forall j$, the same minimum value can be achieved in both the above LP problem and the Problem (5.17)-(5.19). By Lemma G.1, we obtain $z_{i,j} \ge \frac{1}{p_0} y_{2,j}$ for any i and j. Thus, for any t_j 's, we have $\sum_{j=1}^r z_{1,j} t_j \ge \frac{1}{p_0} \sum_{j=1}^r y_{2,j} t_j = 1$ and $\sum_{j=1}^r z_{2,j} t_j \ge \frac{1}{p_0} \sum_{j=1}^r y_{2,j} t_j = 1$. As such, Problem (5.39) is further equivalent to the following problem

$$\min_{t_1,\dots,t_r} \sum_{j=1}^r y_{1,j} t_j$$
s. t.
$$\sum_{j=1}^r \frac{y_{2,j}}{p_0} t_j = 1, \ t_j \ge 0, \ j = 1, \dots, r.$$
(5.40)

Therefore, by the property of basic feasible solution for LP, we can prove that there is at least one optimal solution of Problem (5.40) with only one $t_{j_0} > 0$ and all other t_j 's equal to zero. Then, the optimal rank-1 solution is given as $C^{**} = t_{j_0} \boldsymbol{x}_{j_0} \boldsymbol{x}_{j_0}^H$.

For the case $p_0 = 0$, without loss of generality, we assume $\operatorname{Tr} ((\mathbf{F}_1 - \mathbf{F}_2) \mathbf{C}^*) \geq 0$ (otherwise, we could reverse the following definitions), and let $\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{F}_1 - q_2 \mathbf{F}_2$, where $q_2 = \operatorname{Tr} (\mathbf{F}_2 \mathbf{C}^*)$. Then, by Lemma G.1, we obtain that there exists $\mathbf{C}^* = \sum_{j=1}^r \mathbf{x}_j \mathbf{x}_j^H$, and $\mathbf{x}_j^H (\mathbf{F}_1 - \mathbf{F}_2) \mathbf{x}_j \geq 0$, $j = 1, \dots, r$. Define $y_{i,j}$ and $z_{i,j}$ the same as the previous case, and consider the following problem, which also has the same minimum optimal value as problem (5.17)-(5.19).

$$\min_{t_1,\cdots,t_r} \sum_{j=1}^r y_{1,j} t_j$$
s. t.
$$\sum_{j=1}^r z_{1,j} t_j \ge 1, \quad \sum_{j=1}^r \frac{z_{2,j}}{q_2} t_j = 1, \quad \sum_{j=1}^r y_{2,j} t_j = 0,$$

$$t_j \ge 0, \quad j = 1, \cdots, r.$$
(5.41)

By the same argument as the previous case, we obtain $\sum_{j=1}^{r} z_{1,j}t_j \ge \sum_{j=1}^{r} \frac{z_{2,j}}{q_2}t_j =$ 1 for any t_j , which means that $\sum_{j=1}^{r} z_{1,j}t_j \ge 1$ is redundant. Moreover, since W_{R2} is positive semidefinite, we have $y_{2,j} = \boldsymbol{x}_j^H \boldsymbol{W}_{R2} \boldsymbol{x}_j \ge 0$; on the other hand, we have $0 = \text{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}_{R2}\boldsymbol{C}^*) = \sum_{j=1}^{r} y_{2,j}$. Based on these two observations, we conclude $y_{2,j} = 0$ for any j. Thus, for any t_j , $\sum_{j=1}^{r} y_{2,j}t_j = 0$ is always true, which means that this constraint is also redundant. Accordingly, Problem (5.41) is equivalent to

$$\min_{t_1,\dots,t_r} \sum_{j=1}^r y_{1,j} t_j$$
s. t.
$$\sum_{j=1}^r \frac{z_{2,j}}{q_2} t_j \ge 1, \ t_j \ge 0, \ j = 1, \dots, r.$$
(5.42)

By the same argument as the $p_0 > 0$ case, we know that the rank-1 solution can be efficiently constructed, which is given as $C^{**} = t_{j_0} \boldsymbol{x}_{j_0} \boldsymbol{x}_{j_0}^H$ with j_0 indexing the single positive t_j . In conclusion, the theorem is proved.

Remark G.1 It is worth noting that to solve the linear programming problem in (5.42), we only need to find the minimum value among $y_{1,j}t_j$, $j = 1, \dots, r$, where $t_j = \frac{q_2}{z_{2,j}}$, i.e., solve

$$\min_{j} \left\{ y_{1,j} \frac{q_2}{z_{2,j}} \right\}.$$
 (5.43)

Thus, for the proposed algorithm for the construction of the rank-1 solution, the

computation burden is mainly on how to find the matrix decomposition in Lemma G.1. By [59, 60], this matrix decomposition can be obtained by using only one eigendecomposition routine for matrix C^* , whose computation complexity is on the order of $\mathcal{O}(N^3)$ [61], with N the dimension of C^* , and some linear operations with the complexity on the order of $\mathcal{O}(N^2)$. Since the proposed algorithm for the construction of the rank-1 solution is a one-shot scheme, i.e., iterations are not needed, its computation complexity is on the order of $\mathcal{O}(N^3)$. On the other hand, for Algorithm 1 in [56], it is observed that for each iteration, we need to compute two eigen-decomposition routines for two matrices with dimensions of N and r, respectively, and all other linear operations are with the complexity on the order of $\mathcal{O}(N^2)$. Moreover, it is easy to check that this algorithm requires only one iteration for the best case (i.e., r = 2), while N - 1 iterations for the worst case (i.e., r = N). Thus, its worst-case complexity is on the order of $\mathcal{O}(N^4)$. Based on the above analysis, we conclude that the proposed algorithm for the construction of the rank-1 solution is more efficient than that in [56] especially when r is large.

2. Proof of Theorem D.1

For the single-user decoding method, from (5.10), we observe that W_{12} and W_{12} are both of rank-1. By condition (5.35), there always exists a \mathbf{c}_{01} such that $\mathbf{c}_{01}^H W_{12} \mathbf{c}_{01} =$ $|\mathbf{w}_{12}^H \mathbf{c}_{01}|^2 = 0$, $\mathbf{c}_{01}^H W_{21} \mathbf{c}_{01} = |\mathbf{w}_{21}^H \mathbf{c}_{01}|^2 = 0$, and $\mathbf{w}_{11}^H \mathbf{c}_{01} \neq 0$. Similarly, there exists a \mathbf{c}_{02} such that $\mathbf{c}_{02}^H W_{12} \mathbf{c}_{02} = |\mathbf{w}_{12}^H \mathbf{c}_{02}|^2 = 0$, $\mathbf{c}_{02}^H W_{21} \mathbf{c}_{02} = |\mathbf{w}_{21}^H \mathbf{c}_{02}|^2 = 0$, and $\mathbf{w}_{22}^H \mathbf{c}_{02} \neq$ 0. Thus, we let $\mathbf{c}_0 = d(\mathbf{c}_{01} + \mathbf{c}_{02})$, where d is a constant making the relay power constraint satisfied. Here, we assume $\langle \mathbf{c}_{01}, \mathbf{c}_{02} \rangle \geq 0$, which can be satisfied by changing the direction of one of them without violating the previous conditions. Provided with this c_0 and the rate pair given by (5.10), we have

$$R_{i} = \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + p_{i} \frac{\boldsymbol{c}_{0}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{ii} \boldsymbol{c}_{0}}{\boldsymbol{c}_{0}^{H} \boldsymbol{W}_{in} \boldsymbol{c}_{0} + 1} \right), \ i = 1, 2.$$
 (5.44)

Furthermore, we have

$$\frac{\boldsymbol{c}_{0}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{ii}\boldsymbol{c}_{0}}{\boldsymbol{c}_{0}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{in}\boldsymbol{c}_{0}+1} \geq \frac{\boldsymbol{c}_{0}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}_{ii}\boldsymbol{c}_{0}}{\sigma|\boldsymbol{c}_{0}|^{2}+1}$$
(5.45)

$$\geq \frac{d|\boldsymbol{c}_{0i}^{H}\boldsymbol{w}_{ii}|^{2}}{\sigma|\boldsymbol{c}_{0}|^{2}+1},\tag{5.46}$$

where σ is the largest eigenvalue of W_{in} . Since W_{in} is a positive semidefinite and non-zero matrix, we know $\sigma > 0$; and (5.46) is due to the assumption $\langle c_{01}, c_{02} \rangle \ge 0$. Moreover, when $a_1P_S \le P_R \le a_2P_S$, by (5.4), we know d > 0 when $P_S \to \infty$. Therefore, we conclude $\lim_{P_S\to\infty} \frac{R_i}{\log(P_S)} = \frac{1}{2}$, and the result for the single-user decoding case is proved.

For the joint decoding method, according to (5.30) and by as similar argument as the above analysis, it is easy to see $R_1 + R_2 \rightarrow \frac{1}{2} \log(d_0 P_S)$, as P_S goes to infinity, where d_0 is a positive constant. Thus, the theorem is proved.

CHAPTER VI

CONCLUSIONS

A. Summary of Dissertation Contributions

This dissertation investigated the information-theoretical bounds for the cooperative communication systems with relay conferencing. By designing the protocols jointly with the relaying and conferencing schemes, various achievable rates were obtained, and some capacity results were derived under certain special channel conditions. Moreover, we specified when relay conferencing can outperform the case without conferencing under different channel and network models with different channel conditions by either analysis or simulations. Specifically, we summarize the main contributions of this dissertation as follows.

- 1. We started with the simultaneous relaying diamond channel in Chapter 2, where the two relays were assumed to transmit and receive in the same time slot. We obtained the rate upper bound via the cut-set bounds and various achievable rates by modifying the conventional DF, CF, and AF relaying schemes. In particular, we obtained the following results.
 - (a) For the DF relaying scheme, we let the source transmit one common message to both relays and one private message to each relay. We proved that for the DMC case, the DF scheme achieves the rate upper bound with finite conferencing link rates; for the Gaussian channel case, the rate upper bound is asymptotically achieved when the source-to-relay link SNR go to infinity.
 - (b) For the CF relaying scheme, we developed three schemes: one using conferencing links to help the compression, and the other two using them

to partially or fully exchange the binning indices of the compressed receiver signals. We proved that for the Gaussian case, when the SNRs of the source-relay links or the relay-destination links go to infinity, the rate upper bound is asymptotically achievable.

- (c) For the AF relaying scheme, we investigated the optimal combining problem between the received signals from the source (via the source-relay link) and the other relay (via the conferencing link). Generally, the resulting problem is not a convex problem, while semidefinite relaxation is applied to transform it to a quasi-convex problem.
- 2. We then considered the alternative relaying diamond channel in Chapter 3, where the two relays transmit and receive in different time slots and exchange their modes alternatively. Two different conferencing strategies were proposed by utilizing the conferencing links in different amount of time, which lead to different decoding delays at the destination. For both of the two conferencing strategies with the general two-side conferencing scheme, we derived the DF and AF achievable rates. For the DF relaying scheme, we formulated the rate maximization problem as a LP problem; for the AF relaying scheme, it was shown that the optimal linear combining problem is convex. By exploiting the properties of the optimal solutions for the above two problems, we further obtained the following results:
 - (a) For the DF relaying scheme, it was proved that the one-side conferencing scheme is optimal to achieve the maximum DF rates achieved by the twoside conferencing scheme for both of the two conferencing strategies. Based on this property, we derived the DF rates in closed-form under different channel coefficients, and further determined: (i) when relay conferencing

is unnecessary; (ii) when relay conferencing is necessary, and which one of the conferencing links should be used. Moreover, we proved that the DF scheme achieves the rate upper bound under conferencing strategy I asymptotically as the conferencing link rates go to infinity, while only finite conferencing rates are required under strategy II.

- (b) For the AF relaying scheme, it was shown that: (i) When the secondhop relay-to-destination link SNRs become asymptotically large, two-side conferencing is necessary; (ii) when these link SNRs go to zero, one-side conferencing is asymptotically optimal, and each relay only needs to forward the signal with a higher SNR to the destination.
- 3. In Chapter 4, we applied relay conferencing to the large relay networks, which consists of one source-destination pair and N relays. In particular, the conferencing links were assumed to be SNR-limited and with the AF conferencing scheme. We obtained the DF and AF achievable rates, and further examined the asymptotic behaviors of these schemes as N goes to infinity. It was shown that the relay conferencing can improve the scaling order of the DF relaying scheme, and some asymptotic capacity results are established under certain conditions with the AF relaying scheme.
- 4. Finally, we considered the two-hop interference relay channels, which consist of two source-destination pair and two relays. Here, we only focused on two different decoding schemes at the destination: single-user decoding and joint decoding.
 - (a) We derived the AF achievable rate for the two decoding schemes under both the sum and individual source/relay power constraints. To effectively
quantify the rate region and solve the optimal source power allocation and relay combining problems, we adopted a two-stage iterative optimization method: First, we fixed the source power pair and maximized the sum rate over the relay combining vector under relay power constraints; second, we fixed the relay combining vector at the optimal point of the previous stage, and maximized the sum rate over the source power levels. Then, the iteration continued. We designed a new algorithm to compute the optimal solution for the relay combining problem under the individual relay power constraint, which is more efficient than the existing scheme especially for the worst-case scenario.

- (b) We compared the single-user and joint decoding schemes under both the high and low SNR assumptions, and obtained the following results: As the SNR goes to infinity, the single-user decoding scheme is asymptotically optimal in the sense of achieving the maximum DoF of 1, while without relay conferencing, only 3/4 DoF can be achieved by the AF scheme; as the SNR goes to zero, both the decoding schemes achieve the same rate region asymptotically.
- B. Future Work

We propose the following possible extensions to the work presented in this dissertation.

 In Chapter 2 and 3, we separately considered two relay scheduling schemes, i.e., simultaneous and alternative relaying, for the same diamond relay channel. Thus, to obtain an unified strategy jointly considering these two relay scheduling schemes with relay conferencing will be more interesting and challenging. 2. In Chapter 4, we adopted the "*p*-portion" conferencing scheme, whose complexity is high for the large N case. One possible way to avoid this implementation issue is to choose a constant number of conferencing links for each relay to conference. However, how to choose which subset of the relays for each one and how to design the proper conferencing and relaying protocols still need to be carefully investigated.

REFERENCES

- K. Loa, C. C. Wu, S. T. Sheu, Y. Yuan, M. Chion, D. Huo, and L. Xu, "IMT-Advanced relay standards," *IEEE Commun. Magazine*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 40-48, Aug. 2010.
- [2] T. M. Cover and A. El Gamal, "Capacity theorem for the relay channel," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp.572-584, Sep. 1979.
- [3] L.-L. Xie and P. R. Kumar, "An achievable rate for the multiple-level relay channel," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp.1348-1358, Apr. 2007.
- [4] G. Kramer, M. Gastpar, and P. Gupta, "Cooperative strategies and capacity theorems for relay networks," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 51, no. 9, pp.3037-3063, Sep. 2005.
- [5] A. Host-Madsen and J. Zhang, "Capacity bounds and power allocation for wireless relay channels," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 51, no. 5, pp.2020-2040, June 2005.
- [6] B. Schein and R. G. Gallager, "The Gaussian parallel relay network," in Proc. of IEEE Int. Symp. Info. Theory, Italy, June 2000.
- [7] B. E. Schein, "Distributed coordination in network information theory," Ph.D. dissertation, MIT, Cambridge, USA, 2001.
- [8] U. Niesen, S. Diggavi, "The approximate capacity of the Gaussian n-relay diamond network," available at: http://arxiv.org/abs/1008.3813.

- [9] A. Sanderovich, S. Shamai, Y. Steinberg, and G. Kramer, "Communication via decentralized processing," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 3008-3023, Jul. 2008.
- [10] F. Xue and S. Sandhu, "Cooperation in a half-duplex Gaussian diamond relay channel," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 53, no. 10, pp.3806-3814, Oct. 2007.
- [11] H. Bagheri, A. S. Motahari, and A. K. Khandani, "On the capacity of the half-duplex diamond channel," available at: http://arxiv.org/abs/0911.1426.
- [12] W. Chang, S. Y. Chung, and Y. H. Lee, "Capacity bounds for alternating two-path relay channels," in Proc. of the 45-th Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing, Monticello, IL, Sep. 2007.
- [13] S. S. C. Resaei, S. O. Gharan, and A. K. Khandani, "Relay scheduling in the half-duplex Gaussian parallel relay channel," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 2668-2687, June 2010.
- [14] M. Gastpar, "Uncoded transmission is exactly optimal for a simple Gaussian sensor network," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 54, no. 11, pp.5247-5251, Nov. 2008.
- [15] H. Bolcskei, R. U. Nabar, O. Oyman, and A. J. Paulraj, "Capacity scaling laws in MIMO relay networks," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp.1433-1444, June 2006.
- [16] A. Coso and C. Ibars, "Achievable rates for the AWGN channels with multiple parallel relays," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp.2524-2534, May 2009.

- [17] C. Huang, J. Jiang, and S. Cui, "Asymptotic capacity of large fading relay networks with random node failures," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 59, no. 8, pp. 2306-2315, Aug. 2011.
- [18] F. Willems, "The discrete memoryless multiple access channel with partially cooperating encoders," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp.441-445, May 1983.
- [19] R. Dabora and S. D. Servetto, "Broadcast channels with cooperating decoders," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 52, no. 12, pp.5438-5454, Dec. 2006.
- [20] R. Dabora and S. Servetto, "A multi-step conference for cooperative broadcast," in the Proc. of Int. Symp. Info. Theory, Seattle, WA, July 2006.
- [21] I. Maric, R. D. Yates, and G. Kramer, "Capacity of interference channels with partial transmitter cooperation," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 53, no. 10, pp. 3536-3548, Oct. 2007.
- [22] O. Simeone, D. Gunduz, H. V. Poor, A. J. Goldsmith, and S. Shamai (Shitz).
 "Compound multiple access channels with partial cooperation" *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 2425-2441, June 2009.
- [23] C. Huang, J. Jiang, and S. Cui, "On the achievable rates of the diamond relay channel with conferencing links," in Proc. of the 48th Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing, Monticello, Illinois, Sep. 2010.
- [24] T. Cover and J. Thomas, *Elements of Information Theory*. New York: Wiley, 1991.

- [25] D. Slepian and J. K. Wolf, "A coding theorem for multiple access channels with correlated sources," *Bell Syst. Tech. J.*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp.1037-1076, 1973.
- [26] W. Kang and S. Ulukus, "Capacity of a class of diamond channels," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 57, no. 8, pp.4955-4960, Aug. 2011.
- [27] R. Tandon and S. Ulukus, "Diamond channel with partially separated relays," in the Proc. of IEEE Int. Symp. Info. Theory, Austin, TX, June 2010.
- [28] A. El Gamal and Y.-H. Kim, "Lecture notes on network information theory," available in http://arxiv.org/abs/1001.3404.
- [29] T. Han and K. Kobayashi, "A new achievable rate region for the interference channel," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 49-60, Jan. 1981.
- [30] M. Costa and A. El Gamal, "The capacity region of the discrete memoryless interference channe with strong interference," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 710-711, Sep. 1987.
- [31] X. Shang, G. Kramer, and B. Chen, "A new outer bound and the noisy interference sum-rate capacity for Gaussian interference channels," *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 689-699, Feb. 2009.
- [32] O. Simeone, O. Somekh, Y. Bar-Ness, H. V. Poor, and S. Shamai, "Capacity of linear two-hop mesh networks with rate splitting, decode-and-forward relaying and cooperation," in Proc. of the 45th Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control and Computing, Monticello, Illinois, Sep. 2007.
- [33] C. Thejaswi PS, A. Bennatan, J. Zhang, R. Calderbank, and D. Cochran, "Rate-achievability strategies for two-hop interference flows," in Proc. of the

46th Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing, Monticello, Illinois, Sep. 2008.

- [34] Y. Cao and B. Chen, "Capacity bounds for two-hop interference networks," in Proc. of the 47th Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing, Monticello, Illinois, Sep. 2009.
- [35] S. Mohajer, S. N. Diggavi, C. Fragouli, and D. N. C. Tse, "Transmission techniques for relay-interference networks,", in Proc. of the 46th Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing, Monticello, Illinois, Sep. 2008.
- [36] T. Gou, S. A. Jafar, S.-W. Jeon, and S.-Y. Chung, "Aligned Interference Neutralization and the Degrees of Freedom of the 2x2x2 Interference Channel," available in http://arxiv.org/abs/1012.2350.
- [37] X. Tang and Y. Hua, "Optimal design of nonregenerative MIMO wireless relays," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 1398-1407, Apr. 2007.
- [38] A. S. Behbahani, R. Merched, and A. M. Eltawil, "Optimizations of a MIMO relay network," *IEEE Trans. Sig. Process.*, vol. 56, no. 2, pp. 5062-5073, Oct. 2008.
- [39] W. Guan, H. Luo, and W. Chen, "Linear relaying scheme for MIMO relay system with QoS requirements," *IEEE Sig. Process. Lett.*, vol. 15, pp. 697-700, Dec. 2008.
- [40] A. El-Keyi and B. Champagne, "Cooperative MIMO-beamforming for multiuser relay networks," in Proc. ICASSP'08, Las Vegas, NV, Mar. 2008.

- [41] B. K. Chalise, L. Vandendorpe, and J. Louveaux, "MIMO relaying for multipoint to multi-point communication in wireless networks," in Proc. 2nd IEEE CAMSAP'07, St. Thomas, British V.I., Dec. 2007.
- [42] B. K. Chalise and L. Vandendorpe, "MIMO relay design for multipoint-tomultipoint communications with imperfect channel state information," *IEEE Trans. Sig. Process.*, vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 2785-2796, Jul. 2009.
- [43] B. K. Chalise and L. Vandendorpe, "Optimization of MIMO relays for multipoint-to-multipoint communications: nonrobust and robust designs," *IEEE Trans. Sig. Process.*, vol. 58, no.12, pp. 6355-6368, Dec. 2010.
- [44] E. Jorswieck, E. Larsson, and D. Danev, "Complete characterization of the Pareto boundary for the MISO interference channel," *IEEE Trans. Sig. Process.*, vol. 56, no. 10, pp. 5292-5296, Oct. 2008.
- [45] N. Jindal and A. Goldsmith, "Optimal power allocation for parallel broadcast channels with independent and common information," in Proc. of IEEE Int. Symp. Info. Theory, Seattle, WA, Jul. 2006.
- [46] V. M. Nassab, S. Shahbazpanahi, A. Grami, and Z.-Q. Luo, "Distributed Beamforming for Relay Networks based on Second Order Statistics of the Channel State Information," *IEEE Trans. Sig. Process.*, Vol. 56, No 9, pp. 4306-4316, September 2008.
- [47] M. Grant and S. Boyd, "CVX usersguide for CVX version 1.21 (build 782)," May 2010. [Online]. Available: http://cvxr.com/.
- [48] N. D. Sidiropoulos, T. N. Davidson, and Z.-Q. Luo, "Transmit beamforming for physical-layer multicasting," *IEEE Trans. Sig. Process.*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp.

2239-2252, June 2006.

- [49] P. Viswanath, "Sum rate of a class of Gaussian multiterminal source coding problems," Advances in Network Information Theory, P. Gupta, G. Kramer and A. Wijngaarden editors, DIMACS, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, pp. 43-60, 2004.
- [50] S. Lall, Advanced topics in computation for control. Lecture notes for ENGR210b at Stanford University, Stanford, CA.
- [51] S. Boyd and L. Vandenberghe, *Convex optimization*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- [52] A. del Coso, "Achievable rates for Gaussian channels with multiple relays," Ph.D. dissertation, Universitat Politecnica de Catalunya, Spain, 2008.
- [53] Z.-Q. Luo, W.-K. Ma, A. M.-C. So, Y. Ye, and S. Zhang, "Semidefinite relaxation of quadratic optimization problems: From its practical deployments and scope of applicability to key theoretical results," *IEEE Sig. Process. Magazine*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 20-34, May 2010.
- [54] R. Zhang, Y.-C. Liang, C.-C. Chai, and S. Cui, "Optimal beamforming for twoway multi-antenna relay channel with analogue network coding," *IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun.*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 699-712, June 2009.
- [55] Y. Ye and S. Zhang, "New results on quadratic minimization," SIAM J. Optim., vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 245-267, 2003.
- [56] Y. Huang and D. P. Palomar, "Rank-Constrained Separable Semidefinite Programming with Applications to Optimal Beamforming," *IEEE Trans. Sig. Process.*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 664-678, Feb. 2010.

- [57] Z.-Q. Luo and W. Yu, "An introduction to convex optimization for communications and signal processing," *IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun.*, vol. 24, no. 8, pp. 1426-1438, Aug. 2006.
- [58] N. Jindal, S. Vishwanath, and A. Goldsmith, "On the duality of Gaussian multiple-access and broadcast channels", *IEEE Trans. Info. Theory*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 768-783, May 2004.
- [59] Y. Huang and S. Zhang, "Complex matrix decomposition and quadratic programming," *Mathematics of Operations Research*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 758-768, 2007.
- [60] J. F. Sturm and S. Zhang, "On cones of nonnegative quadratic functions," Mathematics of Operations Research, vol. 28, pp. 246-267, 2003.
- [61] G. H. Golub and C. F. Van Loan, *Matrix computations*, 3rd edition. Baltimore and London: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1996.

Mr. Chuan Huang was born in Chongqing, China, in April 1983. He received his B.S. degree in Math and M.E. in Communication and Information Systems both from University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, Chengdu, China, in 2005 and 2008, respectively. He received his Ph.D. degree in August 2012, in Electrical Engineering at Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA. From May 2011 to Aug. 2011, he was a visiting student in National University of Singapore, Singapore. He received the student travel grants for GLOBECOM 2009 and ICC 2012. His current research interests include power allocation for the energy-harvesting systems, information theoretic studies on the relay networks, and signal processing in wireless communications. His email is huangch@tamu.edu.